1.	AD-A064 684 UTAH UNIV SALT LAKE CITY DEPT OF MATHEMATICS F/G 12/1 SPECTRAL REPRESENTATIONS FOR SCHROEDINGER OPERATORS WITH LONG-RETC(U) DEC 78 Y SAITO UNCLASSIFIED TR-34 NL						U							
		1 OF 2 AD A064684			1973 Anna Carlos Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Ann			$\begin{array}{c} & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$		$\label{eq:started} \begin{array}{l} & \text{ is a started} \\ & $	$\label{eq:product} \begin{array}{l} & \mathbf{u}^{(\mathbf{r})} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	An or a part of the second sec		$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$
		The second secon					 An and a second s	A second of a second se		A Constraints of A Cons			Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna	
		A second				President and a second		A series of the	Alternational Al					
		 Alexage de la construcción de la const									A manufacture of the second se			
		THE ALL AND A DECEMPTION OF A	The answer and the second seco		 Bernstein Bernstein			a anteres activity activ						
1998 - 1988 - 19							A second			A second			A second	
							And						A construction of the second s	
						And and a second se								





AU02331014 1	0.					
NTIS	White Section					
DDC	Buff Section					
UNANNOUNC	D D					
JUSTIFICATIC	N					
DISTRIBUTION	HAVARABETTY CODES					
0						
A						



150P.

TR-34 14

79 02 09 019 B

Prepared under Contract No. N00014-76-C-0276

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A Approved for public release; Distribution Unlimited

Task No. NR-041-370

for

Office of Naval Research

This research was supported by the Office of Naval Research. Reproduction in whole or part is permitted for any purpose of the United States Government.

ABSTRACT

Spectral representations of Schrödinger operators

 $T = -\Delta + Q(y)$

are constructed, where \triangle is the N-dimensional Laplacian and Q(y) is a real-valued long-range potential; i.e.,

 $Q(y) = O(|y|^{-\varepsilon})$, $|y| \rightarrow \infty$, $0 < \varepsilon < 1$

A limiting absorption principle for these operators is developed in Chapter I. The asymptotic behavior of radiative functions is derived in Chapter II. The spectral representations are derived in Chapter III.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I Limiting Absorption Principle

- Preliminaries \$1
- §2 Main Theorem
- §3 Uniqueness of the Radiative Function

§4 Proof of the Lemmas

CHAPTER II Asymptotic Behavior of the Radiative Function

- §5 Construction of a Stationary Modifier
- An Estimate for the Radiative Function §6
- §7
- Proof of the Main Theorem Some Properties of $\lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-i\mu} v(r)$ §8

CHAPTER III Spectral Representation

- §9 The Green Kernel
- \$10 The Eigenoperators
- Expansion Theorem \$11
- The General Short-range Case \$12

CONCLUDING REMARKS

REFERENCES

INTRODUCTION

In this series of lectures we shall be concerned with the spectral representations for Schrödinger operators

$$(0.1) T = -\Delta + Q(y)$$

on the N-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^{N} . Here

(0.2)
$$\begin{cases} y = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N \\ \Delta = \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ \partial y_1^2}}^N \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_1^2} \quad (Laplacian) \end{cases}$$

and Q(y), which is usually called a "potential", is a real-valued function on \mathbb{R}^N .

Let us explain the notion of spectral representation by recalling the usual Fourier transforms. The Fourier transforms $F_{0\pm}$ are defined by

(0.3)
$$(F_{0\pm}f)(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{N}{2}} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{|y| < R} e^{\pm i y\xi} f(y) dy \\ in \ L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_{\xi}),$$

where $f \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_y)$, $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N_{\xi}$, l.i.m. means the limit in the mean and $y\xi$ is the inner product in \mathbb{R}^N , i.e.,

$$(0.4) y\xi = \sum_{j=1}^{N} y_j \xi_j$$

Then it is well-known that $F_{0\pm}$ are unitary operators from $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_y)$ onto $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_E)$ and that the inverse operators $F^*_{0\pm}$ are given by

(0.5)
$$(F_{0\pm}^{*}F)(y) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{N}{2}} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{|\xi| < R} e^{\pm iy\xi}F(\xi)d\xi$$

in $L_2(\mathbf{R}_y^N)$

2

for $F\in L_2(I\!R^N_\xi)$. Here it should be remarked that $e^{\pm iy\xi}$ are solutions of the equation

(0.6)
$$(-\Delta - |\xi|^2) u = 0$$
 $(|\xi|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \xi_j^2)$,

that is, $e^{\pm iy\xi}$ are the eigenfunctions (in a generalized sense) with the eigenvalue $|\xi|^2$ associated with $-\Delta$. Further, when f(y) is sufficiently smooth and rapidly decreasing, we have

(0.7)
$$\begin{cases} F_{0\pm}(-\Delta f)(\xi) = |\xi|^2 (F_{0\pm}f)(\xi) \\ \text{or} \\ (-\Delta f)(y) = F_{0\pm}^* (|\xi|^2 F_{0\pm}f)(y) \end{cases}$$

which means that the partial differential operator $-\Delta$ is transformed into the multiplication operator $|\xi|^2 x$ by the Fourier transforms $F_{0\pm}$.

Now we can find deeper and clearer relations between the operator $-\Delta$ and the Fourier transforms if we consider the self-adjoint realization of the Laplacian in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Let us define a symmetric operator h_0 in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ by

(0.8)
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}(h_0) = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \\ h_0 f = -\Delta f \end{cases}$$

where $D(h_0)$ is the domain of h_0 . Then, as is well-known, h_0 is essentially self-adjoint and its closure $H_0 = \tilde{h}_0$ is a unique self-adjoint extension of h_0 . H_0 is known to satisfy

$$D(H_0) = \{f \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_y) / |\xi|^2 (F_{0\pm}f)(\xi) \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_\xi)\} \quad (= H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)),$$

$$H_0f = -\Delta f \quad (f \in \mathcal{D}(H_0)),$$

$$F_{0\pm}(H_0f)(\xi) = |\xi|^2 (F_{0\pm}f)(\xi) \quad (f \in \mathcal{D}(H_0)),$$

$$E_0(B) = F_{0\pm}^* \times \sqrt{B} \quad F_{0\pm},$$

where $H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the Sobolev space of the order 2,B is an interval in $(0,\infty)$, $\chi_{\sqrt{B}}$ is the characteristic function of $\sqrt{B} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N_{\xi} / |\xi|^2 \in B\}$, and $E_0(\cdot)$ denotes the spectral measure associated with H_0 . The differential operator $-\Delta$ is acting on functions of $H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in the distribution sense. Thus it can be seen that the Fourier transforms $F_{0\pm}$ give unitary equivalence between H_0 and the multiplication operator $|\xi|^2 x$.

Let us next consider the Schrödinger operator T . Throughout this lecture $\mathcal{Q}(y)$ is assumed to be a real-valued, continuous function on $I\!\!R^N$ and satisfy

(0.10)
$$Q(y) + 0$$
 $(|y| + \infty)$

Then a symmetric operator h defined by

((

$$(0.11) \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}(h) = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \\ hf = Tf \end{cases}$$

can be easily seen to be essentially self-adjoint with a unique extension H in $L_2(\mathbf{R}^N)$. We have

$$(0.12) \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}(H) = \mathcal{D}(H_0) \\ Hf = Tf \quad (f \in \mathcal{D}(H)) \end{cases}$$

Here the differential operator T in (0.12) should be taken in the distribution sense as in (0.9). These facts will be shown in §12 (Theorem 12.1). Our final aim is to construct the "generalized" Fourier transforms F_{\pm} which are unitary operators from $L_2(\mathbb{R}_y^N)$ onto $L_2(\mathbb{R}_{\xi}^N)$ and satisfy

$$(0.13) \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}(H) = \{f \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^N_y) / |\xi|^2 (F_{\pm}f)(\xi) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N_{\xi})\}, \\ F_{\pm}(Hf)(\xi) = |\xi|^2 (F_{\pm}f)(\xi) \quad (f \in \mathcal{D}(H)), \\ E(B) = F_{\pm}^* \times \sqrt{B} F_{\pm}, \end{cases}$$

where B and $\chi_{\sqrt{B}}$ are as in (0.9) and E(•) is the spectral measure associated with H. It will be also shown that the generalized Fourier transforms F_{\pm} are constructed by the use of solutions of the equation $Tu = |\xi|^2 u$.

Now let us state the exact conditions on the potential Q(y) in this lecture. Let us assume that Q(y) satisfies

(0.14)
$$Q(y) = O(|y|^{-\epsilon}) \quad (|y| \to \infty)$$

with a constant $\varepsilon > 0$. When $\varepsilon > 1$ the potential Q(y) is called a <u>short-range</u> potential and when $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ Q(y) is called a <u>long-range</u> potential. The more rapidly diminishes Q(y) at infinity, the nearer becomes the Schrödinger operator T to $-\Delta$ and T can be treated the easier. In this lecture a spectral representation theorem will be shown for the Schrödinger operator T with a long-range potential Q(y) with additional conditions

(0.15) $(D^{j}Q)(y) = O(|y|^{-j-\epsilon})$ $(|y| + \infty, j = 0, 1, 2, ..., m_{0}),$ where D^{j} is an arbitrary derivative of j-th order and m_{0} is a constant determined by Q(y). Without these additional conditions the spectral structure of the self-adjoint realization H of T may be too different from the one of the self-adjoint realization H_{0} of $-\Delta$. The Schrödinger operator with a potential of the form

(0.16)
$$Q(y) = \frac{1}{|y|} \sin |y|$$
,

for example, is beyond the scope of this lecture.

The core of the method in this lecture is to transform the Schrödinger operator T into an ordinary differential operator with operator-valued coefficients. Let I = $(0,\infty)$ and X = $L_2(S^{N-1})$, S^{N-1} being the (N-1)-sphere, with its inner product $(,)_X$ and norm $| |_X$. Let us introduce a Hilbert space $L_2(I,X)$ which is all X-valued functions u(r) on I = $(0,\infty)$ satisfying

(0.17)
$$\|u\|_{0}^{2} = \int_{0}^{\infty} |u(r)|_{x}^{2} dr < \infty$$

Its inner product (,) $_0$ is defined by

(0.18)
$$(u,v)_0 = \int_0^\infty (u(r), v(r))_x dr$$
.

Then a multiplication operator $U = r^{\frac{N-1}{2}} x$ defined by

$$(0.19) L_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}) \ni f(y) \rightarrow r^{\frac{\mathbb{N}-1}{2}} f(r\omega) \in L_{2}(\mathbb{I},\mathbb{X})$$
$$(r=|y|, \omega=\frac{y}{|y|} \in S^{\mathbb{N}-1})$$

can be easily seen to be a unitary operator from $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ onto $L_2(I,X)$.

Let L be an ordinary differential operator defined by

(0.20)
$$L = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C(r)$$
 $(r \in I)$

where, for each r > 0,

$$(0.21) \begin{cases} (C(\mathbf{r})\mathbf{x})(\omega) = Q(\mathbf{r}\omega)\mathbf{x}(\omega) & (\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{X}) \\ (B(\mathbf{r})\mathbf{x})(\omega) = \frac{1}{\mathbf{r}^2} (-(\Lambda_N \mathbf{x})(\omega) + \frac{(N-1)(N-3)}{4} \mathbf{x}(\omega)) \\ (\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{D}(\Lambda_N)) \end{cases}$$

and Λ_N is a non-positive self-adjoint operator called the Laplace-Beltrami operator on S^{N-1} . If polar coordinates $(r,\theta_1,\theta_2,\ldots,\theta_{N-1})$ are introduced by

$$y_{j} = r \sin \theta_{1} \sin \theta_{2} \cdots \sin \theta_{j-1} \cos \theta_{j}$$

$$(j = 1, 2, \dots, N-1) ,$$

$$y_{N} = r \sin \theta_{1} \sin \theta_{2} \cdots \sin \theta_{N-2} \sin \theta_{N-1}$$

$$(r \ge 0, 0 \le \theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, \dots \theta_{N-2} \le 2\pi, 0 \le \theta_{N-1} < 2\pi) ,$$

then Λ_N^X can be written as

 $(\Lambda_N x)(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_{N-1})$

$$(0.23) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} (\sin\theta_1 \dots \sin\theta_{j-1})^{-2} (\sin\theta_j)^{-N+j+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_j} \left\{ (\sin\theta_j)^{N-j-1} \frac{\partial x}{\partial\theta_j} \right\}$$

for $x \in C^2(S^{N-1})$ (see, e.g., Erdélyi and al. [1], p. 235). The operator (0.23) with the domain $C^2(S^{N-1})$ is essentially self-adjoint and its closure

is Λ_N . The operators T and L are combined by the use of the unitary operator U in the following way

$$(0.24) T\Phi = U^{-1}LU\Phi$$

for an arbitrary smooth function Φ on \mathbb{R}^N . Thus, for the time being, we shall be concerned with L instead of T, and after that the results obtained for L will be translated into the results for T.

Our operator T corresponds to the two-particle problem on the quantum mechanics and there are many works on the spectral representation theorem for T with various degrees of the smallness assumption on the potential Q(y). Let Q(y) satisfy

$$(0.25) \qquad \qquad Q(y) = O(|y|^{-\varepsilon}) \qquad (|y| \to \infty, \ \varepsilon > 0).$$

In 1960, Ikebe [1] developed an eigenfunction expansion theory for T in the case of spatial dimension N = 3 and $\varepsilon > 2$. He defined a generalized eigenfunction $\Phi(y,\xi)$ $(y,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^3)$ as the solution of the Lippman-Schwinger equation

(0.26)
$$\Phi(y,\xi) = e^{iy\xi} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{IR} \frac{e^{i|\xi||y-z|}}{|y-z|} Q(z)\Phi(z,\xi)dz$$

and by the use of $\Phi(y,\xi)$, he constructed the generalized Fourier transforms associated with T. The results of Ikebe [1] were extended by Thoe [1] and Kuroda [1] to the case where N is arbitrary and $\varepsilon > \frac{1}{2}(N + 1)$. On the other hand, Jäger [1]-[4] investigated the properties of an ordinary differential operator with operator-valued coefficients and obtained a spectral representation theorem for it. His results can be applied to the case of N ≥ 3 and $\varepsilon > \frac{3}{2}$. Saito [1],[2] extended the results of Jäger to include the case of N ≥ 3 and $\varepsilon > 1$, i.e., the general short-range case. At almost the same time S. Agmon obtained an eigenfunction expansion theorem for general elliptic operators in \mathbb{R}^{N} with short-range coefficients. His results can be seen in Agmon [1]. Thus, the short-range case has been settled. As for the long-range case, after the work of Dollard [1] which deals with Coulomb potential $Q(y) = \frac{c}{|y|}$, Saitō [3]-[5] treated the case of $\varepsilon > \frac{1}{2}$ along the line of Saitō [1]-[2]. Ikebe [2],[3] treated the Schrödinger operator with $\varepsilon > \frac{1}{2}$ directly using essentially the same ideas as Saitō [3]-[5]. After these works, Saitō [6],[7] showed a spectral representation theorem for the Schrödinger operator with a general longrange potential Q(y) with $\varepsilon > 0$. S. Agmon also obtains an eigenfunction expansion theorem for general elliptic operators with long-range coefficients.

Let us outline the contents of this lecture. Throughout this lecture, the spatial dimension N is assume to be $N \ge 3$. Then we have $B(r) \ge 0$ for each r > 0. As for the case of N = 2, see Saitō [6], §5.

In Chapter I we shall show the limiting absorption principle for L which enables us to solve the equation

(0.27)
$$\begin{cases} (L = k^2)v = f, \\ (\frac{d}{d\gamma} - ik)v \neq 0 \quad (r \neq \infty) \end{cases}$$

for not only k^2 non-real, but also k^2 real.

In Chapter II, the asymptotic behavior of v(r), the solution of the equation (0.27) with real k, will be investigated. When Q(y) is short-range, there exists an element $x_v \in X$ such that the asymptotic relation

(0.28)
$$v(r) \sim e^{irk} x_v \quad (v \neq \infty)$$

holds. But, in the case of the long-range potential, (0.28) should be modified in the following

(0.29)
$$v(r) \sim e^{irk - i\lambda(r \cdot, k)} \tilde{x}_{v}$$

r

with $\tilde{x}_v \in X$. Here the function $\lambda(y,k)$, which will be constructed in Chapter II, is called a <u>stationary</u> modifier.

This asymptotic formula (0.29) will play an important role in spectral representation theory for L which will be developed in Chapter III.

9

The contents of this lecture are essentially given in the papers of Saito [3]-[7], though they will be developed into a more unified and selfcontained form in this lecture. But we have to assume in advance the elements of functional analysis and theory of partial differential equations: to be more precise, the elemental properties of the Hilbert space and the Banach space, spectral decomposition theorem of self-adjoint operators, elemental knowledge of distribution, etc.

CHAPTER I LIMITING ABSORPTION PRINCIPLE

§1. Preliminaries.

Let us begin with introducing some notations which will be employed without further reference.

R: real numbers

C: complex numbers

$$\mathbf{t}^* = \{k = k_1 + ik_2 \in \mathbf{C}/k_1 \neq 0, k_2 \ge 0\}.$$

Rek: the real part of k.

Imk: the imaginary part of k.

$$[= (0, \infty) = \{ r \in \mathbb{R} / 0 < r < \infty \} .$$

 $\overline{I} = [0, \infty) = \{r \in \mathbb{R}/ 0 \leq r < \infty\}$.

 $X = L_2(S^{N-1})$ with its norm $| |_x$ and inner product (,)_x

 $L_{2,s}(J,X)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, is the Hilbert space of all X-valued functions f(r)on an interval J such that $(1+r)^{S}|f(r)|_{X}$ is square integrable on J. The inner product $(,)_{s,J}$ and norm $\|\|_{s,J}$ are

defined by

$$(f,g)_{s,J} = \int_{J} (1+r)^{2s} (f(r), g(r))_{x} dr$$

and

$$\|f\|_{s,J} = [(f,f)_{s,J}]^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

respectively. When s = 0 or J = I the subscript 0 or I may be omitted as in $L_2(J,X)$, $\| \|_s$ etc.

 $C_0^{\infty}(J,X) = UC_0^{\infty}(\Omega_J)$, where J is an open interval in I,

 $\Omega_{J} = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^{N} / |y| \in J\} \text{ and } U = r^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \text{ is given by (0,18).}$ $H_{0,s}^{1,B}(J,X), s \in \mathbb{R}, \text{ is the Hilbert space obtained by the completion of}$ a pre-Hilbert space $C_0^{\infty}(J X)$ with its norm

and inner product

$$(\phi,\psi)_{B,S,J} = \int_{J} (1+r)^{2S} \left\{ (\phi'(r),\psi'(r))_{X} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\phi(r), B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\psi(r))_{X} + (\phi(r),\psi(r))_{X} \right\} dr ,$$

where $B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r) = (B(r))^{\frac{1}{2}}$ with B(r) given by (0.21) and $\phi'(r) = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial r}$. When J = I or s = 0 we shall omit the subscript I or s as in $\| \cdot \|_{B}^{1,B}(I,X)$ etc.

 $F_{\beta}(J,X), \beta \ge 0$, is the set of all anti-linear continuous functional ℓ on $H_0^{1,B}(J,X)$, i.e.,

$$\ell: H_0^{1,B}(J,X) \ni v + \langle \ell, v \rangle \in \mathbb{C},$$

such that

$$||| \ell |||_{B,J} = \sup\{|<\ell, (1+r)^{\beta} \phi > |/\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(J,X), \|\phi\|_{B,J} = 1\} > \infty.$$

 $F_{\beta}(J,X)$ is a Banach space with its norm $||| |||_{\beta,J}$. When $\beta = 0$ or J = I the subscript 0 or I will be omitted as in F(J,X), $||| |||_{J}$, $||| |||_{\beta}$ etc.

 $C_{ac}(J,X)$, J being an (open or closed) interval, is the set of all X-valued functions f(r) on J such that f(r) is strongly absolutely continuous on every compact interval in J and there exists the weak derivative f'(r) for almost all $r \in J$ with $f'(r) \in L_2(J',X)$ for any compact interval $J' \subset J$.

- $C^{j}(J,X)$ is the set of all X-valued functions on J having j strong continuous derivatives. Here j is a non-negative integer and J is an (open or closed) interval.
- $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{L}_2(\mathrm{I},\mathrm{X})_{\mathrm{loc}} \ (\mathrm{H}_0^{1,B}(\mathrm{I},\mathrm{X})_{\mathrm{loc}}) \ \text{ is the set of all X-valued functions } f(r) \\ \text{ such that } \rho f \in \mathsf{L}_2(\mathrm{I},\mathrm{X}) \ (\rho f \in \mathrm{H}_0^{1,B}(\mathrm{I},\mathrm{X})) \ \text{ for any real-valued} \\ \mathbb{C}^1 \ \text{function} \ \rho(r) \ \text{ on } \ \overline{\mathrm{I}} \ \text{ having a compact support in } \ \overline{\mathrm{I}}. \end{array}$
- B(Y,Z) is the Banach space of all bounded linear operators from Y into Z with its operator norm $\| \|_{Y,Z}$, where Y and Z are Banach spaces. We set B(Y,Y) = B(Y) and the norm of B(X) is denoted simply by $\| \|$.
- $\mathcal{D}(W)$ means the domain of W.

A =
$$A_N = -A_N + \frac{1}{4}(N-1)(N-3)$$
, where A_N is the Laplace-Beltrani operator
(as a self-adjoint operator in X).

D = D(A).

$$D^{\frac{1}{2}} = D(A^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

- $C(\alpha,\beta,...)$ denotes a positive constant depending only on $\alpha, \beta, ...$ But very often symbols indicating obvious dependence will be omitted.
- $H_j(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the Sobolev space of the order j, i.e., the set of all L_2 functions with L_2 distribution derivatives up to the j-th order, inclusive.

 $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $L_2(\Omega)$, $L_2(\Omega$, $(1+|y|)^{2s}dy$) etc., will be employed as usual, where Ω is a measuable set in \mathbb{R}^N .

Let L be the differential operator defined by (0.20) and (0.21). The remainder of this section will be devoted to showing some basic properties of a (weak) solution of the equation $(L - k^2)v = f$. To this end, we shall first list some properties of $H_0^{1,B}(I, X)$.

<u>PROPOSITION 1.1</u>. (i) Let J be an open interval in I and let $\Omega_{J} = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^{N} / |y| \in J\}$. Then

(1.1)
$$H_0^{1,B}(J,X) = UH_1(\Omega_J)^{1}$$

and

(1.2)
$$(U\varphi, U\psi)_{B,J} = (\varphi, \psi)_{I,\Omega_J} \qquad (\varphi, \psi \in H_I(\Omega_J)),$$

where U is given by (0.18) and (,)_{1, Ω_J} is the inner product of H₁(Ω_J), i.e.,

(1.3)
$$(\varphi,\psi)_{1,\Omega_{j}} = \int_{\Omega_{j}} \{ (\nabla \varphi)(y) \cdot \overline{(\nabla \psi)(y)} + \varphi(y)\overline{\psi(y)} \} dy.$$

(ii) Let $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ (or $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$). Then $v \in C_{ac}(\overline{I},X) \cap L_2(I,X)$ (or $v \in C_{ac}(\overline{I},X) \quad L_2(I,X)_{loc}$) with the weak derivative $v' \in L_2(I,X)$ (or $v' \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$). Moreover $v(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for almost all $r \in I$ with $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_2(I,X)$ (or $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$). The inner product (,)_B and norm $\| \|_{B}$ of $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ have the following form:

(1.4)
$$\begin{cases} (u,v)_{B} = \int_{I} \left\{ (u'(r),v'(r))_{X} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)u(r),B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r))_{X} + (u(r),v(r))_{X} \right\} dr \\ & + (u(r),v(r))_{X} \right\} dr \\ [u]_{B} = \left[(u,u)_{B} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{cases}$$

(iii) Let $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$. Then we have the relations

(1.5) v(0) = 0,

(1.6)
$$|v(r) - v(s)|_{x} \leq |r-s|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|v\|_{B,(0,R)}$$
 $(r,s \in [0,R])$

with

(1.7)
$$\|v\|_{B_{\tau}(0,R)} = \left[\int_{0}^{R} \left\{ |v'(r)|_{\chi}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r)|_{\chi}^{2} + |v(r)|^{2} \right\} dr \right]_{\tau}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

(1.8)
$$|v(r)|_{\chi} \leq \sqrt{2} \|v\|_{B,(0,R+1)}$$
 $(r \in [0,R])$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) follows from two facts that $H_1(\Omega_J)$ is the Hilbert space obtained by completion of $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_J)$ by the norm (1.3) and that the relation $\|U\varphi\|_{B,J} = \|\varphi\|_{1,\Omega_J}$ holds for $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_J)$. The second fact can be easily obtained from the relation $(-\Delta)\varphi = U^{-1}L_0U\varphi$, where we set $L_0 = \frac{d^2}{d\pi^2} + B(r)$.

Let us show (ii) only for $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$, because the statement about $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$ can be shown in quite a similar way. By the definition of $H_0^{1,B}(I,X) \quad v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ if and only if there exists a sequence $\{\phi_n\} \subset C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$ such that the sequences $\{\phi_n\}, \{\phi'_n\}, \{B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi_n\}$ are Cauchy sequences in $L_2(I,X)$ and ϕ_n converges to v in $L_2(I,X)$. We set $\lim_{n\to\infty} \phi'_n = v_1$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi_n = v_2$. From the estimate

(1.9)
$$|\phi_{n}(r) - \phi_{m}(r)|_{\chi} \leq \int_{0}^{r} |\phi_{n}'(t) - \phi_{m}'(t)|_{\chi} dt$$

it follows that the sequence $\{\phi_n(r)\}$ is convergent in X uniformly for $r \in [0,R]$ with an arbitrary positive R. Therefore $v(r) = s-\lim_{n \to \infty} \phi_n(r)$ is an X-valued, continuous function on \overline{I} . Letting $n \to \infty$ in the relation

$$(1.10) \quad (\phi_{n}(r)-\phi_{n}(s),x)_{\chi} = \int_{s}^{r} (\phi_{n}'(t),x)_{\chi} dt \qquad (x \in X, \ 0 \leq s < r < \infty)$$

we arrive at

(1.11)
$$(v(r) - v(s), x)_{x} = \int_{s}^{r} (v_{1}(t), x)_{x} dt,$$

whence follows that $v \in C_{ac}(T,X)$ and the weak derivative $v' = v_1$ in $L_2(I,X)$. Since $B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi_n$ converges to v_2 in $L_2(I,X)$, there exists a null set e of I such that $B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\phi_n(r)$ converges to $v_2(r)$ in X for $r \in I - e$. Therefore $v(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$ with $B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r) = v_2(r)$ for $r \in I - e$ because of the closedness of the operator $B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)$. Thus we obtain

(1.12)
$$\|v\|_{B} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|\phi_{n}\|_{B} = \left[\int_{I} \left\{ |v'(r)|_{\chi}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r)|_{\chi}^{2} + |v(r)|_{\chi}^{2} \right\} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

In a similar way we can show the first relation of (1.4) which is related the inner product $(u,v)_{R}$.

Finally, let us show (iii). Take a real-valued C^{∞} function $\rho(r)$ on \overline{I} such that $\rho(r) = I$ ($r \leq R + 1$), = 0 ($r \geq R + 2$). Then, since $\rho v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$, there exists $\{\phi_n\} \subset C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$ such that $\|\rho v - \phi_n\|_B + 0$ as $n + \infty$, whence follows that

(1.13)
$$\|v - \phi_n\|_{B_1(0,R+1)} \neq 0 \quad (n \neq \infty)$$
.

Then, as is seen in the proof of (ii), $\phi_n(r)$ converges v(r) in X for $r \in [0, R + 1]$. (1.5) follows from the fact that $\phi_n(0) = 0$ for all n = 1, 2, ... (1.6) and (1.8) are obtained by letting $n \rightarrow \infty$ in the relations

$$(1.14) \qquad |\phi_{n}(r)-\phi_{n}(s)|_{X} = \left| \int_{s}^{r} \phi_{n}'(t) dt \right|_{X} \leq |r-s|^{\frac{3}{2}} \|\phi_{n}\|_{B,(0,R)}$$
$$(0 \leq r, s \leq R)$$

and

$$(1.15) \qquad |\phi_{n}(r)|_{\chi}^{2} \leq 2(|\phi_{n}(r)-\phi_{n}(t)|_{\chi}^{2} + |\phi_{n}(t)|_{\chi}^{2})$$

$$\leq 2(|r-t| \int_{r}^{t} |\phi_{n}(s)|_{\chi}^{2} ds + \int_{r}^{r+1} |\phi_{n}(s)|_{\chi}^{2} ds)$$

$$\leq 2\|\phi_{n}\|_{0,(0,R+1)}^{2} \qquad (0 \leq r \leq R)$$

respectively, where $t \in [r, r+1]$ has been taken to satisfy $|\phi_n(t)|_{\chi} = \min_{\substack{r \leq s \leq r+1 \\ r \leq s \leq r+1}} |\phi_n(s)|_{\chi}.$ Q.E.D.

The interior estimate for the operator L is shown in the following:

<u>PROPOSITION 1.2</u>. Let L be as above and let Q(y) be a continuous function on \mathbb{R}^N . Let $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{1oc}$ satisfies the equation

(1.16) $(v, (L-\overline{k}^2)\phi)_0 = \langle \ell, \phi \rangle \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$

with $k \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\ell \in F(I,X)$. Let R be a positive number. Then there exists C = C(k,R) such that

$$(1.17) \qquad \|v\|_{B_{r}(0,R)} \leq C\left\{\|v\|_{O_{r}(0,R+1)} + \|\|\ell\|\|_{O_{r}(0,R+1)}\right\}.$$

The constant C(k,R) is bounded when the pair (k,R) moves in a bounded set of $C \times I$.

PROOF. Since $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$, we have by (ii) of Proposition 1.1 (1.18) $\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dr} (v(r), \phi'(r))_{\chi} = (v'(r), \phi'(r))_{\chi} + (v(r), \phi''(r))_{\chi} \\ (v(r), B(r)\phi(r))_{\chi} = (B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r), B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\phi(r))_{\chi} \end{cases}$

for almost all $r \in I$. Therefore from (1.16) it follows by partial

integration that

(1.19)
$$\int_{0}^{R+1} \left\{ (v'(r),\phi'(r))_{\chi} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r), B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\phi(r))_{\chi} + (v(r), (C(r)-\overline{k}^{2})\phi(r))_{\chi} \right\} dr = \langle \ell, \phi \rangle$$

for any $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$. Set $\phi = \psi^2 \phi_n$ in (1.19), where $\phi_n \in C_0^{\infty}((0,R+2),X)$ such that $\|v - \phi_n\|_{B,(0,R+1)} \neq 0$ as $n \neq \infty$ and $\psi(r)$ is a real-valued C^{∞} function on [0, R+2] such that $0 \leq \psi \leq 1, \psi(r) = 1$ $(0 \leq r \leq R), \psi(r) = 0$ $(R+1 \leq r \leq R+2)$. Then, letting $n \neq \infty$, we have

(1.20)
$$\int_{0}^{R+1} \psi^{2} \left\{ |v'|_{\chi}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}v|_{\chi}^{2} + |v|_{\chi}^{2} \right\} dr + 2 \int_{0}^{R} \psi \psi'(v',v)_{\chi} dr$$

$$= \int_{0}^{R+1} \psi^{2}(v, (\overline{k}^{2} + 1 - C)v)_{\chi} dr + < \ell, \ \psi^{2}v > .$$

(1.17) is obtained from (1.20) by the use of the Schwarz inequality. Q.E.D.

<u>PROPOSITION 1.3</u> (regularity theorem). Let L be as in Proposition 1.2. Let $v \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$ be a "weak" solution of the equation $(L-k^2)v = f$ with $k \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and $f \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$, i.e., let v satisfy

(1.21)
$$(v, (L-\overline{k}^2)\phi)_0 = (f,\phi)_0$$

for all $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$. Then v satisfies following (1) ~ (4):

(1) $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C} \cap C^1(I,X)$. $v(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for each $r \ge 0$. $v(r) \in D$ for almost all $r \in I$ with $Bv \in L_2((a,b),X)$ for any $0 < a < b < \infty$.

(2) $v' \in C_{ac}(I,X)$ with the weak derivative v'' and $v'(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for almost all $r \in I$. $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v' \in L_2((a,b),X)$ for any $0 < a < b < \infty$. (3) $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in C_{ac}(I,X)$ with the weak derivative $(B^{\frac{1}{2}}v)'$.

(1.22)
$$(B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r))' = -\frac{1}{r}B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v(r) + B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)v'(r)$$

holds for almost all $r \in I$.

(4) We have

(1.23)
$$-v''(r) + B(r)v(r) + C(r)v(r) - k^2v(r) = f(r)$$

for almost all $r \in I$.

<u>PROOF</u>. Set $\tilde{v} = U^{-1}v$ and $\tilde{f} = U^{-1}f$. Then \tilde{v} , \tilde{f} belong to $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{10C}$ and from (1.21) the relation

(1.24)
$$(\tilde{\mathbf{v}}, (\mathbf{T} - \mathbf{k}^2)\varphi)_{\mathbf{L}_2} = (\tilde{\mathbf{f}}, \varphi)_{\mathbf{L}_2} \quad (\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

follows, where $(,)_{L_2}$ denotes the inner product of $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. As is well-known, (1.24) implies that $\tilde{v} \in H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{1oc}$ (see, e.g., Ikebe-Kato [1]). Therefore there exists a sequence $\{\varphi_n\} \subset C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\varphi_n \neq \tilde{v}$ in $H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{1oc}$ as $n \neq \infty$. Set $\varphi_n = U\varphi_n$. Then $\varphi_n \neq v$ in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{1oc}$ as $n \neq \infty$ and $\{\varphi_n^{"}\}, \{B\varphi_n\}, \{B^{\frac{1}{2}}\varphi_n^{'}\}$ are all Cauchy sequences in $L_2((a,b),X)$ ($0 < a < b < \infty$). From these relations we can easily obtain (1) ~ (4).

Q.E.D.

Now that Proposition 1.3 has been established, let us introduce one more function space. Let J be an open interval in I. D(J) denotes the set of all functions v on J which satisfy the following (a) and (b): (a) $v \in C^{1}(J,X)$. $v(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for each $r \in J$. For almost all $r \in J$ $v(r) \in D$ and $v'(r) \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$. By and $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v'$ belong to $L_{2}(J',X)$ for any compact interval J' in J. (b) $v', B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in C_{ac}(J,X)$ with

$$(B^{\frac{1}{2}}v)' = -\frac{1}{r}B^{\frac{1}{2}}v + Bv'$$

for almost all $r \in J$.

It follows from Proposition 1.3 that the solution $v \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$ of the equation (1.21) belongs to $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc} \cap D(I)$.

The unique continuation theorem for the operator L takes the following form.

<u>PROPOSITION 1.4</u>. Let L be as in Proposition 1.2 and let $v \in D(J)$ satisfy the equation $(L-k^2)v = 0$ on J with $k \in \mathbb{C}$, where J is an open interval in I. Suppose that v(r) = 0 in a neighborhood of some point $r_0 \in J$. Then v(r) = 0 on J.

<u>PROOF</u>. Set $\tilde{v} = U^{-1}v$ as in the proof of Proposition 1.3. Then \tilde{v} is a solution of the equation $(T-k^2)\tilde{v} = 0$ and $\tilde{v}(y) = 0$ for $y \in \{y \in \mathbb{R}^N / ||y| - r_0| < n\}$ with some n > 0. Thus we can apply the unique continuation theorem for elliptic operators (see, e.g., Aronszajn [1]) to show that $\tilde{v} \equiv 0$ on $\{y \in \mathbb{R}^N / |y| \in J\}$, which completes the proof. Q.E.D.

Finally we shall show a proposition which is a version of the Relich theorem.

<u>PROPOSITION 1.5</u>. Let L be as in Proposition 1.2 and let J be a bounded open interval in I. Let $\{v_n\}$ be a bounded sequence in $H_0^{1,B}(J,X)$. Then $\{v_n\}$ is a relatively compact sequence in $L_2(J,X)$, i.e., there exists a subsequence $\{u_m\}$ of $\{v_n\}$ such that $\{u_m\}$ is a Cauchy sequence of $L_2(J,X)$.

*

<u>PROOF.</u> Set $\tilde{v}_n = U^{-1}v_n$. Then, by (i) of Proposition 1.1, $\{v_n\}$ is a bounded sequence in $H_1(\Omega_J)$ with $\Omega_J = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^N / |y| \in J\}$. It follows from the Rellich theorem that there exists a subsequence $\{\tilde{u}_m\}$ of $\{\tilde{v}_n\}$ such that $\{\tilde{u}_m\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L_2(\Omega_J)$. Set $u_m = U\tilde{u}_m$. Then $\{u_m\}$ is a subsequence of $\{v_n\}$ and is a Cauchy sequence in $L_2(J,X)$. Q.E.D.

§2. Main Theorem.

We shall now state and prove the limiting absorption principle for the operator

(2.1)
$$L = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C(r)$$

which is given by (0.20) and (0.21). The potential Q(y) is assumed to satisfy the following

ASSUMPTION 2.1.

(2)
$$Q(y)$$
 can be decomposed as $Q(y) = Q_0(y) + Q_1(y)$ such that Q_0 , and Q_1 are real-valued functions on \mathbb{R}^N with $N \ge 3$.

$$(\mathcal{Q}_0)$$
 $\mathcal{Q}_0 \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and

(2.2)
$$|D^{j}Q_{0}(y)| \leq c_{0}(1 + |y|)^{-j-\varepsilon} \quad (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j = 0, 1)$$

with constants $c_0 > 0$ and $0 < \epsilon \le 1$, where D^j denotes an arbitrary derivative of j-th order.

$$(\mathcal{Q}_1) \quad \mathcal{Q}_1 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^N)$$
 and

(2.3)
$$|\mathcal{Q}_{1}(y)| \leq c_{0}(1 + |y|)^{-\varepsilon_{1}} \quad (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N})$$

with a constant $\epsilon_1>1$ and the same constant c_0 as in $(\underline{o}_0).$ We set

(2.4)
$$\begin{cases} C(r) = C_1(r) + C_2(r) , \\ C_j(r) = Q_j(r\omega)x \quad (j = 0, 1) \end{cases}$$

Then, by (2_0) and (2_1) , we have

(2.5)
$$\begin{cases} \|C_0(r)\| \leq c_0(1+r)^{-\varepsilon}, \\ \|C_0'(r)\| \leq c_0(1+r)^{-1-\varepsilon}, \\ \|C_1(r)\| \leq c_0(1+r)^{-1-\varepsilon_1} \end{cases}$$

where $\| \|$ denotes the operator norm of $\mathbf{B}(X)$ and $C'_0(r)$ is the strong derivative of $C_0(r)$ in $\mathbf{B}(X)$.

Let us define a class of solutions for the equation $(L-k^2)v = \ell$ with $k \in C^+$ and $\ell \in F(I,X)$.

<u>DEFINITION 2.2</u>. (radiative function). Let δ be a fixed constant such that $\frac{1}{2} < \delta \leq \min(\frac{1}{4}(2+\epsilon), \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_1)$. Let $\ell \in F(I,X)$ and $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ be given. Then an X-valued function v(r) on \overline{I} is called the *radiative* function for {L, k, ℓ }, if the following three conditions hold:

1) $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$.

2) v' - ikv
$$\in L_{2,\delta-1}(I,X)$$
.

3) For all
$$\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$$
 we have

$$(v, (L-\overline{k}^2)\phi)_0 = \langle \ell, \phi \rangle.$$

For the notation used above see the list of notation given at the beginning of §1. The condition 2) means $\frac{\partial v}{\partial r}$ - ikv is small at infinity, and hence 2) can be regarded as a sort of radiation condition. This is why v is called the radiative function.

THEOREM 2.3. (limiting absorption principle). Let Assumption 2.1 be fulfilled.

(i) Let $(k, \ell) \in \mathbb{C}^+ \times F(I, X)$ be given. Then the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell\}$ is unique.

(ii) For given $(k, \ell) \in \mathbf{C}^+ \times F_{\delta}(I, X)$ there exists a unique radiative function $v = v(\cdot, k, \ell)$ for $\{L, k, \ell\}$ which belongs to $H^{1,B}_{0,-\delta}(I,X)$.

(iii) Let K be a compact set in \mathfrak{C}^+ . Let $v = v(\cdot, k, \ell)$ be the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell\}$ with $k \in K$ and $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$. Then there exists a positive constant C = C(K) depending only on K (and L) such that

$$(2.6) \qquad \|\mathbf{v}\|_{\mathbf{B}_{*}-\delta} \leq C \||\boldsymbol{\ell}\||_{\delta},$$

(2.7)
$$\|v\|_{-\delta} + \|v' - ikv\|_{\delta-1} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\delta-1} \leq C \||\ell\||_{\delta}$$

and

(2.8)
$$\|v\|_{B,-\delta,(r,\infty)}^2 \leq C^2 r^{-(2\delta-1)} |||\ell|||_{\delta}^2 \quad (r \ge 1)$$
.

(iv) The mapping: $\mathbf{C}^+ \times F_{\delta}(I,X)$ $(k, \ell) \neq v(\cdot, k, \ell) \in H^{1,B}_{0,-\delta}(I,X)$ is continuous on $\mathbf{C}^+ \times F_{\delta}(I,X)$. Therefore it is also continuous as a mapping from $\mathbf{C}^+ \times F_{\delta}(I,X)$ into $H^{1,B}_0(I,X)_{10C}$.

Before we prove Theorem 2.3, which is our main theorem in this chapter, we prepare several lemmas, some of which will be shown in the succeeding two sections.

<u>LEMMA 2.4</u>. Let $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and let v be the radiative function for $\{L, k, 0\}$. Then v is identically zero.

The proof of this lemma will be given in §3.

For $f \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$ with $\beta \ge 0$ we define $\mathcal{L}[f] \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$ by $<\mathcal{L}[f], \phi > = (f, \phi)_0$ for $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$. It can be seen easily that

(2.9) $|||\ell[f]|||_{\beta} \leq ||f||_{\beta}$.

<u>LEMMA 2.7</u>. Let $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}^+$ with $Imk_0 > 0$ and let $\ell \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$ with $\beta \ge 0$. Then the equation

(2.15)
$$(v, (L-\overline{k}^2)\phi)_0 = \langle \ell, \phi \rangle \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$$

has a unique solution v_0 in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ and v_0 satisfies

(2.16)
$$v_0 |_{B,\beta} \leq C ||| \ell |||_{\beta} \quad (C = C(k_0, \beta))$$
.

Therefore v_0 is the radiative function for $\{L, k_0, \ell\}$.

Lemmas 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7 will be proved in \$4.

<u>LEMMA 2.8</u>. Let $v_0 \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X) \cap L_{2,\delta}(I)$, be a unique solution of the equation (2.15) with $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$ and $k_0 \in C^+$, $Imk_0 > 0$. Let $k \in C^+$. Then the following (a) and (b) are equivalent:

- (a) v is the radiative function for {L, k, l}.
- (b) v is represented as $v = v_0 + w$, where w is the radiative function for {L, k, $\ell[(k^2 k_0^2)v_0]$ }.

<u>PROOF</u>. Lemma 2.8 directly follows from the relation for $v \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$

(2.17)
$$(v - v_0, (L - \overline{k}^2)_{\phi})_0$$

=
$$(v, (L-\overline{k}^2)\phi) - \langle \ell, \phi \rangle + ((k^2-k_0^2)v_0, \phi)_0$$

 $(\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$

and Lemma 2.7.

Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 2.5</u>. Let $k \in K$ and let v be the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell[f]\}$ with $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and let $v \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$, where K is a compact set in \mathbf{C}^+ and δ is as in Definition 2.2. Then $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_{2,\delta-1}(I,X)$ and there exists a constant C = C(K) such that

(2.10)
$$\|v' - ikv\|_{\delta-1} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\delta-1} \leq C\left\{\|v\|_{-\delta} + \|f\|_{\delta}\right\}$$
,

and

$$(2.11) \qquad \|v\|_{-\delta,(r,\infty)}^{2} \leq C^{2}r^{-(2\delta-1)} \left\{ \|v\|_{-\delta}^{2} + \|f\|_{\delta}^{2} \right\} \quad (r \geq 1) .$$

<u>LEMMA 2.6</u>. Let $v_n (n = 1, 2, ...)$ be the radiative function for $\{L, k_n, \ell_n\}$, where $k_n \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and $\ell_n \in F_{\delta}(I, X)$. Assume that

(2.12)
$$\begin{cases} k_n + k \in \mathbb{C} + \\ \ell_n + \ell & \text{in } F_{\delta}(I,X) \end{cases}$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$, and that there exists a constant C_0 such that

(2.13)
$$\begin{cases} \|v_n\|_{-\delta}^+ \|v_n' - ik_n v_n\|_{\delta-1} \leq C_0, \\ \|v_n\|_{-\delta}^2, (r, \infty) \leq C_0^2 r^{-(2\delta-1)} \quad (r \geq 1) \end{cases}$$

for all n = 1, 2, ... Then $\{v_n\}$ has a strong limit v in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ which is the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell\}$. Further we have

(2.14)
$$v_n \neq v \text{ in } H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$.

By the use of these lemmas Theorem 2.3 can be proved in a standard way used in the proof of the limiting absorption principle for the various operators.

PROOF of THEOREM 2.3. The proof is divided into several steps.

(I) The uniqueness of the radiative function for given $(k, \ell) \in \mathfrak{C}^+ \times F(I, X)$ follows from Lemma 2.4.

(II) Let us show the estimate (2.6), (2.7) and (2.8) with $|||l|||_{\delta}$ replaced by $\|f\|_{\delta}$ for the radiative function v for {L, k, l[f]} with $k \in K$, $v \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ and $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. In view of Lemma 2.5 it suffices to show

$$|v|_{\delta} \leq C|f|_{\delta},$$

because (2.6) and (2.8) with $|||\ell|||_{\delta}$ replaced by $\|f\|_{\delta}$ easily follow from (2.18) and Lemma 2.5. Let us assume that (2.18) is false. Then for each positive integer n we can find $k_n \in K$ and the radiative function v_n for {L, $k_n \ell[f_n]$ } with $f_n \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ such that

(2.19) $\|v_n\|_{-\delta} = 1$, $\|f_n\|_{\delta} \le \frac{1}{n}$ (n = 1, 2, ...).

We may assume without loss of generality that $k_n + k \in K$ as $n + \infty$. Thus it can be seen that (2.12) and (2.13) in Lemma 2.6 hold good with $\ell_n = \ell[f_n]$, $\ell = 0$ and $C_0 = 2C$, where C is the same constant as in Lemma 2.5 and we should note that $\|\ell[f_n]\|_{\delta} \leq \|f_n\|_{\delta} + 0$ as $n + \infty$. Therefore, by Lemma 2.6, $\{v_n\}$ converges in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ to the radiative function for $\{L, k, 0\}$ which satisfies $\|v\|_{-\delta} = 1$. But it follows from Lemma 1.4 that v is identically zero, which contradicts the fact that $\|v\|_{-\delta} = 1$. Thus we have shown (2.6), (2.7) (2.8) with $\||\ell\||_{\delta}$ replaced by $\|f\|_{\delta}$ for the radiative function $v \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ for {L, k, $\ell[f]$ } with $k \in K$ and $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$.

(III) The existence of the radiative function for (k, ℓ) with $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$, Imk > 0 and $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$ has been shown by Lemma 2.7 with $\beta = \delta$. Let us next consider the case that $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Set $k_n = k + i/n \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and denote by v_n the radiative function for $\{L, k_n, \ell\}$. Let $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}^+$ with $Imk_0 > 0$ and let v_0 be the radiative function for $\{L, k_0, \ell\}$. The existence of v_n and v_0 are assured by Lemma 2.7. Then, using (2.16) with $\beta = \delta$, we have

$$(2.20) \|v_0\|_{B,\delta} \leq C \||\ell||_{\delta}$$

with $C = C(k_0)$, whence easily follows that

(2.21)
$$\|v_0\|_{-\delta, \{r, \infty\}}^2 \leq c^2 r^{-(2\delta-1)} \|\|\ell\|\|_{\delta}^2$$
 $(r \geq 1)$.

On the other hand, by making use of Lemma 2.8, $w_n = v_n - v_0$ is the radiative function for $\{L, k_n, \ell[(k_n^2 - k_0^2)v_0]\}$. Since v_n and v_0 belong to $L_{2,\delta}(I,X), (k_n^2 - k_0^2)v_0$ and $w_n = v_n - v_0$ belong to $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, and hence, as has been shown in (II), we have

$$(2.22) \begin{cases} \|w_n\|_{-\delta} + \|w_n' - ik_n w_n\|_{\delta-1} \leq C |k_n^2 - k_0^2| \|v_0\|_{\delta} , \\ \\ \|w_n\|_{-\delta}^2, (r, \infty) \leq C^2 r^{-(2\delta-1)} |k_n^2 - k_0^2|^2 \|v_0\|_{\delta}^2 \quad (r \geq 1) , \end{cases}$$

where $C = C(K_0)$ and $K_0 = \{k_n\} \cup \{k\}$. It follows (2.20), (2.21) and (2.22) that $\{k_n\}$ and $\{v_n\}$ satisfy (2.12) and (2.13) with $\ell_n = \ell$ in Lemma 2.6. Hence, by Lemma 2.6, there exists a strong limit v in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ which is the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell\}$. Thus the existence for the radiative function for $\{L, k, \ell\}$ has been established.

(IV) Finally let us show (2.6), (2.7) and (2.8) completely. Let K be a compact set in \mathbb{C}^+ . Let k_0 and v_0 be as in (III). Then the radiative function v for {L, k, ℓ } (k \in K, $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$) is represented as $v = v_0 + w$, w being the radiative function for {L, k, $\ell[(k^2-k_0^2)v_0]$ } by Lemma 2.8. It follows from (II) that the estimates

(2.23)
$$\begin{cases} \|w\|_{-\delta}^{+} \|w'-ikw\|_{\delta-1}^{+} \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}w\|_{\delta-1}^{-} \leq C|k^{2}-k_{0}^{2}|\|v_{0}\|_{\delta}^{-}, \\ \|w\|_{-\delta}^{2}, (r, \infty) \leq Cr^{-(2\delta-1)}|k^{2}-k_{0}^{2}|^{2}\|v_{0}\|_{\delta}^{2} \quad (r \geq 1) \end{cases}$$

hold with C = C(K). (2.23) is combined with (2.20) and (2.21) to give the estimates (2.7) and

(2.24)
$$\|v\|_{\delta,(r,\infty)}^2 \leq c^2 r^{-(2\delta-1)} \|\|\ell\|\|_{\delta}^2$$

(2.6) and (2.8) directly follow from (2.7) and (2.24). The continuity of the mapping: $(k, \ell) \neq v(\cdot, k, \ell)$ in $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$ is easily obtained from (III) and Lemma 2.6.

§3. Uniqueness of the Radiative Function.

This section is devoted to showing Lemma 2.4. It will be proved along the line of Jäger [1] and [2]. But some modification is necessary, since we are concerned with a long-range potential.

We shall now give a proposition related to the asymptotic behavior of the solution $v \in D(J)$, $J = (R,\infty)$ with R > 0, of the equation $(L - k^2)v = 0$ with $k \in \mathbf{R} - \{0\}$. Here the definition of D(J) is given after the proof of Proposition 1.3 in §1.

<u>PROPOSITION 3.1</u>. Let Assumption 2.1 be satisfied. Let $v \in D(J)$ (J = (R, ∞), (R^{\geq}0) satisfy the following (1) and (2):

(1) The estimate

(3.1)
$$|(L-k^2)v(r)|_{x} \leq c(1+r)^{-2\delta}|v(r)|_{x}$$
 $(r \in J)$

holds with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and some c > 0, where δ is given as in Definition 2.2.

(2) The support of v is unbounded, i.e., the set ${r \in J/|v(r)|}_X>0$ is an unbounded set.

Then

(3.2)
$$\frac{\lim_{r\to\infty} \{|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}\} > 0.$$

The proof will be given after proving Lemmas 3.2 and 3.3. Set for $v \in D(J)$

(3.3)
$$(Kv)(r) = |v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2} - (B(r)v(r), v(r))_{x} - (C_{0}(r)v(r), v(r)) \quad (r \in J).$$

Kv(r) is absolutely continuous on every compact interval in J.

<u>LEMMA 3.2</u>. Let $v \in D(J)$ and let (3.1) be satisfied. Then there exist $c_1 > 0$ and $R_1 > R$ such that

(3.4)
$$\frac{d}{dr}(Kv)(r) \ge -c_1(1+r)^{-2\delta}(Kv)(r) \quad (a.e. \ r \ge R_1),$$

where a.e. means "almost everywhere".

<u>PROOF</u>. Setting $(L-k^2)v = f$ and using (3.1) and (Q_1) of Assumption 2.1, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Kv) = 2Re\{(v'',v')_{x} + k^{2}(v,v')_{x} - (Bv,v')_{x} - (C_{0}v,v')_{x}\} - \frac{d}{dr}(\{B(r) + C_{0}(r)\}x,x)_{x}|_{x} = v$$

$$(3.5) = 2Re(C_{1}v-f, v')_{x} + \frac{2}{r}(Bv,v)_{x} - (C_{0}'v,v)_{x}$$

$$\geq -2c_{2}(1+r)^{-2\delta}|v|_{x}|v'|_{x} + \frac{2}{r}(Bv,v)_{x} - (C_{0}'v,v)_{x}$$

with $c_2 = c + c_0$, c_0 being the same constant as in (Q_1) of Assumption 2.1. From the estimate

(3.6)
$$2|v|_{x}|v'|_{x} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|k|} \cdot 2 \left(\frac{|k|}{\sqrt{2}} |v|_{x}\right)|v'|_{x} \leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{|k|}(|v'|_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{2}|v|_{x}^{2})$$

and (3.5) it follows that we have with $c_1 = \frac{c_2\sqrt{2}}{|k|}$

$$\frac{d}{dr} Kv \ge -c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta} (|v'|_X^2 + \frac{1}{2}k^2|v|_X^2) + \frac{2}{r} (Bv,v)_X$$

$$- (C_0'v,v)_X$$
(3.7)
$$= -c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta} (Kv) + (\frac{2}{r} - c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta}) (Bv,v)_X$$

$$+ [\frac{1}{2}k^2c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta}|v|_X^2 - (\{c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta}c_0 + c_0'\}v,v)_X]$$

$$\equiv -c_1 (1+r)^{-2\delta} (Kv) + J_1(r) + J_2(r).$$
$J_1(r) \ge 0$ for sufficiently large r, because $2r^{-1} - c_1(1+r)^{-2\delta} \ge 0$ for sufficiently large r. By (Q_0) of Assumption $2.1 \ c_1(1+r)^{-2\delta} C_0(r) + C_0'(r) = 0$ ($r^{-2\delta}$) ($r_{+\infty}$) holds, and so $J_2(r) \ge 0$ for sufficiently large r too. Therefore there exists $R_1 > R$ such that (3.4) is valid for $r \ge R_1$. Q.E.D.

Let us next set

(3.8) Nv = r{K(
$$e^{d}v$$
) + (m^{2} -log r) $r^{-2\mu}|e^{d}v|_{x}^{2}$,
where m is a positive integer, $\frac{1}{3} < \mu < \frac{1}{2}$, d = d(r) = m(1- μ)⁻¹r^{1- μ} .

LEMMA 3.3. Let $v \in D(J)$ satisfy (1) and (2) of Proposition 3.1. Then for fixed $\mu \in (1/3, 1/2)$ there exist $m_1 \ge 1$ and $R_2 \ge R$ such that

(3.9)
$$(Nv)(r) \ge 0$$
 $(r \ge R_2, m \ge m_1)$

<u>PROOF</u>. Set $w = e^{d}v$. Then (d/dr)(Nv)(r) is calculated as follows:

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Nv) = (Kw) + r \frac{d}{dr}(Kw) + (1-2\mu)r^{-2\mu}(m^2 - \log r) |w|_{x}^{2}$$

$$- r^{-2\mu}|w|_{x}^{2} + 2(m^2 - \log r)r^{1-2\mu}Re(w; w)_{x}$$
(3.10)
$$= |w'|_{x}^{2} + \{k^2 + (1-2\mu)r^{-2\mu}(m^2 - \log r) - r^{-2\mu}\} |w|_{x}^{2}$$

$$- (Bw,w)_{x} - (C_{0}w,w)_{x} + r \frac{d}{dr}(Kw)$$

$$+ 2r^{1-2\mu}(m^2 - \log r)Re(w',w)_{x} .$$

Now we make use of the relations

(3.11)
$$\begin{cases} w' = e^{d}v' + mr^{-\mu}w \\ w'' = e^{d}v'' + mr^{-\mu}e^{d}v' + mr^{-\mu}w' - \mu mr^{-\mu-1}w \\ = e^{d}v'' + 2mr^{-\mu}w' - (\mu mr^{-\mu-1} + m^{2}r^{-2\mu})w \end{cases}$$

to obtain

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Kw) = 2Re(w'' + k^{2}w - C_{0}w - Bw,w')_{x} - \frac{d}{dr}(\{B + C_{0}\}x,x)_{x}|_{x=w}$$

$$= 2e^{d}Re(C_{1}v - f,w') + 4mr^{-\mu}|w'|_{x}^{2}$$

$$(3.12) - 2(\mu mr^{-\mu-1} + m^{2}r^{-2\mu})Re(w,w')_{x}$$

$$- \frac{d}{dr}(\{B + C_{0}\}x,x)_{x}|_{x=w}$$

It follows from (3.10)-(3.12) that

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Nv) = (4mr^{1-\mu} + 1) |w'|_{\chi}^{2} + \{k^{2} + (1-2\mu)r^{-2\mu}(m^{2} - logr) - r^{-2\mu}\}|w|_{\chi}^{2}$$

$$- (\{C_{0} + rC_{0}^{'}\} w, w)_{\chi} + 2\{re^{d}Re(C_{1}v - f, w')_{\chi}$$

$$- 2(\mu mr^{-\mu} + r^{1-2\mu}log r)Re(w, w')_{\chi}$$

$$+ (Bw, w)_{\chi}$$

By the use of (3.1) and Assumption 2.1 we arrive at

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Nv) \ge [k^{2} + m^{2}(1-2\mu)r^{-2\mu} - \{(1-2\mu) \log r + 1\}r^{-2\mu} - 2c_{0}(1+r)^{-\epsilon}]|w|_{x}^{2} + (4mr^{1-\mu} + 1)|w'|_{x}^{2} - 2\{(c + c_{0})(1+r)^{-(2\delta-1)} + \mu mr^{-\mu} + r^{1-2\mu}\log r\}|w|_{x}|w'|_{x}$$

Thus we can find $R_3 > R$, independent of m , such that

$$\frac{d}{dr}(Nv) \ge \{\frac{1}{2}k^{2} + m^{2}(1-2\mu)r^{-2\mu}\}|w|_{x}^{2}$$

$$- 2 \{2r^{1-2\mu}log r + \mu mr^{-\mu}\}|w|_{x}|w'|_{x}$$

$$+ (4mr^{1-\mu} + 1) |w'|_{x}^{2}$$

$$\equiv P(r,m) |w|_{x}^{2} - 2Q(r,m) |w|_{x}|w'|_{x} + S(r,m)|w'|_{x}^{2}$$

$$(r \ge R_{2}, m \ge 1)$$

This is a quadratic form of $\left|w\right|_{\chi}$ and $\left|w'\right|_{\chi}$. The coefficient P(r,m) of $\left|w\right|_{\chi}^2$ satisfies

(3.16)
$$P \ge k^2/2$$
 (r>0, m>0).

Further we have

$$PS - Q^{2} \ge 4mr^{1-\mu}P - Q^{2}$$

$$= 2mk^{2}r^{1-\mu} + 4(1-2\mu)m^{3}r^{1-3\mu} - \{\mu^{2}m^{2}r^{-2\mu} + 4\mu mr^{1-3\mu}log r + 4r^{2-4\mu}(log r)^{2}\}$$

$$= m^{2}\{4(1-2\mu)m - \mu^{2}r^{-1+\mu}\}r^{1-3\mu}$$

$$+ m(k^{2} - 4\mu r^{-2\mu}log r)r^{1-\mu}$$

$$+ \{mk^{2} - 4r^{1-3\mu}(log r)^{2}\}r^{1-\mu}$$

$$\ge k^{2}/2 \qquad (r \ge R_{4}, m \ge 1)$$

with sufficiently large $R_4 > R_3$, R_4 can be taken independent of $m \ge 1$. Thus we obtain

(3.18)
$$\frac{d}{dr}(Nv)(r) \ge 0 \qquad (a.e. \ r \ge R_4, \ m \ge 1)$$

On the other hand Nv(r) is a polynomial of order 2 with respect to m, that is, Nv can be rewritten as

(3.19) (Nv)(r) =
$$re^{2d} \{ |mr^{-\mu}v+v'|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v|_{x}^{2} - (Bv,v)_{x} - (C_{0}v,v)_{x} + r^{-2\mu}(m^{2} - log r) |v|_{x}^{2} \}$$

= $re^{2d} \{ 2r^{-2\mu}|v|_{x}^{2}m^{2} + 2r^{-\mu}Re(v,v')_{x}m+(Kv-r^{-2\mu}|v|_{x}^{2}log r) \}$.

By (2) in Proposition 3.1 the support of v is unbounded, and hence there exists $R_2 \ge R_4$ such that

$$|v(R_2)|_{x} > 0$$

Then, since the coefficient of m^2 in (Nv)(r) is positive when $r = R_2$, there exists $m_1 \ge 1$ such that

$$(3.21) (Nv)(R_2) > 0 (m \ge m_1) .$$

(3.9) is obtained from (3.18) and (3.21).

Q.E.D.

<u>PROOF of PROPOSITION 3.1</u>. First we consider the case that there exists a sequence $\{t_n\} \subset J, t_n^{+\infty}(n \rightarrow \infty)$, such that $(Kv)(t_n) > 0$ for n = 1, 2, .Then there exists $r_0 \ge R_1$ such that $(Kv)(r_0) > 0, R_1$ being as in Lemma 3.2. Let us show that (Kv)(r) > 0 for all $r \ge r_0$. In fact, multiplying (3.4) by $\exp\{c_1 \int_{r_0}^{r} (1+t)^{-2\delta} dt\}$, we have

(3.22)
$$\frac{d}{dr} \left\{ e^{C_1 \int r_0^{(1+t)^{-2\delta} dt} . (Kv)(r) \right\} \ge 0 \quad (a.e. \ r \ge r_0),$$

whence directly follows

(3.23)
$$(Kv)(r) \ge e^{-c_1 \int_{r_0}^{r} (Hr)^{-2\delta} dt} (Kv)(r_0) > 0 \quad (r \ge r_0).$$

It follows from (3.23) that

$$|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2} = (Kv)(r) + (B(r)v(r), v(r))_{x} + (C_{0}(r)v(r), v(r))_{x} (3.24) = e^{-c_{1}} \int_{r_{0}}^{r} (Ht)^{-2\delta} dt \ge e^{-c_{1}} \int_{r_{0}}^{r} (Kv)(r_{0}) - c_{0}(1+r)^{-\varepsilon} k^{-2} (|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}) \quad (r \ge r_{0}).$$

which implies that

(3.25)
$$\frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} (|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2})}{\geq e^{-\int_{0}^{\infty} (1+t)^{-2\delta} dt} (Kv)(r_{0}) > 0}$$

Next consider the case that $(Kv)(r) \leq 0$ for all $r \geq R_5$ with some $R_5 > R_2$, R_2 being as in Lemma 3.3. Then it follows from (3.19) and (3.9) that

(3.26)
$$2r^{-2\mu}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}m^{2} + 2r^{-\mu}Re(v(r),v'(r))_{x}m - r^{-2\mu}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}log r \ge 0$$

($r \ge R_{5}, m \ge m_{1}$),

which, together with the relation

(3.27)
$$\frac{d}{dr} |v(r)|_{x}^{2} = 2Re(v(r), v'(r))_{x},$$

implies that

(3.28)
$$\frac{d}{dr} |v(r)|_{x}^{2} \ge r^{-\mu} \{\frac{1}{m_{1}} \log r - 2m_{1}\} |v(r)|_{x}^{2} \ge 0 \quad (r \ge R_{6})$$

with sufficiently large $R_6 \ge R_5$. Because of the unboundedness of the support of v(r) we have $|v(R_7)|_X > 0$ with some $R_7 \ge R_6$, and hence it can be seen from (3.28) that

$$(3.29) |v(r)|_{x} \ge |v(R_{7})|_{x} > 0 (r \ge R_{7}),$$

whence follows that

$$(3.30) \quad \frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} \{|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}\} \ge k^{2}|v(R_{7})|_{x}^{2} > 0 \quad .$$
Q.E.D.

In order to show Lemma 2.4 we need one more proposition which is a corollary of Proposition 1.3 (regularity theorem).

 $\frac{PROPOSITION 3.4}{R^{N}}$ and let $v \in L_{2}(I,X)_{loc}$ be a solution of the equation

(3.31)
$$(v, (L-\bar{k}^2)\phi)_0 = (f,\phi)_0 \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$$

with $k \in \mathbf{C}^+$ and $f \in L_2(I,X)_{\text{loc}}$. Then

(3.32)
$$|v'(r) - ik v(r)|_{x}^{2} = |v'(r) + k_{2}v(r)|_{x}^{2} + k_{1}^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2} + 4k_{1}^{2}k_{2}||v||_{0}^{2}, (0,r) + 2k_{1}I_{m}(f,v)_{0}, (0,r)$$

holds for all $r \in I$, where $k_1 = \text{Rek}$ and $k_2 = \text{Imk}$.

<u>PROOF</u>. As has been shown in the proof of Proposition 1.3, $v \in UH_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{loc}$ and there exists a sequence $\{\varphi_n\} \subset C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

(3.33)
$$\begin{cases} \varphi_n + \tilde{v} = U^{-1}v & \text{in } H_2(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ loc} \\ (T-k^2)\varphi_n + \tilde{f} = U^{-1}f & \text{in } L_2(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ loc} \end{cases}$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$, where $T = -\Delta + Q(y)$. Set $\phi_n = U \phi_n$. Then, proceeding as in the proof of Proposition 1.3 and using the relation $(L-k^2)U = U(T-k^2)$, we have

(3.34)
$$\begin{cases} \phi_{n} \neq v & \text{in } L_{2}(I,X) \text{ loc,} \\ \phi_{n}(r) \neq v(r) & \text{in } X \quad (r \in \overline{I}), \\ \phi'_{n}(r) \neq v'(r) & \text{in } X \quad (r \in I), \\ (L-k^{2})\phi_{n} \neq f & \text{in } L_{2}(I,X) \text{ loc} \end{cases}$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$. Set $f_n = (L-k^2)\phi_n$, integrate $((L-k^2)\phi_n, \phi_n)_x = (f_n\phi_n)_x$ from 0 tc r and make use of partial integration. Then we arrive at

$$(\phi'_{n}, \phi'_{n})_{0,(0,r)} + (\{B+C-k^{2}\}\phi_{n}, \phi_{n})_{0,(0,r)} - (\phi'_{n}(r), \phi_{n}(r))_{x}$$

$$(3.35) = (f_{n}, \phi_{n})_{0,(0,r)} .$$

By letting $n \rightarrow \infty$ in (3.35) after taking the imaginary part of it (3.35) yeilds

(3.36)
$$I_{m}(v'(r),v(r))_{x} = -2k_{1}k_{2}||v||_{0,(0,r)} - I_{m}(f,v)_{0,(0,r)}.$$

(3.32) directly follows from (3.36) and

(3.37)
$$|v'(r) - ikv(r)|_{x}^{2} = |v'(r) + k_{2}v(r)|_{x}^{2} + k_{1}^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}$$

 $-2k_{1}I_{m}(v'(r), -v(r))_{x}$.

<u>PROOF of LEMMA 2.4</u>. Let v be the radiative function for {L,k,0} with $k \in \mathbf{C}^+$. It suffices to show that v = 0. Let us note that we obtain from (3.32), by setting f=0,

$$(3.38) |v'(r) - ikv(r)|_{x}^{2} = |v'(r) + ik_{2}v(r)|_{x}^{2} + k_{1}^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2} + 4k_{1}^{2}k_{2}||v||_{0}^{2}, (0,r) .$$

Let us also note the relation

(3.39)
$$\frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} |v'(r) - ikv(r)|_{x}^{2} = 0$$

which is implied by the fact that $v' - ikv \in L_{2,\delta-1}(I,X)$. If $k_2 > 0$, then it follows from (3.38) and (3.39) that

(3.40)
$$\frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} \|v\|_{0,(0,r)}^2}{r \to \infty} \leq \frac{1}{4k_1^2 k_2} \frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} |v'(r) - ikv(r)|_x}{r \to \infty} = 0,$$

which means $\|v\|_{0,(0,\infty)}^2 = 0$, that is, v = 0. Next consider the case that $k_2 = 0$, i.e., $k = k_1 \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then from (3.38) and (3.39) we obtain

(3.41)
$$\frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} (|v'(r)|_{x}^{2} + k^{2}|v(r)|_{x}^{2}) = \frac{\lim_{r \to \infty} |v'(r) - ikv(r)|_{x} = 0$$

Therefore Proposition 3.1 can be applied to show that the support of v(r) is bounded in I, and hence v = 0 by Proposition 1.4 (the unique continuation theorem).

Q.E.D

§4. Proof of the lemmas

Now we shall show the lemmas in §2 which remain unproved. After that, some more precise properties of the mapping $(k,l) + v = v(\cdot,k,l)$ in Theorem 2.3 will be shown.

<u>PROOF of LEMMA 2.6.</u> Applying Proposition 1.2 (the interior estimate) with $v = v_n$, $k = k_n$ and $\ell = \ell_n$, we have

(4.1)
$$\|v_{n}\|_{B(0,R)} \leq C(\|v_{n}\|_{0,(0,R+1)} + \|\|\mathcal{L}_{n}\|\|_{0,(0,R+1)})$$

(R \equiv I, n = 1,2,...)

with C = C(R), because $\{k_n\}$ is a bounded sequence. Since $\{v_n\}$ and $\{\ell_n\}$ are bounded sequences in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ and $F_{\delta}(I,X)$, respectively, it can be easily seen that $\|v_n\|_{0,(0,R+1)}$ and $\|\ell_n\|_{0,(0,R+1)}$ are uniformly bounded for n = 1,2,... with a fixed positive number R. Therefore, for fixed $R \in I$, the right-hand side of (4.1) is uniformly bounded for n = 1,2,... Thus, Proposition 1.5 can be applied to show that there exist a subsequence $\{v_n\}$ of $\{v_n\}$ and $v \in L_2(I,X)_{10C}$ such that v_n_m converges to v in $L_2(I,X)_{10C}$. Moreover, the norm $\|v_n\|_{-\delta,(r,\infty)}$ tends to zero uniformly for m = 1,2,... as $r \to \infty$ by the second relation of (2.13), and hence we arrive at

(4.2)
$$v_{n_m} + v \text{ in } L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$$

as $m + \infty$. By letting $m + \infty$ in the relation

(4.3)
$$(v_{n_m}, (L - \overline{k}_{n_m}^2)\phi) = \langle \ell_{n_m}, \phi \rangle \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)),$$

v is seen to be a solution of the equation

(4.4)
$$(v, (L = \overline{k}^2)\phi) = \langle \ell, \phi \rangle \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)).$$

Since $u = v_{n_m} - v_{n_p}$ satisfies the equation

(4.5)
$$(u, (L-\overline{k}_{n_m}^2)\Phi) = \langle \ell[(k_{n_m}^2 - k_{n_p}^2)v_{n_p}] + \ell_{n_m} - \ell_{n_p}, \Phi \rangle \quad (\Phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)),$$

Proposition 1.2 can be applied again to show that

(4.6)
$$\|v_{n_m} - v_{n_p}\|_{B,(0,R)} \leq C \{\|v_{n_m} - v_{n_p}\|_{0,(0,R+1)} + \|k_{n_m}^2 - k_{n_p}^2\|\|v_{n_p}\|_{0,(0,R+1)}$$

+
$$||| \ell_n_m^{-\ell_n} |||_{0,(0,RH)} \to 0$$

as $m, p \rightarrow \infty$, whence follows that

(4.7)
$$v_{n_m} \neq v \text{ in } H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$$

as $m \rightarrow \infty$. Thus, letting $m \rightarrow \infty$ in the estimate

(4.8)
$$\|v'_{n_m} - ik_{n_m}v_{n_m}\|_{\delta-1,(0,R)} \leq C_0,$$

which is obtained from the first relation of (2.13), we see that

(4.9)
$$\|v' - ikv\|_{\delta-1, (0, \mathbb{R})} \leq C_0,$$

and hence, because of the arbitrariness of R > 0, $v'-ikv \in L_{2,\delta-1}(I,X)$. Therefore v is the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell\}$.

As is easily seen from the discussion above, any subsequence of $\{v_n\}$ contains a subsequence which converges in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$ to the radiative function v for $\{L,k,\ell\}$. Therefore, it follows that $\{v_n\}$ itself converges to v in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$. Q.E.D.

Let us turn to the proof of Lemma 2.7. To this end, we have to investigate some properties of the function space $H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X)$. It is a Hilbert space obtained by the completion of $C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$ by the norm

(4.10)
$$\|\Phi\|_{B,-\beta}^{2} = \int_{I} (1+r)^{-2\beta} \{|\Phi'|_{X}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi|_{X}^{2} + |\Phi|_{X}^{2} \} dr.$$

Obviously $H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X) \subset H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$ and the inner product and norm are represented as

(4.11)
$$\begin{cases} (u,v)_{B,-\beta} = \int_{I} (1+r)^{-2\beta} \{(u',v')_{x} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}u - B^{\frac{1}{2}}v)_{x} + (u,v)_{x} \} dr, \\ u u_{B,-\beta} = [(u,u)_{B,-\beta}]^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{cases}$$

Let t be a positive number. Then the norm $I_{B,-\beta,t}$ defined by

(4.12)
$$\|u\|_{B,-\beta,t}^{2} = \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} \{|u'|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2} + |u|_{x}^{2} \} dr$$

is equivalent to the norm $\| \|_{B,-\beta}$ (= $\| \|_{B,-\beta,1}$). The set of all antilinear continuous functional on $H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X)$ is $F_{\beta}(I,X)$, because we can easily show that the norm $\| \|_{\beta}$ of $\ell \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$ is equivalent to the norm

(4.13)
$$\|\|\ell\|_{\beta}^{2} = \sup\{|\langle \ell, \phi \rangle|/\phi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(I, \chi), \|\phi\|_{B_{\gamma}-\beta} = 1\}.$$

It can be easily seen, too, that the norm $\| {\tt N} {\tt N} \|_{\beta}$ is equivalent to the norm defined by

(4.14)
$$\| \mathfrak{L} \|_{\beta,t} = \sup\{ | < \mathfrak{L}, (t+r)^{\beta} \Phi > | / \Phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X), \| \Phi \|_{B} = 1 \}$$

for all t > 0.

<u>PROOF of LEMMA 2.7</u>. Consider a bilinear continuous functional A_t on $H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X) \times H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X)$ defined by

(4.15)
$$A_{t}[u,v] = (u,v)_{B,-\beta,t} - 2\beta \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta-1} (u,v') dr$$
$$+ \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} (\{C - k_{0}^{2} - 1\}u,v)_{x} dr,$$

where t > 0 and $k_0 \in \mathbf{C}^+$ with Im $k_0 > 0$. Let us show that A_t is positive definite for some t > 0, i.e., there exists $t_0 > 0$ and

 $C = C(t_0, k_0) > 0$ such that

(4.16)
$$|A_{t_0}[u,u]| \ge C ||u||_{B,-\beta,t_0}^2 \quad (u \in H^{1,B}_{0,-\beta}(I,X)).$$

It suffices to show (4.16) for $u = \phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$. Set $k_0^2 = \lambda + i\mu$ $(\mu \neq 0)$ and $\tilde{C}(r) = C(r) - 1 - \lambda$. Then we have

$$(4.17) \qquad |A_{t}[\Phi,\Phi]|^{2} = (||\Phi||_{B,-\beta,t}^{2} + \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} (\tilde{C}\Phi,\Phi)_{x} dr)$$
$$- 2\beta \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta-1} \operatorname{Re}(\Phi,\Phi')_{x} dr)^{2}$$
$$+ (\mu \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} |\Phi|_{x}^{2} dr$$
$$- 2\beta \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} \operatorname{Im}(\Phi,\Phi')_{x} dr)^{2}.$$

By the use of a simple inequality $(a \pm b)^2 \ge (1 - \alpha)a^2 + (1 - \alpha^{-1})b^2$ $(\alpha > 0, a, b \in \mathbb{R})$ we have from (4.17)

$$(4.18) |A_{t}[\Phi,\Phi]|^{2} \ge \frac{1}{2} \{ (\|\Phi\|_{B,-\beta,t}^{2} + \int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} (\tilde{C}\Phi,\Phi)_{x} dr)^{2} + \mu^{2} (\int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} |\Phi|_{x}^{2} dr)^{2} \} - 4\beta^{2} \{ (\int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta-1} \operatorname{Re}(\Phi,\Phi')_{x} dr)^{2} + (\int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta-1} \operatorname{Im}(\Phi,\Phi')_{x} dr)^{2} \} \\ \equiv \frac{1}{2} I_{1}(t) - 4\beta^{2} I_{2}(t).$$

 $I_1(t)$ can be estimated as follows:

$$(4.19) \quad I_{1}(t) \ge (1 - \alpha) \|\phi\|_{B,-\beta,t}^{4} + \{\mu^{2} - (\frac{1}{\alpha} - 1)\|\tilde{C}\|\} (\int_{I} (t+r)^{-2\beta} |\phi|_{X}^{2} dr)^{2}$$
$$(0 < \alpha < 1).$$

Set $\alpha = 2 \|\tilde{C}\| (2 \|\tilde{C}\| + \mu^2)^{-1}$ in (4.19). Then we arrive at

(4.20)
$$I_{1}(t) \ge \frac{\mu^{2}}{2 \|\tilde{C}\|+\mu^{2}} \|\phi\|_{B,-\beta,t}^{4}$$

On the other hand, we have

(4.21)
$$I_2(t)/\|\phi\|_{B,-\beta,t}^4 \leq 2(\int_I (t+r)^{-2\beta}|\phi|_x|\phi'|_x dr)^2/t^{2\|\phi\|_{B,-\beta,t}^2} + 0$$

 $(t \rightarrow \infty)$.

It follows from (4.20) and (4.21) that A_{t_0} is positive definite with some t_0 .

Let $\ell \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$. By the Riesz Theorem, there exists a unique $f \in H^{1,B}_{0,-\beta}(I,X)$ such that

(4.22)
$$\begin{cases} <\ell, \phi > = (f, \phi)_{B, -B, t_0}, \\ \|f\|_{B, -B, t_0} \leq C \|\ell\|_{\beta} \end{cases}$$

where $C = C(\beta, t_0)$ does not depend on f or ℓ . Now the Lax-Milgram Theorem (see, e.g., Yosida [1], p. 92) can be applied to show that there exists $w \in H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X)$ such that

(4.23)
$$\begin{cases} A_{t_0}[w, \Phi] = (f, \Phi)_{B, -\beta, t_0} & (\Phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)) \\ \|w\|_{B, -\beta, t_0} \leq C \|f\|_{B, -\beta, t_0} & (C = C(\beta, t_0)). \end{cases}$$

By partial integration, we obtain, from (4.22) and (4.23),

(4.24)
$$((t_0 + r)^{-2\beta}w, (L - \overline{k}_0^2)\Phi)_0 = \langle \ell, \Phi \rangle \quad (\Phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)).$$

(4.22) and (4.23) can be used again to see that $v = (t_0 + r)^{-2\beta}w$ satisfies the estimate (2.16). Thus, $v = (t_0 + r)^{-2\beta}w$ is the radiative function for $\{L,k_0,\ell\}$. The uniqueness of the radiative function has been already proved by Lemma 2.4. Q.E.D.

In order to show Lemma 2.5, we have to prepare two lemmas.

<u>LEMMA 4.1</u>. Let K be a compact set in C^+ . Then there exists a positive constant C = C(K) such that

$$(4.25) k_2 |v|_{1-\delta} \leq C\{|v|_{-\delta} + |v' - ikv|_{\delta-1} + |f|_{\delta}\}$$

holds for any radiative function v for $\{L,k,l[f]\}$ with $k = k_1 + ik_2 \in K$, $k_2 > 0$ and $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$.

Proof. Let $k \in K$ with $\text{Im } k = k_2 > 0$ and let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Then, by Lemma 2.7, there exists a unique radiative function $v = v(\cdot,k, \&[f])$ such that $v,v' \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Moreover, $v \in D(I) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$ by Proposition 1.3 and v satisfies the equation $(L - k^2)v = f$ for almost all $r \in I$. Multiply the both sides of $((L-k^2)v(r),v(r))_X = (f(r),v(r))_X$ by $(1+r)^{2-2\delta}$, integrate from R to T $(0 < R < T < \infty)$ and take the imaginary part. Then

$$(4.26) \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} (1+r)^{1-2\delta} (v',v)_{x} dr - (1+T)^{2-2\delta} \operatorname{Im} (v'(T),v(T))_{x}$$

$$(4.26) + (1+R)^{2-2\delta} \operatorname{Im} (v'(R),v(R))_{x} - 2k_{1}k_{2} \int_{R}^{T} (1+r)^{2-2\delta} |v|_{x}^{2} dr$$

$$= \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} (1+r)^{2-2\delta} (f,v)_{x} dr.$$

Since $v,v' \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, $\lim_{r \to \infty} (1+r)^{2-2\delta}(v'(r),v(r))_{X} = 0$ holds, and $\lim_{r \to \infty} \operatorname{Im}(v'(r),v(r)) = 0$ follows from (3.36). Therefore, letting $T \to \infty$ $n \to 0$ along a suitable sequence $\{T_n\}$ and $R \to 0$, we have

$$k_{2} \|v\|_{1-\delta}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{2|k_{1}|} \{(2-2\delta)\int_{I} (1+r)^{1-2\delta} |v'|_{x} |v|_{x} dr + \int_{I} (1+r)^{2-2\delta} |f|_{x} |v|_{x} dr \}$$

$$(4.27) \qquad \equiv \frac{1}{2|k_{1}|} \{(2-2\delta)J_{1} + J_{2}\}.$$

Let us estimate J_1 and J_2 .

(4.28)
$$\begin{cases} J_{1} \leq \|v'\|_{-\delta} \|v\|_{1-\delta} \leq \{\|v'-ikv\|_{-\delta} + \alpha \|v\|_{-\delta}\} \|v\|_{1-\delta} & (\alpha = \max |k|), \\ \\ J_{2} \leq \|f\|_{1-\delta} \|v\|_{1-\delta}, \end{cases}$$

where we used the Schwarz inequality. Set $b = \min |k_1|$. Then it follows $k \in K$ from (4.27) and (4.28) that

$$k_{2} \| v \|_{1-\delta} \leq \frac{1}{2b} (\| v' - ikv \|_{\delta} + a \| v \|_{\delta} + \| f \|_{1-\delta})$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2b} (\| v' - ikv \|_{\delta-1} + a \| v \|_{\delta} + \| f \|_{\delta}),$$

where it should be noted that $-\delta < \delta-1$ and $1-\delta < \delta$. (4.25) follows directly from (4.29). Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 4.2</u>. Let $v \in D(K)$ and $k \in C^+$. Let $\xi(r)$ be a real-valued C^2 function on I such that $0 \le \xi \le 1$, and

(4.30) $\xi(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & (r \leq R) \\ \\ 1 & (r \leq R+1) \end{cases}$

with R > 0.

$$\frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha-1} |v'-ikv|_{x}^{2} dr + (1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}) \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha-1} |B^{\frac{1}{2}}v|_{x}^{2} dr$$

$$\leq Re \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha} (f,v'-ikv)_{x} dr - Re \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha} (C_{1}v,v'-ikv)_{x} dr$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha} (C_{0}^{1}v,v)_{x} dr + \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha-1} (C_{0}v,v)_{x} dr$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha} (C_{0}v,v)_{x} dr$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{\alpha} (C_{0}v,v)_{x} dr$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{R}^{T} \xi'(1+r)^{\alpha} (|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v|_{x}^{2} + (C_{0}v,v)_{x}^{3} dr$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} (1+T)^{\alpha} (|v'(T)-ikv(T)|_{x}^{2} - (C_{0}(T)v(T),v(T))_{x}^{3},$$

where $f = (L-k^2)v$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $T \ge R+1$.

<u>PROOF</u>. The relation $(L-k^2)v = f$ can be rewritten as

$$(4.32) - (v'-ikv)' - ik(v'-ikv) + (B(r) + C_0(r) + C_1(r))v = f$$

whence follows that

(4.33)
$$-((v'-ikv),v'-ikv)_{x} - ik|v'-ikv|_{x}^{2} + ((B + C_{0} + C_{1})v,v'-ikv)_{x}$$
$$= (f,v'-ikv)_{x}.$$

Take the real part of (4.33) and note that $k_2 \ge 0$. Then we obtain

$$(4.34) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dr} [|v' - ikv|_{x}^{2}] + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dr} \{|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v|_{x}^{2}\} - \frac{1}{2} (\left\{\frac{dB(r)}{dr}\right\}v, v)_{x} + k_{2}(C_{0}v, v)_{x} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dr} \{(C_{0}v, v)_{x}\} - \frac{1}{2} (C_{0}^{1}v, v)_{x} + Re(C_{1}v, v' - ikv)_{x} \leq Re(f, v' - ikv)_{x}.$$

Multiplying both sides of (4.34) by $\xi(1+r)^{\alpha}$, integrating from R to T and making use of partial integration, we arrive at (4.31). Q.E.D.

<u>PROOF of (2.10) of LEMMA 2.5</u>. Let $v \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ be the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell[f]\}$ with $k \in K$ and $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Then $v \in D(I) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$ by Proposition 1.3 and we have $(L-k^2)v(r) = f(r)$ for almost all $r \in I$. Let $\alpha = 2\delta$ -1 and R = 1 in Lemma 4.2. Then, it follows from (4.31) that

$$(\delta - \frac{1}{2}) \|\xi^{\frac{1}{2}}(v' - ikv)\|_{\delta-1,(1,T)}^{2} + (\frac{3}{2} - \delta) \|\xi^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\delta-1(1,T)}^{2}$$

$$\leq \int_{1}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{2\delta-1} \|f\|_{x} \|v' - ikv\|_{x} dr + c_{0} \int_{1}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{-2\delta} \|v\|_{x} \|v' - ikv\|_{x} dr$$

$$(4.35) + \frac{c_{0}}{2} \int_{1}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{-2\delta} \|v\|_{x}^{2} dr + \frac{2\delta-1}{2} c_{0} \int_{1}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{-2\delta} \|v\|_{x}^{2} dr$$

$$+ c_{0}k_{2} \int_{1}^{T} \xi(1+r)^{1-2\delta} \|v\|_{x}^{2} dr + \frac{1}{2} \int_{1}^{2} \|\xi'\|(1+r)^{2\delta-1} \{\|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{x}^{2} + c_{0}\|v\|_{x}^{2} dr$$

+
$$\frac{1}{2}[(1+T)^{2\delta-1}|v'(T)-ikv(T)|_{x}^{2} + c_{0}(1+T)^{1-2\delta}|v(T)|_{x}^{2}],$$

where c_0 is the constant given in Assumption 2.1 and the following estimates have been used:

$$(4.36) \begin{cases} (1+r)^{2\delta-1} \|c_{1}(r)\| \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{2\delta-1-\epsilon_{1}} \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{-1} = c_{0}(1+r)^{-\delta+(\delta-1)}, \\ (1+r)^{2\delta-1} \|c_{0}'(r)\| \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{2\delta-2-\epsilon} \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{-2\delta}, \\ (1+r)^{2\delta-2} \|c_{0}(r)\| \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{2\delta-2-\epsilon} \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{-2\delta}, \\ (1+r)^{2\delta-1} \|c_{0}(r)\| \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{2\delta-1-\epsilon} \leq c_{0}(1+r)^{1-2\delta}. \end{cases}$$

By Lemma 4.1 and the Schwarz inequality, we have

the right-hand side of (4.36)

$$\leq \| f \|_{\delta} \| \xi^{\frac{1}{2}} (v' - ikv) \|_{\delta - 1} + c_0 \| v \|_{-\delta} \| \xi^{\frac{1}{2}} (v' - ikv) \|_{\delta - 1}$$

$$+ \delta c_0 \| v \|_{-\delta}^2 + c_0 C \| v \|_{-\delta} \{ \| v \|_{-\delta} + \| v' - ikv \|_{\delta - 1} + \| f \|_{\delta} \}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} (1 + c_0) c_{\xi} 3^{2\delta - 1} \| v \|_{B, (1, 2)}^2$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} (1 + T) \{ (1 + T)^{2\delta - 2} | v'(T) - ikv(T) |_{X}^2 + c_0 (1 + T)^{-2\delta} | v(T) |_{X}^2 \}$$

with $C_{\xi} = \max |\xi'(r)|$. Since $v' - ikv \in L_{2,\delta-1}(I,X)$ and $v \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$, r the last term of (4.37) vanishes as $T + \infty$ along a suitable sequence $\{T_n\}$, and hence we obtain from (4.35) and (4.37)

(2.10) follows from (4.38) and Proposition 1.2 (the interior estimate). Q.E.D.

PROOF of (2.11) of LEMMA 2.5. From (3.32) in Proposition 3.4, we have

(4.39)
$$|v(t)|_{x}^{2} \leq k_{1}^{-2} |v'(t) - ikv(t)|_{x}^{2} + 2|k_{1}|^{-1} ||f||_{\delta} ||v||_{-\delta}.$$

Multiply (4.39) by $(1 + t)^{-2\delta}$ and integrate from r to ∞ . Then, it follows that

4.40)

$$\|v\|_{-\delta,(\gamma,\infty)}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}} \int_{r}^{\infty} (1+t)^{-2\delta} |v'-ikv|_{X}^{2} dt + \frac{2}{|k_{1}|(2\delta-1)} (1+r)^{-(2\delta-1)} |\|f\|_{\delta} |\|v\|_{-\delta}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}} (1+r)^{-2(2\delta-1)} ||v'-ikv||_{\delta-1,(r,\infty)}^{2} + \frac{2}{|k_{1}|(2\delta-1)} (1+r)^{-(2\delta-1)} |\|f\|_{\delta} |\|v\|_{-\delta}.$$

(2.11) is obtained from (4.40) and (2.10). Q.E.D.

Now that all the lemmas in §2 and Theorem 2.3 have been proved completely, we can show more precise properties of the mapping

(4.41)
$$(t^+ \times L_2, (I,X) \ni (k,\ell) + v(\cdot,k,\ell[f]) \in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$$

by reexamining the proof of the lemmas in §2.

<u>LEMMA 4.3</u>. Let $\{f_n\}$ be a sequence in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ such that f_n converges weakly to $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ as $n \neq \infty$. Let $\{k_n\}$ be a sequence in \mathbb{C}^+ such that $k_n \neq k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ with $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ as $n \neq \infty$. Let v_n be the radiative function for $\{L,k_n,\ell[f_n]\}$. Then, there exists a subsequence $\{v_n\}$ of $\{v_n\}$ such that

(4.42)
$$v_{n_m} \neq v$$
 in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$

as $m \neq \infty$, where v denotes the radiative function for {L,k, l[f]}.

<u>PROOF</u>. Since $\{f_n\}$ is weakly convergent, $\{f_n\}$ is a bounded sequence in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Therefore, it follows from (2.7) in Theorem 2.3 that $\{v_n\}$ is a bounded sequence in $L_2(I,X)_{10c}$, that is, $\{\tilde{v}_n\}(\tilde{v}_n = U^{-1}v_n)$ is a bounded sequence in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{10c}$. Noting that \tilde{v}_n satisfies the equation

(4.43)
$$-\Delta \tilde{v}_n + Q \tilde{v}_n - k_n^2 \tilde{v}_n = \tilde{f}_n \quad (\tilde{f}_n = U^{-1} f_n),$$

we can see that $\{v_n\}$ is really a bounded sequence in $H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{10C}$. Then, by the repeated use of the Rellich Theorem, it can be shown that there exists a subsequence $\{\tilde{v}_n\}$ of $\{\tilde{v}_n\}$ which is a Cauchy sequence in $H_1(\mathbb{R}^N)_{10C}$. Therefore, $\{v_m\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$ with the limit $v \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$. Moreover, it follows from (2.8) in Theorem 2.3 that $\{v_n\}$ converges to v in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$, too. In quite a similar way to the one used in the proof of Lemma 2.6, we can easily show that v is the radiative function for $\{L,k,k[f]\}$. Q.E.D.

From the above lemma, we obtain

THEOREM 4.4. Let Assumption 2.1 be satisfied.

(i) Then the mapping

$$(4.44) \qquad \mathbf{C}^{+} \ni \mathbf{k} \neq \mathbf{v}(\cdot, \mathbf{k}, \boldsymbol{\ell}[\cdot]) \in \mathbf{L}_{2, -\delta}(\mathbf{I}, \mathbf{X})$$

is a $\mathbb{B}(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),L_{2,-\delta}(I,X))$ -valued continuous function on \mathbb{C}^+ , that is, if we set

(4.45) $v(\cdot,k,\ell[f]) = (L - k^2)^{-1}f \quad (f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)),$

then $(L - k^2)^{-1} \in \mathbb{B}(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),L_{2,-\delta}(I,X))$ and $(L - k^2)^{-1}$ is continuous in $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ in the sense of the operator norm of $\mathbb{B}(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),L_{2,-\delta}(I,X))$.

(ii) For each $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$, $(L - k^2)^{-1}$, defined above, is a compact operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$. <u>PROOF</u>. Suppose that the assertion (i) is false at a point $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$. Then, there exist a positive number $\beta > 0$ and sequences $\{f_n\} \subset L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ $\{k_n\} \subset \mathbb{C}^+$ such that

(4.46)
$$\begin{cases} \|f_n\|_{\delta} = 1 & (n = 1, 2, ...), \\ k_n + k & (n + \infty), \\ \|v(\cdot, k, \ell [f_n]) - v(\cdot, k_n, \ell [f_n])\| \ge \beta & (n = 1, 2, ...). \end{cases}$$

With no loss of generality, we may assume that f_n converges weakly in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ to f with $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Then, Lemma 4.3 can be applied to show that there exists a subsequence $\{n_m\}$ of positive integers such that

(4.47)
$$\begin{cases} v(\cdot,k_{n_m},\ell[f_{n_m}]) \neq v(\cdot,k,\ell[f]), \\ v(\cdot,k,\ell[f_{n_m}]) \neq v(\cdot,k,\ell[f]) \end{cases}$$

in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ as $m \to \infty$. Therefore, we obtain

(4.48)
$$\|v(\cdot,k,\ell[f_{n_m}]) - v(\cdot,k_{n_m},\ell[f_{n_m}])\|_{-\delta} \neq 0$$

as $m \neq \infty$, which contradicts the third relation of (4.46). Thus, the proof of (i) is complete. (ii) follows directly from Lemma 4.3. Q.E.D.

Finally, we shall prove a theorem which shows continuous dependence of the radiative function on the operator C(r). This will be useful in §6.

<u>THEOREM 4.5</u>. Let L_n , n = 1, 2, ..., be the operators of the form (4.49) $L_n = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C_n(r)$, $C_n(r) = C_{0n}(r) + C_{01}(r)$ $(r \in I)$

with $C_{jn}(r) = Q_{jn}(r\omega)x$ for j = 0,1. Here $Q_{0n}(y)$ and $Q_{1n}(y)$ are

assumed to be real-valued functions on \mathbb{R}^{N} which satisfy (\mathcal{Q}_{0}) and (\mathcal{Q}_{1}) of Assumption 2.1 with \mathcal{Q}_{0} and \mathcal{Q}_{1} replaced by \mathcal{Q}_{0n} and \mathcal{Q}_{1n} , respectively. The constants $\mathcal{E}_{1}\mathcal{E}_{1}$ and \mathcal{C}_{0} in (\mathcal{Q}_{0}) and (\mathcal{Q}_{1}) are assumed to be independent of $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ Further assume that

(4.50)
$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \mathcal{Q}_{jn}(y) = \mathcal{Q}_{j}(y) \quad (j = 0, 1, y \in \mathbb{R}^{N})$$

with $Q_0(y)$ and $Q_1(y)$ which satisfy Assumption 2.1. Let v_n , n = 1, 2, ...,be the radiative function for $\{L_n, k_n, \ell_n\}$ such that $k_n \in \mathbb{C}^+$, $\ell_n \in F_{\delta}(I, X)$ and

(4.51)
$$\begin{cases} k_n \neq k \text{ in } \mathbb{C}^n \\ \ell_n \neq \ell \text{ in } F_{\delta}(I,X) \end{cases}$$

as $n \to \infty$ with $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$. Then we have

(4.52)
$$v_n \neq v$$
 in $H_{0,-\beta}^{1,B}(I,X)$,

where v is the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell\}$. And there exists a constant C such that

(4,53)
$$\begin{cases} \|v_{n}\|_{B,-\delta} \leq C \|\|\varrho\|_{\delta}, \\ \|v_{n}'\|_{\delta-1} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{n}\|_{\delta-1} \leq C \|\varrho\|_{\delta}, \\ \|v_{n}\|_{B,-\delta}^{2}, (r,\infty) \leq C^{2}r^{-(2\delta-1)} \|\varrho\|_{\delta} \quad (r \ge 1) \end{cases}$$

for all n = 1, 2, ..., C = C(k) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in C^+ .

<u>PROOF</u>. Let g_n be the radiative function for $\{L_n, k_0, \ell_n\}$ and let w_n be the radiative function for $\{L_n, k_n \ell[(k_n^2 - k_0^2)g_n]\}$, where $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}^+$, Im $k_0 > 0$. We have $v_n = g_n + w_n$ by Lemma 2.8. Reexamining the proof of Lemmas 2.5 and 2.7, we can find a constant C, which is independent of

n = 1, 2, ..., such that

$$(4.54) \qquad \begin{cases} \|g_{n}'\|_{\delta} + \|B^{2}g_{n}\|_{\delta} + \|g_{n}\|_{\delta} \leq C \|\|e_{n}\|\|_{\delta}, \\ \|w_{n}' - ik_{n}w_{n}\|_{\delta-1} + \|B^{2}w_{n}\|_{\delta-1} \leq C(\|g_{n}\|_{\delta} + \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}), \\ \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}^{2}, (r, \infty) \leq C^{2}r^{-(2\delta-1)}(\|g_{n}\|_{\delta}^{2} + \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}^{2}) \quad (r \ge 1) \end{cases}$$

for all n = 1, 2, ... Thus, we obtain, for all n

(4.55)
$$\begin{cases} \|v'_{n} - ik_{n}v_{n}\|_{\delta-1} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{n}\|_{\delta-1} \leq C(\|\|u\|_{\delta} + \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}), \\ \\ \|v_{n}\|_{-\delta,(r,\infty)}^{2} \leq C^{2}r^{-(2\delta-1)}(\|\|u\|\|_{\delta}^{2} + \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}^{2}) \quad (r \geq 1) \end{cases}$$

with a constant C > 0. The estimate

$$(4.56) \qquad \|w_n\|_{-\delta} \leq C \|g_n\|_{\delta} \qquad (n = 1, 2, ...)$$

can be shown in quite a similar way to the one used in the proof of Theorem 2.3 and Lemma 2.6. In fact, if we assume to the contrary, then there is a subsequence $\{h_m\}$ of $\{w_n/\|w_n\|_{-\delta}\}$ which converges to the radiative function for $\{L,k,0\}$, where we have used the interior estimate (Proposition 1.3), (4.54) and (4.50). We have $\|h\|_{-\delta} = 1$. On the other hand, h = 0 by the uniqueness of the radiative function (Lemma 2.4), which is a contradiction. (4.53) follows from (4.54) and (4.56). Proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 2.6, we can show the convergence of $\{v_n\}$ to v in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10c}$, which, together with (4.53), implies that $\{v_n\}$ converges to v in $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$. Q.E.D.

Chapter II. Asymptotic Behavior of the Radiative Function

§5. Construction of a Stationary Modifier

Throughout this chapter, the potential Q(y) is assumed to satisfy the following conditions, which are stronger than in the previous chapter. ASSUMPTION 5.1.

- (Q) Q(y) can be decomposed as $Q(y) = Q_0(y) + Q_1(y)$ such that Q_0 and Q_1 are real-valued function on \mathbb{R}^N , N being an integer with N ≥ 3 .
- (\tilde{Q}_0) There exist constants $c_0 > 0$, $0 < \varepsilon \le 1$ such that $Q_0(y)$ is a $c_0^{m_0}$ function and

(5.1)
$$|D^{j}Q_{0}(y)| \leq c_{0}(1 + |y|)^{-j-\varepsilon} \quad (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j = 0, 1, 2, ..., m_{0})$$

where D^j denotes arbitrary derivatives of jth order and m_0 is the least integer satisfying

(5.2)
$$m_0 > \frac{2}{\epsilon} - 1$$
 and $m_0 \ge 3$.

Let m_1 be the least integer such that $m_1 \varepsilon > 1$. When $m_0 > m_1$, we assume that $(m_1 - 1)\varepsilon < 1$. Further $Q_0(y)$ is assumed to satisfy

(5.3)
$$Q_0(y) \equiv 0 \quad (|y| \leq 1).$$

- (\tilde{Q}_1) $\tilde{Q}_1(y)$ is a continuous function on \mathbb{R}^N and there exists a constant $\varepsilon_1 > \max(2 \varepsilon, 3/2)$ such that
- (5.4) $|Q_1(y)| \leq c_0(1 + |y|)^{-\epsilon_1} \quad (y \in \mathbb{R}^N)$

with the same constant c_0 as in (\tilde{Q}_0) .

<u>REMARK 5.2</u>. (1) Here and in the sequel, the constant δ in Definition 2.1 is assumed to satisfy the additional conditions

(5.5)
$$\begin{cases} \delta \leq \min(\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1 - 1) & \text{when } \frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1, \\\\ \delta \leq \min\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{4}(m_0 + 1), \frac{\varepsilon_1 - 1 + \varepsilon}{2}\right) & \text{when } 0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2}. \end{cases}$$

From the conditions (5.2) and (5.4), it is easy to see that (5.5) does not contradict the condition $\delta > \frac{1}{2}$.

(2) If $\varepsilon > \frac{1}{2}$, then $m_0 = 3$ and $m_1 = 2$.

(3) The condition $(m_1-1)\varepsilon < 1$ is trivial. In fact, when $\frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ is an integer, we can exchange ε for a little smaller and irrational ε' . The condition (5.3) is also trivial, because $Q_0(y)$ and $Q_1(y)$ can be replaced by $\phi(y)Q_0(y)$ and $(1-\phi(y))Q_0(y) + Q_1(y)$, where ϕ is a realvalued C^{∞} function on \mathbb{R}^N such that $\phi(y) = 0$ $(|y| \leq 1)$, $= 1(|y| \geq 2)$.

(4) A general short-range potential

(5.6)
$$Q_{1}(y) = O(|y|^{-1-\varepsilon_{0}}) \quad (\varepsilon_{0} > 0, |y| \neq \infty)$$

does not satisfy (5.4) in Assumption 5.1. In §12, we shall discuss the Schrödinger operator with a general short-range potential.

The following is the main result of this chapter.

<u>THEOREM 5.3</u>. (asymptotic behavior of the radiative function). Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Then, there exists a real-valued function Z(y) = Z(y,k) on $\mathbb{R}^{N} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\})$ such that $Z \in C^{3}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ as a function of y and there exists the limit

(5.7)
$$F(k,l) = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r \cdot k)}v(r)$$
 in X

for any radiative function v for {L,k,l} with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $l \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$, where $\mu(y,k)$ is defined by

(5.8)
$$\begin{cases} \mu(y,k) = rk - \lambda(y,k) \\ \lambda(y,k) = \int_{1}^{r} Z(t\omega,k) dt \end{cases}$$

with r = |y|, $\omega = y/|y|$ and

(5.9)
$$\beta = \begin{cases} \delta - \varepsilon & \text{if } 0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \text{if } \frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon < 1. \end{cases}$$

This theorem will be proved in §7 by making use of the next.

<u>THEOREM 5.4</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let v be the radiative function for {L,k,l} with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $l \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$, β being as in (5.9). Then we have u' - iku, $B^{\frac{1}{2}}u \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$, where $u = e^{i\lambda}v$ and λ is given by (5.8). Further, let K be a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then, there exists C = C(K) such that

(5.10)
$$\|\mathbf{u}' - \mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\mathbf{u}\|_{\beta} + \|\mathbf{B}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbf{u}\|_{\beta} \leq C \|\|\boldsymbol{\ell}\|\|_{1+\beta} \quad (\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}\lambda}\mathbf{v})$$

and

(5.11)
$$|v(r)|_{x} \leq C ||| \ell ||_{1+\beta} \quad (r \in T)$$

for any radiative function v for $\{L,k,\ell\}$ with $k \in K$ and $\ell \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$, where β is as in (5.9).

As was proved in Jäger [3], we may take $Z(y) \equiv 0$ when $Q_0(y) \equiv 0$. Saitō [3] (and Ikebe [2]) showed that we may take

(5.12)
$$Z(y) = \frac{1}{2k} Q_0(y)$$

in the case that $\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$. It will be shown that (5.12) is the "first approximation" of Z(y) in the general case. The function $\lambda(y,k)$ is

called a stationary modifier.

In the remainder of this section, we shall construct the kernel Z(y,k) of the stationary modifier $\lambda(y,k)$. To this end, let us consider the following problem: Find a real-valued function $\lambda(y,k)$ on $IR^N \times (IR - \{0\})$ such that

(5.13)
$$|(L-k^2)(e^{i\mu}x)|_x = O(r^{-\tilde{\epsilon}}) \quad (\tilde{\epsilon} > 1, r \to \infty)$$

for any $x \in D$, where μ is given by (5.8). If $Q_0(y) \equiv 0$, then $\lambda(y) \equiv 0$ is a solution of this problem. In order to solve this problem, we have to investigate some properties of the Laplace-Beltrami operator Λ_N on S^{N-1} . Let us introduce polar coordinates $(r, \theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_{N-1})$ as in (0.22), i.e.,

(5.14)
$$\begin{cases} y_1 = r\cos\theta_1, \\ y_j = r\sin\theta_1\sin\theta_2...\sin\theta_{j-1}\cos\theta_j & (j = 2, 3, ..., N-1), \\ y_N = r\sin\theta_1\sin\theta_2...\sin\theta_{N-2}\sin\theta_{N-1}, \end{cases}$$

where $r \ge 0$, $0 \le \theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_{N-2} \le \pi$, $0 \le \theta_{N-1} < 2\pi$. We set

(5.15)
$$\begin{cases} b_{1} = 1, \\ b_{j} = b_{j}(\theta) = \sin\theta_{1}\sin\theta_{2}\dots\sin\theta_{j-1} \quad (j = 2, 3, \dots, N-1), \\ M_{j} = M_{j}(\theta) = b_{j}(\theta)^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{j}} \quad (j = 1, 2, \dots, N-1). \end{cases}$$

Then we obtain from (0.23)

(5.16)
$$\Lambda_{N} x = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} (\sin \theta_{j})^{-N+j+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{j}} \left\{ (\sin \theta_{j})^{N-j-1} \frac{\partial x}{\partial \theta_{j}} \right\},$$

and hence, setting $A = -\Lambda_N + \frac{1}{4}(N-1)(N-3)$, we have

(5.17)
$$|A^{\frac{1}{2}}x|_{x}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} |M_{j}x|_{x}^{2} + |c_{N}x|_{x}^{2} (c_{N}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}(N-1)(N-3)),$$

where $x(\omega)$ is a sufficiently smooth function on S^{N-1} . It follows from (5.17) that the operator M_j can be naturally extended to the operator on $D^{\frac{1}{2}}$, i.e., for $x \in D^{\frac{1}{2}}$, we define $M_j \times by M_j \times s - \lim_{n \to \infty} M_j \times n$, where $\{x_n\}$ is a sequence such that $x_n \in C^1(S^{N-1})$, $x_n + x$ in X as $n + \infty$ and $A^{\frac{1}{2}} \times n + A^{\frac{1}{2}} \times n \times as n + \infty$. In the sequel M_j will be considered as the extended operator on $D^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Let $\lambda(y)$ be a C^2 function on IR^N and let us set

(5.18)
$$\begin{cases} \varphi = \varphi(y) = \varphi(y;\lambda) = r^{-2} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j=1}}^{N-1} (M_j \lambda)^2, \\ P = P(y) = P(y;\lambda) = r^{-2} (\Lambda_N \lambda) \\ M = \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j=1}}^{N-1} (M_j \lambda) M_j. \end{cases}$$

LEMMA 5.5. Let $x \in D$ and set $\lambda(y) = \int_{0}^{z} Z(t\omega) dt$ $(r = |y|, \omega = y/|y|)$ with $Z(y) \in C^{2}(\mathbb{IR}^{N})$. Then we have

$$(e^{\pm i\lambda}B(r) - B(r)e^{\pm i\lambda}) \times = e^{\pm i\lambda}(-\varphi \pm 2ir^{-2}M \pm iP) \times$$
(5.19)
$$= (\varphi \pm 2ir^{-2}M \pm iP)(e^{\pm i\lambda}x),$$

$$(L-k^{2}(e^{i\mu}x) = e^{i\mu}\{(B(r) + 2ir^{-2}M)x + (iP + iZ' + C_{1})x = (2kZ - C_{0} - Z^{2} - \varphi)x\},$$

where φ , P, M are given in (5.18), $Z' = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial r}$, and $\mu(y) = rk - \lambda(y)$ with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$.

PROOF . (5.19) and (5.20) can be shown by easy calculation if we note

(5.21)
$$\Lambda_{N}(e^{\pm i\lambda}x) = e^{\pm i\lambda}(\Lambda_{N}x \pm 2iMx \pm i(\Lambda_{N}\lambda)x).$$

Q.E.D.

In order to estimate the term P(y), we need <u>LEMMA 5.6</u>. Let $h(y) \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Then

(5.22)
$$(\mathsf{M}_{j}\mathsf{h})(\mathsf{y}) = \sum_{p=j}^{\mathsf{N}} b_{j}(\theta)^{-1} \mathsf{y}_{p,j} \frac{\partial \mathsf{h}}{\partial \mathsf{y}_{p}},$$

(5.23)
$$(\Lambda_{N}h)(y) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p,q=j}^{N} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2}y_{p,j}y_{q,j} \frac{\partial^{2}h}{\partial y_{p}\partial y_{q}}$$
$$- (N-1) \sum_{p=1}^{N} y_{p} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_{p}},$$

where $y_{p,j} = \frac{\partial y_p}{\partial \theta_j}$. Let $\lambda(y)$, Z(y) be as in Lemma 5.5 and let P(y) be as in (5.18). Then

(5.24)
$$\begin{cases} (M_{j}\lambda)(y) = \int_{0}^{r} \sum_{p=j}^{N} b_{j}(\theta)^{-1} \left[y_{p,j} \frac{\partial Z}{\partial y_{p}} \right]_{y=t\omega}^{dt}, \\ P(y) = \frac{1}{\gamma^{2}} \int_{0}^{r} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p,q=1}^{N} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} \left[y_{p,j}y_{q,j} \frac{\partial^{2} Z}{\partial y_{p} \partial y_{q}} \right]_{y=t\omega} \right. \\ \left. - (N-1) \sum_{p=1}^{N} \left[y_{p} \frac{\partial Z}{\partial y_{p}} \right]_{y=t\omega}^{dt}, \end{cases}$$

where r = |y|, $\omega = y/|y|$.

PROOF. Let us start with

(5.25)
$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial \theta_j} = \sum_{p=j}^{N} y_{p,j} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_p},$$

where it should be noted that $y_{p,j} = 0$ for p < j. (5.22) directly follows from (5.25). It follows from (5.25) that

(5.26)
$$\frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial \theta_j^2} = -\sum_{p=j}^N y_p \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_p} + \sum_{p,q=j}^N y_{p,j} y_{q,j} \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial y_p \partial y_q}.$$

59

Here we have used the relation

(5.27)
$$\frac{\partial y_{p,j}}{\partial \theta_j} = \frac{\partial^2 y_p}{\partial \theta_j^2} = -y_p \quad (j \le p \le N, \ 1 \le j \le N - 1).$$

Thus we obtain

$$(\Lambda_{N}h)(y) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} \frac{\partial^{2}h}{\partial\theta_{j}^{2}} + (N - j - 1) \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} \frac{\partial h}{\partial\theta_{j}}$$

$$(5.28) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p,q=j}^{N} b_{j}^{-2} y_{p,j} y_{q,j} \frac{\partial^{2}h}{\partial y_{p} \partial y_{q}} - \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p=j}^{N} b_{j}^{-2} y_{p} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_{p}}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p=j}^{N} b_{j}^{-2} (N - j - 1) \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} y_{p,j} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_{p}},$$

and, hence, we have only to show

(5.29)
$$N-1 \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p=j}^{N} b_j(\theta)^{-2} \left\{ (N - j - 1) \frac{\cos \theta_j}{\sin \theta_j} y_{p,j} - y_p \right\} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_p}$$
$$= - (N - 1) \sum_{p=1}^{N} y_p \frac{\partial h}{\partial y_p}.$$

The order of summation in the left-hand side of (5.29) can be changed as

(5.30)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{p=j}^{N-1} \sum_{p=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \sum_{j=1$$

Therefore, it is sufficient to show

(5.31)
$$\begin{cases} J_{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{p} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} \left\{ (N-j-1) \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} y_{p,j} - y_{p} \right\} = -(N-1)y_{p} \\ (p = 1, 2, \dots, N-1) \\ J_{N} = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} \left\{ (N-j-1) \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} y_{p,j} - y_{N} \right\} = -(N-1)y_{N}. \end{cases}$$

To this end, let us note that

(5.32)
$$\frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} y_{p,j} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{\sin^{2} \theta_{j}} - 1\right) y_{p} & (j$$

whence follows that

$$J_{p} = \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} \left\{ (N-j-1) \left\{ \frac{1}{\sin^{2} \theta_{j}} - 1 \right\} - 1 \right\} y_{p} - b_{p}(\theta)^{-2} (N-p) y_{p}$$

$$= \left[\sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \left\{ b_{j+1}(\theta)^{-2} (N-j-1) - b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} (N-j) \right\} - b_{p}(\theta)^{-2} (N-p) \right] y_{p}$$

$$= - (N-1) y_{p} \quad (1 \le p \le N-1).$$

The relation $J_N = -(N - 1)y_N$ can be proved in a quite similar way, which completes the proof of (5.23). (5.24) follows from (5.22) and (5.23). Q.E.D.

Let $\lambda(y)$ be as in Lemma 5.5 and let Z(y) satisfy the estimate

(5.34)
$$\begin{cases} D^{j}Z(y) = O(|y|^{-j-\varepsilon}) & (|y| + \infty, j = 0, 1, 2), \\ \\ 2kZ(y) - Q_{0}(y) - Z(y)^{2} - \varphi(y) = O(|y|^{-\widetilde{\varepsilon}}) & (1 < \widetilde{\varepsilon} \le 1+\varepsilon) \\ \\ |y| + \infty). \end{cases}$$

Then the estimates $(M_{j}\lambda)(y), (\Lambda_{N}\lambda)(y) = O(|y|^{1-\varepsilon})$ $(|y| + \infty)$ are obtained from (5.24), where we should note that $|b_{j}(\theta)^{-1}y_{p,j}| \leq |y|$ for $j \leq p$. Therefore, it can be seen from (5.20) in Lemma 5.5, that $|(L-k^{2})(e^{i\mu}x)|_{x} = O(r^{-\widetilde{\varepsilon}})$ holds good under the condition (5.34). In order to obtain $\lambda(y)$, which satisfies (5.34), let us consider three sequences $\{\Phi_{n}(y,k)\}, \{\Psi_{n}(\omega,k)\}, \{\lambda_{n}(y,k)\}\ (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, \ \omega \in S^{N-1}, \ k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\})$ defined by

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi_{1}(y) &= \frac{1}{2k} Q_{0}(y), \\ \Psi_{1}(y) &= 0 \\ \lambda_{1}(y) &= \frac{1}{2k} \int_{0}^{r} Q_{0}(t\omega) dt \quad (r = |y|, \ \omega = y/|y|), \\ \Phi_{n+1}(y) &= \frac{1}{2k} \{ Q_{0}(y) + (\Phi_{n}(y))^{2} + \varphi(y;\lambda_{n}(y)) \} \quad (n = 1, 2, ..., n) \\ & (n = 1, 2, ..., m_{0} - 1), \end{aligned}$$

61

(5.35)

$$\begin{cases} \Psi_{n}(\omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & (m = 2, 3, ..., m_{1} - 1), \\ -\int_{0}^{\infty} (\omega) - \Phi_{n-1}(t\omega) dt + \psi_{n-1}(w) & (n = m_{1}, m_{1} + 1..., m_{0}), \\ \lambda_{n}(y) = \int_{0}^{r} \Phi_{n}(t\omega) dt + \xi(r) \Psi_{n}(\omega) \\ & (r = |y|, \quad \omega = y/|y|, \quad n = 2, 3, ..., m_{0}), \end{cases}$$

where
$$\xi()$$
 is a real-valued C^{∞} -function on \overline{T} such that
(5.36) $0 \leq \xi(r) \leq 1$, $\xi'(r) \geq 0$, and $\xi(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & (r \leq 1), \\ 1 & (r \geq 2), \end{cases}$

and m_0, m_1 are as in Assumption 5.1. If $m_0 \leq m_1$, then we set $\Psi_n(\omega) = 0$ for all $n = 1, 2, ..., m_0-1$. In the following lemma, it can be seen that these sequences are well defined by (5.35).

 $\underline{\text{LEMMA 5.7.}} (i) \quad \Phi_n(y,-k) = -\Phi_n(y,k), \quad \Psi_n(\omega,-k) = -\Psi_n(\omega,k) \quad \text{for any} \\ \text{pair } (y,k) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \quad \text{and any } n = 1,2,\ldots,m_0. \quad \text{Further,} \\ \Phi_n(y,k) = 0 \quad \text{for } |y| \leq 1 \quad \text{and } n = 1,2,\ldots,m_0. \\ (ii) \quad \Phi_n(y) \in C \quad (\mathbb{R}^N) \quad \text{and } \Psi_n(\omega) \in C \quad (S^{n-1}) \quad \text{for} \\ \end{array}$

n = 1,2,...,m₀.

(iii) There exists a constant C > O such that

(5.37) $|D^{j}\Phi_{n}(y)| \leq C(1 + |y|)^{-j-\varepsilon}$

(5.38)
$$|D^{j}\{\Phi_{n}(y) - \Phi_{n-1}(y)\}| \leq C(1 + |y|)^{-j-n\epsilon}$$

hold for any $y \in \mathbb{R}^N$, $n = 1, 2, ..., m_0$ and $j = 0, 1, 2, ..., m_0+1-n$, where D^j denotes an arbitrary derivative of the j^{th} order.

(iv) As functions of k, Φ_n and Ψ_n are C (\mathbb{R}^N)-valued continuous functions on $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. The constant C in the right-hand side of (5.37) and (5.38) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i), (ii) and (5.37), (5,38) can be shown by induction. Here it should be noted that $Q_0(y) = 0$ for $|y| \le 1$ and

(5.39)
$$(M_{j}h)(y) = O(|y|^{1-\tau}) \text{ if } Dh(y) = O(|y|^{-\tau})$$

 $(\tau > 0, |y| + \infty),$

which follows from (5.22). If $m_0 \leq m_1$, then $\Psi_n(\omega) \equiv 0$ for all $n = 1, 2, ..., m_0$ -1 and we may simply set $\lambda_n(y) = \int_0^r \Phi_n(t\omega) dt$. In the case that $m_1 < m_0$, any logarithmic term does not appear in the estimation because $(m_1-1)\varepsilon < 1$. (iv) is clear from the definitions of Φ_n and Ψ_n . Q.E.D.

DEFINITION 5.8. We set

(5.40)
$$\begin{cases} Z(y) = Z(y,k) = \Phi_{m_0-2}(y) + \xi'(r)\Psi_{m_0-2}(\omega), \\ \lambda(y) = \lambda(y,k) = \lambda_{m_0-2}(y) = \int_0^r Z(t\omega)dt, \\ Y(y) = Y(y,k) = 2kZ(y) = Q_0(y) = Z(y)^2 - \varphi(y;\lambda) \end{cases}$$

with r = |y|, $\omega = y/|y|$.

<u>REMARK 5.9</u>. (1) From Lemma 5.7, it can be easily seen that $Z(y) \in C^{3}(\mathbb{IR}^{N}), Z(y,-k) = -Z(y,k), Z(y) = 0$ for $|y| \leq 1$ and

and

(5.41)
$$\begin{cases} |(D^{j}Z)(y)| \leq C(1 + |y|)^{-j-\varepsilon} & (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j = 0, 1, 2, 3) \\ \\ |(D^{j}Y)(y)| \leq C(1 = |y|)^{-j-(m_{0}-1)\varepsilon} & (y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j = 0, 1). \end{cases}$$

Further, taking account of (5.5), we have

(5.42)
$$|(D^{j}Y)(y)| \leq C(1 + |y|)^{-j-2\beta-2\delta}$$
 $(y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j = 0, 1),$

where β is given by (5.9).

(2) As a function of k, Z is a $C^{3}(\mathbb{IR}^{N})$ -valued continuous function on $\mathbb{IR} = \{0\}$. The constant C in (5.41) and (5.42) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{IR} - \{0\}$.

(3) Let us consider the case that $\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$. Then, $m_0 = 3$ and

(5.43)
$$Z(y,k) = Z_1(y,k) = \frac{1}{2k} Q_0(y).$$

This case was treated in Saito [3] and Ikebe [2] (cf. (12) of Concluding Remarks).

§6. An estimate for the radiative function

Let Z(y) and $\lambda(y)$ be as in §5. Now we are in a position to prove the first half of Theorem 5.4.

Let us set for a function G(y) on \mathbb{R}^N

(6.1)
$$\rho_{\alpha}(G) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{IR}^{N}} (1 + |y|)^{\alpha} |G(y)|.$$

The following proposition is an important step to the proof of (5.10) in Theorem 5.4.

<u>PROPOSITION 6.1</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Further assume that $Q_0(y)$ has compact support in IR^N . Let K be a compact set in **IR** - {0}. Let β be as in (5.9) Then there exists C = C(K,Q) such that

(6.2)
$$\|u' - iku\|_{\beta} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}u\|_{\beta} \leq C \{\|f\|_{1+\beta} + \|v\|_{-\delta}\}$$

holds for any radiative function v for {L,k,l[f]} with $k \in K$ and $f \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$, where $u = e^{i\lambda}v$ and $\lambda(y)$ is given in (5.40). The constant C = C(K,Q) is bounded when $\rho_{\varepsilon_1}(Q_1), \rho_{j+\varepsilon}(D^jQ_0)$, $j = 0,1,2,\ldots,m_0$, are bounded. Here m_0 is given by (5.1), D^j means an arbitrary derivative of j^{th} order and $\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1$ are given in Assumption 5.1.

In order to show this proposition, we need several lemmas.

LEMMA 6.2. Let $v \in D(I) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ be a solution of the equation $(L-k^2)v = f$ with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $f \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$. Set $u = e^{i\lambda}v$ with $\lambda(y)$ defined by (5.40).

(i) Then we have

(6.3) -(u'-iku)' - ik(u'-iku) + Bu
=
$$e^{i\lambda}f - 2iZ(u'-iku) + (Y-C_1-iZ'-iP)u - 2ir^{-2}Mu$$
,

where Y is as in (5.40) and P,M are given by (5.18).

(ii) Let $V(y) = \sum_{j=1}^{P} g_j G_j$ with C^1 functions g_j on $\mathbb{R}^N - \{0\}$ and operators G_j in X such that $G_j u \in C_{ac}(I,X)$ with $(G_j u)' = G_j u'$ in $L_2(I,X)_{loc}$. Then

$$\int_{R}^{T} (Vu, u' - iku)_{x} dr = \frac{1}{2ik} \{ [(Vu, u' - iku)_{x}]_{R}^{T} - \int_{R}^{T} (V\{u' - iku\}, u' - iku)_{x} dr \\ - \int_{R}^{T} (V'u, u' - iku)_{x} dr + 2i \int_{R}^{T} (ZVu, u' - iku)_{x} dr \\ + \int_{R}^{T} (Vu, \{Y - C_{1} - iZ' - iP\}u + e^{i\lambda}f)_{x} dr \\ - \int_{R}^{T} (Vu, Bu)_{x} dr + 2i \int_{R}^{T} (Vu, r^{-2}Mu)_{x} dr \} \\ (0 < R < T)$$

with $V' = \sum_{j=1}^{P} \frac{\partial g_j}{\partial r} G_j$.

<u>PROOF.</u> (i) is obtained by an easy computation if we take note of Lemma 5.5 and the relation $(L-k^2)v = f$. Take the complex conjugate of both sides of (6.3), multiply it by Vu and integrate on $S^{N-1} \times (R,T)$. Then, by the use of partial integration, we arrive at (6.4). Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 6.3</u>. Let $x, x' \in D$ and let S(y) be a C^{1} -function on \mathbb{IR}^{N} . Then

(6.5)
$$(SMx, x')_{x} + (Sx, Mx')_{x} = -r^{2}(SPx, x') - ((MS)x, x')_{x}$$

PROOF . By partial integration, we have

$$(Sx, (M_{j\lambda})M_{j}x')_{x} = \int_{S^{N-1}} S(r\omega)x(\omega)(M_{j\lambda})(r\omega)b_{j}(\theta)^{-1} \frac{\partial \overline{x'}}{\partial \theta_{j}} d\omega$$

$$(6.6) \qquad (d\omega = (\sin \theta_{j})^{N-2}...(\sin \theta_{j})^{N-j-1}...\sin \theta_{N-2})$$

$$= - \int_{S^{N-1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{j}} \{S(r\omega) \times (\omega) (M_{j}\lambda) (r\omega) (\sin \theta_{j})^{N-j-1} \} b_{j}(\theta)^{-1} \overline{x} \cdot (\omega)$$
$$\cdot \frac{d\omega}{(\sin \theta_{j})^{N-j-1}}$$
$$= - \int_{S^{N-1}} \{(M_{j}\lambda) M_{j}(Sx) + Sx b_{j}(\theta)^{-2} (\sin \theta_{j})^{-N-j-1} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{j}} ((\sin \theta_{j})^{N-j-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{j}}) \overline{x} \cdot \} d\omega$$

whence we obtain

(6.7)

$$(S, Mx')_{x} = -(M(Sx) + Sx(\Lambda_{N}\lambda), x')_{x}$$

$$= -(SMx, x')_{x} - ((MS)x, x')_{x} = r^{2}(SP_{X}, x')_{x}.$$

This is what we wanted to show. Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 6.4</u>. Let $Q_0(y)$ be as in Proposition 6.1. Let v be the radiative function for {L,k,l[f]} with $k \in IR - \{0\}$ and $f \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$, where β is as in (5.9), i.e., $\beta = \delta - \varepsilon$ ($0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2}$), = 0 ($\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$). Then we have v'-ikv, $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$

<u>PROOF</u>. Let $k_n = k + \frac{i}{n}$ (n = 1,2,3,...) and let v_n be the radiative function for {L,k,l[f]}. From Lemma 2.7, it follows that $v'_n - ikv_n, B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_n \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$. Multiply both sides of

 $-((v'_{n}-ikv_{n})',v'_{n}-ik_{n}v_{n})_{x} - ik_{n}|v'_{n}-ik_{n}v_{n}|_{x}^{2} + (Bv_{n},v'_{n}-ik_{n}v_{n})_{x}$ (6.8)

+
$$(Cv_n, v'_n - ik_n v_n)_x = (f, v'_n - ikv_n)_x$$

by $\xi(r)(1 + r)^{2\beta+1}$, $\xi(r)$ being given by (5.36), take the real part and integrate from 0 to T. Then, proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 2.5 and using (5.5), we arrive at
$$(\beta + \frac{1}{2}) \int_{0}^{T} \xi r^{2\beta} |v_{n}' - ik_{n}v_{n}|_{x}^{2} dr + (\frac{1}{2} - \beta) \int_{0}^{T} \xi r^{2\beta} |B^{l_{2}}v_{n}|_{x}^{2} dr$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} (1+T)^{2\beta+1} |v_{n}'(T) - ik_{n}v_{n}(T)|_{x}^{2}$$

$$(6.9) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \xi'(1+r)^{2\beta+1} \{|B^{l_{2}}v_{n}|_{x}^{2} - |v_{n}' - ik_{n}v_{n}|_{x}^{2}\} dr$$

$$+ c \int_{0}^{T} \xi (1+r)^{-\delta+\beta} |v_{n}' - ik_{n}v_{n}|_{x} |v_{n}|_{x} dr$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \xi (1+r)^{2\beta+1} |f|_{x} |v_{n}' - ik_{n}v_{n}|_{x} dr,$$

whence, by the use of Proposition 1.2 (the interior estimate) and Theorem 2.3 (the limiting absorption principle), it follows that

(6.10)
$$\|v'_{n} - ik_{n}v_{n}\|_{\beta} + \|B^{2}v_{n}\|_{\beta} \leq C\|f\|_{1+\beta}$$
 (n = 1,2,...)

with a constant C which is independent of n = 1, 2, ... Let $n \rightarrow \infty$ in the estimate

(6.11)
$$\|v'_n^{\dagger} - ikv_n\|_{\beta}, (0, R) + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}} v_n\|_{\beta}, (0, R) \leq C \|f\|_{1+\beta}.$$

Then it follows from Theorem 2.3 that

(6.12)
$$\|v'-ikv\|_{\beta,(0,R)} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\beta,(0,R)} \leq C\|f\|_{1+\beta}$$

holds for any arbitrary R > 0, which implies that $v'-ikv, B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$. Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 6.5</u>. Let Q(y) be as in Proposition 6.1 and let K be a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Let v be the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell[f]\}$ with $k \in K$ and $f \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$, β being as in (5.9). Let $\alpha(r) = \alpha_R(r) = \xi(r-R+1)$, where $\xi(r)$ is given by (5.36). Then we have for $T \ge R+1 > R \ge 1$

$$\int_{R}^{T} \sigma r^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr \leq n(T) + C_{R} \int_{R}^{R+1} (|u|_{x}^{2} + |u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr$$

$$+ C_{1} \left\{ \int_{R}^{T} \sigma r^{2\beta-\varepsilon} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr + \|f\|_{1+\beta}^{2} + \|v\|_{-\delta}^{2} \right\}$$

$$+ C_{2} \left[\int_{R}^{m_{1}-1} e^{-n-1} e^{T} \int_{R}^{2\beta-1} (Z^{n}Mu, Bu)_{x} dr \right],$$

where $u = e^{1\lambda}v$, $\eta(T)$ is a function of T satisfying $\lim_{T\to\infty} \eta(T) = 0$, m_1 is as in Assumption 5.1, C_R is a constant depending only on R and K, and $C_p = C_p(K,Q)$, p = 1,2, are bounded when $\rho_{\epsilon_1}(Q_1), \rho_{j+\epsilon}(D^jQ_0)$, $j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, m_0$, are bounded.

<u>PROOF</u>. Multiply both sides of (6.3) by $\alpha r^{2\beta+1}(\overline{u'-iku})$, integrate over the region $S^{N-1} \times (R,T)$ and take the real part. Then we have

$$K = \operatorname{Re} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1} \{-((u'-iku)', u'-iku)_{x} + (Bu, u'-iku)_{x}\} dr$$

$$(6.14) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1} \{(e^{i\lambda}f, u'-iku)_{x} + ((Y - C_{1})u, u'-iku)_{x}\} dr$$

$$+ \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1} ((Z' + P)u, u'-iku)_{x} dr$$

$$+ 2\operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta-1} (Mu, u'-iku)_{x} dr = K_{1} + K_{2} + K_{3}.$$

The left-hand side K of (6.14) is estimated from below as follows:

$$K \ge (\beta + \frac{1}{2}) \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta} |u' - iku|_{X}^{2} dr + (\frac{1}{2} - \beta) \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta} |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{X}^{2} dr$$

$$(6.15) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{R}^{R+1} \alpha' r^{2\beta+1} \{|u' - iku|_{X}^{2} - |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{X}^{2}\} dr - \frac{1}{2} T^{2\beta+1} |u'(T) - iku(T)|_{X}^{2}$$

K1 can be estimated as

(6.16)
$$K_{1} \leq C\{\|f\|_{1+\beta} \left[\int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta} |u'-iku|_{x}^{2} dr\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + \|f\|_{1+\beta}^{2} + (R+1)^{1-2\delta} \int_{R}^{R+1} |u|_{x}^{2} dr + \|v\|_{-\delta}^{2}$$

+
$$T^{1-2\delta|u(T)|_{x}^{2}}$$
,

where we integrated by parts and used (5.42) in estimating the term Re $\int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1} (Yu, u'-iku)_{x} dr$. Here and in the sequel, the constant depending only on K and Q(y) will be denoted the same symbol C. It follows from (6.14) - (6.16) that

$$c_1 \int_{R}^{1} \alpha r^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_{X}^{2} + |B^{1/2}u|_{X}^{2}) dr$$

(6.17)
$$\leq C\{T^{2\delta+1}|u'-iku|_{X}^{2} + T^{1-2\delta}|u(T)|_{X}^{2} + (1+R)^{2\beta+1} \int_{R}^{R+1} \alpha' |B^{\frac{1}{2}u}|_{X}^{2} dr$$

+
$$\|v\|_{-\delta}^{2}$$
 + $\int_{R}^{R+1} \alpha' |u|_{\chi}^{2} dr$ + $\|f\|_{1+\beta}^{2}$ + K_{2} + K_{3} ($c_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1}{2}-\beta)$).

In order to estimate K_2 and K_3 in (6.17), we have to make use of Lemma 6.3 (ii). Set $V = \alpha r^{2\beta+1}(Z' + P)$ in (6.4). Then

$$K_2 \leq -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}\{T^{2\beta+1}((Z'(T)+P(T))u(T),u'(T)-iku(T))_x\} + F(T) + G(R)$$

(6.18)
$$+ \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1} (Z(Z'+P)u,u'-iku)_{X} dr$$
$$+ \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta-1} ((Z'+P)u,Mu)_{X} dr,$$

where F(T) and G(R) are the terms of the form

(6.19)
$$\begin{cases} F(T) = C\{\|f\|_{1+\beta}^{2} + \int_{R}^{t} \alpha r^{2\beta-\varepsilon}(|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2})dr + \|v\|_{-\delta}^{2}\},\\ G(R) = C_{R} \int_{R}^{R+1} (|u|_{x}^{2} + |u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2})dr\}, \end{cases}$$

 C_R being a constant depending only on R and K. Here, (5.17) is necessary to estimate the term $((Z' + P)u,Bu)_X$. Let us next set $V = \alpha r^{2\beta-1}M$ in (6.4). Then it follows that

$$K_{3} \leq -\frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Re} \{T^{2\beta-1}(Mu(T),u'(T)-iku(T))_{x}\} + F(T) + G(R) + \frac{2}{k} \operatorname{Im} \int_{\alpha}^{T} r^{2\beta-1}(ZMu,u'-iku)_{x} dr + \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im} \int_{\alpha}^{T} r^{2\beta-1}(Mu,(Z'+P)u)_{x} dr + \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} r^{2\beta-1}(Mu,Bu)_{x} dr$$

Here we used the relation $\operatorname{Re}(M(u'-iku), u'-iku)_{X} = -(r^{2}/2)(P(u'-iku), u'-iku)_{X}$ which follows from (6.5) with X = X' = u'-iku and S(y) = 1. Lemma 6.3 was also used in order to estimate the term $\operatorname{Re}(Mu, Yu)_{X}$. Thus, we obtain from (6.17), (6.18) and (6.20)

(6.21)

$$\int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr \leq \eta_{1}(T) + F(T) + G(R) \\
+ C\{\frac{1}{k} Im \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta+1}(Z(Z'+P)u,u'-iku)_{x} dr \\
+ \frac{2}{k} Im \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta-1}(ZMu,u'-iku)_{x} dr + \frac{1}{k} Re \int_{R}^{T} \alpha r^{2\beta-1}(Mu,Bu)_{x} dr\} \\
= \eta_{1}(T) + F(T) + G(R) + C\{J_{2} + J_{3} + J_{4}\},$$

where we have used the fact that $Im\{((Z'+P)u,Mu)_{X} + (Mu,(Z'+P)u)_{X}\} = 0$, and

(6.22)
$$n_{1}(T) = C\{T^{2\beta+1}|u'(T)-iku(T)|_{x}^{2} + T^{1-2\delta}|u(T)|_{x}^{2} + T^{2\beta+1}|B^{\frac{1}{2}}u(T)|_{x}^{2}\}.$$

Since v'-iku, $B^{\frac{1}{2}}v \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$ by Lemma 6.4 and the support of Z(y) is compact in \mathbb{R}^{N} by the compactness of $Q_{0}(y)$, it can be easily seen that $u'-iku, B^{\frac{1}{2}}u \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$, which implies that $\lim_{\overline{T\to\infty}} n(T) = 0$. J_{2} and J_{3} in (6.21) can be estimated in quite the same way as in the estimation of K_{2} and K_{3} respectively. By repeating these estimations, we arrive at

(6.23)
$$\int_{\alpha}^{T} ar^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr$$

 \leq n(T) + F(T) + G(R)

+
$$C \left\{ \sum_{n=0}^{m_1-1} k^{-n-1} \operatorname{Re} \int_{R}^{T} 2\beta^{-1} (Z^n Mu, Bu)_x dr \right\}$$

+ $k^{-m_1} \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} 2\beta^{+1} (Z^{-1} (Z'+P)u, u'-iku)_x dr$
+ $2k^{-m_1} \operatorname{Im} \int_{R}^{T} 2\beta^{-1} (Z^{-1} Mu, u'-iku)_x dr \right\}$,

where n(T) is the term satisfying $\lim_{T\to\infty} n(T) = 0$. By noting that $Z(y)^{m_1} = O(|y|^{-1})$, (6.13) is obtained from (6.23). Q.E.D.

We have only to estimate the terms $\operatorname{Re}(Z^{n}Mu,Bu)_{\chi}$ in order to show Proposition 6.1 completely.

LEMMA 6.6. Let S(y) be a real-valued C^1 function such that

(6.24)
$$\begin{cases} |S(y)| \leq c \quad (y \in \mathbb{R}^N), \\ |DS(y)| \leq cr^{-1} \quad (|y| \geq 1) \end{cases}$$

with a constant c > 0, where $D = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_j}$ (j = 1,2,...,N). Then the estimate

(6.25)
$$|\operatorname{Re}(SMX,AX)_{X}| \leq \operatorname{Cr}^{1-\varepsilon}(|A^{*_{2}}X|_{X}^{2} + |x|_{X}^{2}) \quad (r \geq 1, k \in K, x \in D)$$

holds with $C = C(c, K, Q_0)$ which is bounded when c and $\rho_{j+\epsilon}(Q_0)$, $j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, m_0$, are bounded. K is a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $A = -\Lambda_N + \frac{1}{4}(N - 1)(N - 3)$.

PROOF. We shall divide the proof into several steps.

(I) By the use of (5.17) $J = Re(SMX,AX)_X$ can be rewritten as

$$J = Re(SMx, Ax)_{x} = Re\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} (M_{n}(SMx), M_{n}x)_{x}\right\}$$

(6.26)

 $+c_{N}^{2} \operatorname{Re(SMx,x)}_{x} = J_{1} + J_{2}.$

Throughout this proof we shall call a term K an O.K. term when K is dominated by $Cr^{1-\varepsilon}(|A^{\frac{1}{2}}x|_{x}^{2} + |x|_{x}^{2})$ for $r \ge 1$ with C = C(c,K,Q). Since $|Mx|_{x} \le Cr^{1-\varepsilon}|A^{\frac{1}{2}}x|_{x}$, we can easily show that J_{2} is an O.K. term. Thus, we have only to consider the term J_{1} .

j p-j p psq u

(II) Let us calculate J₁.

$$J_{1} = \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} N-1 \\ \sum_{n=1}^{n} ((M_{n}S)Mx, M_{n}x)_{x} \\ N-1 \\ \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} (S_{j=1}^{n}(M_{n}M_{j}\lambda)(M_{j}x), M_{n}x)_{x} \\ + \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} N-1 \\ \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} (S_{j=1}^{n}(M_{j}\lambda)(M_{n}M_{j}x), M_{n}x)_{x} \\ + \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} N-1 \\ \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} (S_{j=1}^{n}(M_{j}\lambda)(M_{n}M_{j}x), M_{n}x)_{x} \\ \end{array} \right\} = J_{11} + J_{12} + J_{13}. \end{array} \right\}$$

By noting that $M_nS(y)$ is bounded on $\{y \in \mathbb{R}^N/|y| \ge 1\}$, J_{11} is seen to be an O.K. term. Before calculating J_{13} , we mention

(6.28)
$$M_{n}M_{j} - M_{j}M_{n} = \begin{cases} b_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} M_{n} & (n > j), \\ 0 & (n = j), \\ -b_{n}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{n}}{\sin \theta_{n}} M_{j} & (n < j), \end{cases}$$

which is obtained directly from the definition of M_j (see (5.15)). Using (6.28), we have

$$J_{13} = \operatorname{Re}\left[\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \left\{ (S\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} (M_{j}\lambda)b_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} (M_{n}x), M_{n}x)_{x} - (S\sum_{j=n+1}^{N-1} (M_{j}\lambda)b_{n}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{n}}{\sin \theta_{n}} (M_{j}x), M_{n}x)_{x} \right\} \right] + \operatorname{Re}\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} (SM(M_{n}x), M_{n}x)_{x} \right\} = J_{131} + J_{132}.$$

Here, J_{132} is an O.K. term, because, making use of (6.5) with $x = x' = M_{n}x$, we have

(6.30)
$$J_{132} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \{r^2(SP(M_n x), (M_n x))_x + ((MS)M_n x, M_n x)_x\}.$$

Therefore, let us consider $J_{12} + J_{131}$.

(III) Set

$$(6.31) \begin{cases} Z_{p}(r\omega) = \int_{0}^{r} \left[\frac{\partial Z}{\partial y_{p}} \right]_{y=t\omega}^{tdt} & (p = 1, 2, ..., N), \\ \\ Z_{jn}(r\omega) = (b_{j}b_{n})^{-1} \sum_{\substack{p=j \ q=n}}^{N} \int_{0}^{r} \left[\frac{\partial^{2}Z}{\partial y_{p}\partial y_{q}} y_{p,j} y_{q,n} \right]_{y=t\omega}^{dt} \\ \\ (j,n = 1, 2, ..., N-1), \end{cases}$$

where $y_{p,j} = \frac{\partial y_p}{\partial \theta_j}$. Then, setting $\cos \theta_N \equiv 1$ and starting with (5.24), we obtain

(6.32)
$$M_{j}\lambda = b_{j}^{-1}\{-b_{j+1}Z_{j} + \sum_{p=j+1}^{N} b_{p}Z_{p} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} \cos \theta_{p}\},$$

and

(6.33)
$$M_{n}M_{j}\lambda = \begin{cases} Z_{jn} & (j > n), \\ Z_{nn} - b_{n}^{-2} \sum_{p=n}^{N} Z_{p}b_{p}\cos\theta_{p} & (j = n), \\ Z_{jn} + b_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos\theta_{j}}{\sin\theta_{j}} (M_{n}\lambda) & (j < n). \end{cases}$$

Then J₁₂ is rewritten as

$$J_{12} = \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{cases} N-1 \\ \sum \\ n=1 \end{cases} (S \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} b_j^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_j}{\sin \theta_j} (M_n \lambda) (M_j x), M_n x)_x \\ - \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} (S b_n^{-2} \sum_{p=n}^{N} Z_p b_p \cos \theta_p (M_n x), M_n x)_x \right\} \\ + \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{cases} N-1 \\ \sum \\ n=1 \end{cases} (S \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} Z_{jn} (M_j x), M_n x)_x \right\} = J_{121} + J_{122}. \end{cases}$$

Here, J_{122} is an 0.K. term because $Z_{jn}(y) = O(|y|^{1-\varepsilon})$ by the first estimate of (5.34). Hence, in place of $J_{12} + J_{131}$, it is sufficient to consider

(6.35)

$$= \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{cases} N-1 \\ \sum \\ n=1 \end{cases} (\operatorname{SF}_{n}(M_{n}^{X}), M_{n}^{X})_{X} \end{cases} + \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{cases} N-1 \\ \sum \\ n=1 \end{cases} (\operatorname{SG}_{n}, M_{n}^{X})_{X} \end{cases} \right\} = J_{1}^{\prime} + J_{2}^{\prime}$$

with

(6.36)
$$\begin{cases} F_{n} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} (M_{j}\lambda) b_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} - \sum_{p=n}^{N} Z_{p} b_{p} b_{n}^{-2} \cos \theta_{p} = F_{n1} - F_{n2}, \\ G_{n} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} b_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} (M_{n}\lambda) (M_{j}x) - \sum_{j=n+1}^{N-1} b_{n}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{n}}{\sin \theta_{n}} (M_{j}\lambda) (M_{j}x). \end{cases}$$

(IV) Now let us calculate J'. Using (6.32) and interchanging the order of summation, we arrive at

(6.37)
$$F_{n1} = -\sum_{p=1}^{N} Z_p b_p \cos \theta_p + \sum_{p=n}^{N} b_n^{-2} b_p Z_p \cos \theta_p,$$

and hence

(6.38)
$$F_n = -\sum_{p=1}^{N} Z_p b_p \cos \theta_p,$$

= 0.

which implies that J_1' is an O.K. term. As for J_2' , we can interchange the order of summation to obtain

$$J_{2}' = \operatorname{Re} \left[\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \left\{ (Sb_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} (M_{n}\lambda)(M_{j}x), M_{n}x)_{x} - (Sb_{j}^{-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}}{\sin \theta_{j}} (M_{n}\lambda)(M_{n}x), M_{j}x)_{x} \right\} \right]$$

$$(6.39)$$

(5.37)

$|D^{j}\Phi_{n}(y)| \leq C(1 + |y|)^{-j-\varepsilon}$

Thus, we have shown that each term of $J = Re(SM_X,A_X)_X$ is an O.K. term, which completes the proof. Q.E.D.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. By Lemma 6.6, the last term of the righthand side of (6.13) is dominated by the term of the form F(T), where F(T) is given in (6.19). Therefore, by letting $T \neq \infty$ along a suitable sequence $\{T_n\}$ in (6.13), we obtain

$$\int_{R}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr$$

(6.40)

$$\leq G(R) + C \begin{cases} \sum_{\alpha}^{\infty} c^{2\beta-\varepsilon} (|u'-iku|_{x}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}) dr + \|f\|_{1+\beta}^{2} + \|v\|_{-\delta}^{2} \end{cases}$$

where C = C(K,Q) is independent of R > 0. Take $R = R_0$ sufficiently large in (6.40). Then it follows that

 $\begin{array}{ll} (6.41) & \int\limits_{R_0+1} r^{2\beta} (|u'-iku|_x^2 + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_x^2) dr \leq C \{ \|f\|_{1+\beta}^2 + \|v\|_{-\delta}^2 \} + G(R_0) & (C = C(K,Q)). \\ \\ \text{Since } G(R_0) & \text{is dominated by the term of the form } C \{ \|f\|_{1+\beta}^2 + \|v\|_{-\delta}^2 \} & \text{by} \\ \\ \text{using Proposition 1.2, (6.2) easily follows from (6.41). Re-examining \\ \\ \text{the proof of Lemmas } 6.2 - 6.6, we can easily see that } C = C(K,Q) \\ \\ \text{remains bounded when } & \rho_{\varepsilon_1}(Q_1), \rho_{j+\varepsilon}(D^jQ_0), \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, m_0 \\ \\ \text{are bounded. } Q.E.D. \end{array}$

Now that Proposition 6.1 has been shown, we can prove (5.10) in Theorem 5.4.

<u>PROOF of (5.10) in THEOREM 5.4.</u> Let v be the radiative function for {L,k,l} with $k \in K$, the compact set of $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, and $\ell \in F_{1+\beta}$, where $\delta - 1 \leq \beta \leq 1 - \delta$. Let $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}^+$ such that Im $k_0 > 0$. Then v can be decomposed as $v = v_0 + w$, where v_0 is the radiative function for {L,k_0,l} and w is the radiative function for {L,k,l[f]}, $f = (k^2 - k_0^2)v_0$.

 $Z(y) \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^N)$, Z(y,-k) = -Z(y,k), Z(y) = 0 for $|y| \le 1$ and

It follows from Lemma 2.7 that

(6.42)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_{0}^{\prime}\|_{1+\beta} + \|\mathbf{B}^{\prime 2} \mathbf{v}_{0}\|_{1+\beta} + \|\mathbf{v}_{0}\|_{1+\beta} \leq C_{0} \|\|\boldsymbol{\ell}\|\|_{1+\beta} \quad (C_{0} = C_{0}(k_{0},\beta)).$$

Set $u_0 = e^{i\lambda}v_0$. Noting that

(6.43)
$$u'_0 - iku_0 = e^{i\lambda}(v'_0 - ikv_0) + iZe^{i\lambda}v_0$$

and

 $0 \leq (B(r)u_0, u_0)_{x} = (B(r)v_0, v_0)_{x} - (\{iP + 2ir^{-2}M - \varphi\}v_0, v_0)_{x},$

(6.44)

 $\leq |B^{l_{2}}v_{0}|_{x}^{2} + C\{|v_{0}|_{x}^{2} + |B^{l_{2}}v_{0}|^{2}\}$

with C = C(K), which follows from (5.19) in Lemma 5.5, we obtain from (6.42)

(6.45)
$$\|u_0' - iku_0\|_{\beta} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}u_0\|_{\beta} \leq C \||\lambda\||_{\beta+1} \quad (C = C(k_0, K, \beta)).$$

Therefore, it suffices to show the estimate (510) with $u = e^{i\lambda}w$. To this end, we shall approximate $Q_0(y)$ by a sequence $\{Q_{0n}(y)\}$, where we set

(6.46)
$$Q_{0n}(y) = \rho\left(\frac{|y|}{n}\right)Q_0(y)$$
 (n = 1,2,...),

and $\rho(r)$ is a real-valued, smooth function on T such that $\rho(r) = 1$ $(r \le 1)$, = 0 $(r \ge 2)$. Then it can be easily seen that $\rho_{j+\varepsilon}(D^{j}\varrho_{0n})$ is bounded uniformly for n = 1,2,... with j = 0,1,2,...,m. Let us set

(6.47)
$$L_{n} = -\frac{d^{2}}{dr^{2}} + B(r) + C_{0n}(r) + C_{1}(r) \qquad (C_{0n}(r) = Q_{0n}(r_{\omega})x),$$

and let us denote by w_n the radiative function for $\{L_n, k, \ell[f]\}$ with $f = (k^2 - k_0^2)v_0$ (n = 1,2,...). For each L_n , the function $Z^{(n)}(y)$

can be constructed according to Definition 5.8 with $Q_0(y)$ replaced by $Q_{0n}(y)$, and we set

(6.48)
$$u_n = e^{i\lambda \binom{n}{w_n}} \qquad (\lambda^{\binom{n}{r\omega}} = \int_0^r Z^{\binom{n}{t\omega}}(t\omega) dt).$$

Now, Proposition 6.1 can be applied to show

(6.49)
$$\|u'_{n} - iku_{n}\|_{\beta} + \|B^{b_{2}}u_{n}\|_{\beta} \leq C \{\|f\|_{1+\beta} + \|w_{n}\|_{-\delta}\}$$
 $(n = 1, 2, ...,),$

with C = C(K). Since $D^{j}Q_{0n}(y)$ converges to $D^{j}Q_{0}(y)$ as $n \to \infty$ uniformly on \mathbb{R}^{N} for each $j = 0, 1, \dots, m_{0}$, it follows that $\lambda^{(n)}(y) \to \lambda(y)$ as $n \to \infty$ uniformly on every compact set in \mathbb{R}^{N} . Therefore, by the use of Theorem 4.5, we obtain $u_{n} \to u$ in $H^{1,\beta}_{0-\delta}(I,X)$ as $n \to \infty$. Let $n \to \infty$ in the relation

$$(6.50) \|u'_n - iku_n\|_{\beta, (0, R)} + \|B^{\frac{1}{2}}u_n\|_{\beta, (0, R)} \leq C \{\|f\|_{1+\beta} + \|w_n\|_{-\delta}\}$$

with R > 0, which is a direct consequence of (6.49). Then we have

(6.51)
$$\| u' - iku \|_{\beta, (0, R)} + \| B^{\frac{1}{2}} u \|_{\beta, (0, R)} \leq C \{ \| f \|_{1+\beta} + \| v \|_{-\delta} \}.$$

Since R > 0 is arbitrary, we have obtained

(6.52)
$$\|\mathbf{u}' - \mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\mathbf{u}\|_{\beta} + \|\mathbf{B}^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbf{u}\|_{\beta} \leq C\{\|\mathbf{f}\|_{1+\beta} + \|\mathbf{v}\|_{-\delta}\}.$$

(5.10) follows from (6.42), (6.45), (6.52) and (2.7). Q.E.D.

§7. Proof of the main theorem

This section is devoted to showing (5.11) in Theorem 5.4 and Theorem 5.3 by the use of (5.10) in Theorem 5.4 which has been proved in the preceding section.

<u>PROOF of (5.11) in THEOREM 5.4.</u> Let us first consider the case that v is the radiative function for {L,k,l[f]} with k \in K and f \in L₂,_{1+B}(I,X). Using (i) of Lemma 6.2, we have for u=e^{i λ}v

(7.1)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dr} \left[e^{2irk} (u'(r) - iku(r), u(r))_{x} \right] = e^{2ikr} g(r), \\ g(r) = |u' - iku|_{x}^{2} - |B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2} - (e^{i\lambda}f, u)_{x} + 2i(Z(u' - iku), u)_{x} \\ -((Y-C, -iZ' - ip)u, u)_{x} + 2ir^{-2}(Mu, u)_{x}. \end{cases}$$

It follows from (5.10) that g(r) is integrable over I with the estimate

$$\int_{I} |g(r)|_{x} dr \leq ||u'-iku||_{0}^{2} + ||B^{2}u||_{0}^{2} + ||f||_{\delta} ||v||_{-\delta}$$

(7.2) +C{||u'-iku||_{\beta}||v||_{-\delta}+||v||_{-\delta}^{2}+||B^{2}u||_{\beta}||v||_{-\delta}}

$$\leq C'||f||_{1+\beta}^{2} \qquad (\beta=\delta-\varepsilon(0<\varepsilon\leq \frac{1}{2}),=0(\frac{1}{2}<\varepsilon\leq 1)),$$

Where C=C(K),C'=C(K) and we have made use of (2.7), too. Integrate the first relation of (7.1) from r to R ($0 \le r < R < \infty$), multiply the result by e^{-2irk} and take the imaginary part. Then we have

(7.3)
$$\begin{aligned} & |v(r)|_{x}^{2} = k|u(r)|_{x}^{2} \\ & + \mathrm{Im} \int_{-R}^{R} e^{2ik(t-r)} g(t) dt. \end{aligned}$$

By letting R+∞ along a sequence {R_n} such that $(u'(R_n)-iku(R_n),u(R_n))_X+0$ $(n+\infty)$ (7.3) gives (7.4) $|v(r)|_X^2 \leq \frac{1}{|k|} \left\{ |I_m(u'(r),u(r))_X| + \int_r^\infty |g(t)|dt \right\}.$ Let us estimate $I_m(u'(r),u(r))_X$. Since $\frac{d}{d\pi} \{I_m(u'(r),u(r))_Y\} = I_m \{\frac{d}{d\pi}(u'(r),u(r))_Y\}$

(7.5)
$$\frac{dr}{dr} \left\{ e^{2irk} (u'(r) - iku(r), u(r))_{x} \right\} = I_{m}g(r),$$

(7.6)
$$I_{m}(u'(r),u(r))_{x} = (Z(r)v(r),v(r))_{x} + I_{m}(v'(r),v(r))_{x} \to 0$$

(r+0)

by (3.36), it follows that (7.7) $|I_{m}(u'(r),u(r))_{\chi}| \leq \int_{0}^{r} |g(t)| dt.$ Thus we obtain from (7.4), (7.7) and (7.2)

(7.8)
$$|v(r)|_{x} \leq C^{\|f\|} + \beta$$
 (r $\in I$)

with C=C(K). Let us next consider the general case. v is now assumed to be the radiative function for {L,k,l} with k=K and $l=F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$. Then, according to Lemma 2.8, we decompose v as v=v_0+w, where v_0 is the radiative function for {L,k_0,l} with $k_0 \in C^+$, $I_m k_0 > 0$ and w is the radiative function for {L,k,l} ($k^2 - k_0^2$)v_0]}. It follows from Lemma 2.7 and (1.8) in Proposition 1.1 that

$$(7.9) \begin{cases} |v_0(r)| \leq \sqrt{2} \|v_0\|_{\beta} \leq C \|\ell_n\|_{1+\beta} & (r \in I), \\ \|v_0\|_{1+\beta} \leq C \|\ell_n\|_{1+\beta} \\ \text{with } C=C(k_0). \text{ On the other hand we obtain from (7.8)} \\ (7.10) |w(r)|_{\chi} \leq C \|v_0\|_{1+\beta} & (r \in I) \\ \text{with } C=C(K,k_0). \quad (5.11) \text{ directly follows from (7.9) and (7.10).} \\ Q.E.D. \end{cases}$$

The proof of Theorem 5.3 will be divided into the following four steps. Lemmas 7.1, 7.2, 7.4 and Corollary 7.3 will be concerned with the asymptotic behavior of the radiative function v for {L,k, \mathfrak{L} f] } with $k \in \mathbb{R}$ -{0} and $f \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$.

<u>LEMMA 7.1.</u> Let v be the radiative function for {L,k, \mathcal{L} f] } with $k \in \mathbb{R}$ -{0} and $f \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$. Then $|v(r)|_X$ tends to a limit as r-w. <u>PROOF.</u> Let $R_0 > 0$ be fixed. (7.3) are combined with (7.5) to give

(7.11)
$$|v(r)|_{x=1}^{2-1} \{I_{m}(u'(R_{0}),u(R_{0}))_{x}+I_{m} \int_{R_{0}}^{r} g(t)dt + \int_{r}^{\infty} e^{2ik(t-r)}g(t)dt\},$$

whence follows that

(7.12) $\lim_{r \to \infty} |v(r)|_{x=1}^{2=1} \{I_{m}(u'(R_{0}), u(R_{0}))_{x}+I_{m} \int_{R_{0}}^{\infty} g(t)dt\},$ which completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

<u>LEMMA 7.2.</u> Let v be as in Lemma 7.1. Then there exists the weak limit (7.13) $F(k,f)=w-\lim_{r\to\infty} e^{-i\mu(r\cdot,k)}v(r)$ in X, where $\mu(y,k)=rk-\lambda(y)$ and $\lambda(y)$ is given by (5.40).

$$(7.14) \begin{cases} \frac{2}{\alpha_{k}(r)} = \frac{1}{2ik} e^{-i\mu(r \cdot k)} (v'(r) + ikv(r)) \\ = \frac{1}{2ik} e^{irk} (u'(r) + iku(r) - iZ(r \cdot v(r))) \\ \tilde{\alpha}_{k}(r) = e^{irk} (u'(r) - iku(r)) \\ = e^{irk + i\lambda(r \cdot v)} (v'(r) - ikv(r) + iZ(r \cdot v(r))) \end{cases}$$

with $u=e^{i\lambda}v$. Let $x\in D$. Then, by (i) of Lemma 6.2,

(7.15)
$$\frac{d}{dr}(\alpha_{k}(r),x)_{x} = \frac{1}{2ik}e^{-irk}(-(u'-iku)'-ik(u'-iku)+iZ'u+iZ(u'-iku),x)_{x}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2ik}e^{-irk}\{(u,Bx)_{x}-(e^{i\lambda}f,x)_{x}+i(Z(u'-iku),x)_{x}$$
$$+((C_{1}-iP-Y)u,x)_{x}-2ir^{-2}(u,Mx)_{x}\}= \frac{1}{2ik}e^{-irk}g(r,x),$$

where we have used the relation (6.5) in Lemma 6.3 with x=u, x!=x and S(y)=1. Similarly we have (7.16) $\frac{d}{dx}(\tilde{\alpha}_{r_{x}}(r),x)=e^{irk}\{(u,Bx)_{u}-(e^{i\lambda}f,x)+2i(Z(u'-iku),x)_{u}\}$

16)
$$\frac{d}{dr}(\tilde{\alpha}_{k}(r),x) = e^{irk} \{(u,Bx)_{x} - (e^{ix}f,x) + 2i(Z(u'-iku),x)_{x} - ((Y-C_{1}-iZ'+iP)u,x)_{x} - 2ir^{-2}(u,Mx)_{x}\} = e^{irk}h(r,x)$$

Therefore, by (5.10) in Theorem 5.4 and the fact that $|Mx|_{\chi \leq C} r^{1-\varepsilon} |A^{\frac{1}{2}x}|_{\chi}$, g(r,x) and h(r,x) are integrable over $(1,\infty)$, which implies that there exist limits

(7.17)
$$\begin{cases} \lim_{\substack{r \to \infty \\ r \to \infty}} (\alpha_k(r), x)_x = \alpha(k, x), \\ \lim_{\substack{r \to \infty \\ r \to \infty}} (\alpha_k(r), x)_x = \widetilde{\alpha}(K, x). \end{cases}$$

Here $\tilde{\alpha}(k,x)=0$. In fact, since u'-iku $\in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$, there exists a sequence $\{r_n\}$ such that $|\tilde{\alpha}_k(r_n)|_X$ tends to zero as $n \rightarrow \infty$. Therefore, by taking account of the fact that $(Z(r \cdot)v(r),X)_X \rightarrow 0$ as $r \rightarrow \infty$, which is obtained from the boundedness of $|v(r)|_X$ ($r \in I$), it follows from the second relation of (7.17) that

 $\lim_{\substack{r \to \infty \\ (7.18)}} e^{-i\mu(r \cdot,k)} (v'(r) - ikv(r),x)_{x}$

= $\lim_{\substack{r \to \infty \\ r \to \infty}} \{e^{-2irk}(\tilde{\alpha}_k(r), x)_x - ie^{-i\mu(r \cdot, k)}(Z(r \cdot)v(r), x)_x\}=0$ Thus we obtain from (7.18) and the first relation of (7.17)

(7.19) $\begin{cases} \lim_{r \to \infty} \{(e^{-i\mu}(r \cdot , k)_{v'}(r), x)_{x} + ik(e^{-i\mu}(r \cdot , k)_{v}(r), x)_{x}\} = 2ik \alpha(k, x), \end{cases}$

 $\lim_{r \to \infty} \{ (e^{-i\mu(r \cdot, k)}v'(r), x)_{x} - ik(e^{-i\mu(r \cdot, k)}v(r), x)_{x} \} = 0$

Whence follows the existence of the limits

 $\alpha(k,X) = \lim_{r \to \infty} (e^{-i\mu(r \cdot k)}v(r),X)_X$

(7.20)

 $= \frac{1}{ik} \lim_{r \to \infty} (e^{-i\mu (r \cdot k)} v'(r), x)_{x}$

for $x \in D$. Because of the denseness of D in X and the boundedness of $|V(r)|_{v}$ on I, which completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

<u>COROLLARY 7.3.</u> Let $\{R_n\}$ be a sequence such that $R_n^{+\infty}$ and $|v'(R_n)-ikv(R_n)| \neq 0$ as $n \neq \infty$. Then there exists the weak limit (7.21) $F(k,f) = w-\lim_{n \neq \infty} k(R_n)$ in X.

<u>PROOF.</u> Since $\{|v'(R_n)|_x\}$ is a bounded sequence as well as $\{|V(R_n)|_x\}$, it follows from (7.20) that the weak limit

w-lim $e^{-i\mu(R_n,k)}v'(R_n)$ exists in X and is equal to ikF(k,f). Therefore, (7.21) is easily obtained from the definition of $\alpha_k(r)$.

LEMMA 7.4. Let v be as above. There exists a sequence $\{r_n\}$ such that $r_n \uparrow \infty$ $(n \rightarrow \infty)$ and (7.22) $\lim_{x \to \infty} |v(r_n)|_x = |F(k,f)|_x$. <u>PROOF.</u> Let us take a sequence $\{r_n\}$ which satisfies $\left((1+r_n)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} | B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r_n) u(r_n) |_{x} \leq C_0 \right)$ $(7.23) \begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \infty} (1+r_n)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r_n)u(r_n)|_{\chi} = 0 \\ |v(r_n)|_{\chi} \le c_0, \end{cases}$ $|\underline{i}\underline{m}|v'(r_n) - ikv(r_n)|_{x} = 0,$ for all n=1,2,..., where $C_0 > 0$ is a constant, $u=e^{i\lambda}v$, and β is as above. Such a $\{r_n\}$ surely exists by Theorem 5.4 and Theorem 2.3. Let us set (7.24) $\alpha_{-k}(r) = -\frac{1}{2ik} e^{i\mu(r\cdot,k)}(v'(r)-ikv(r)).$ Then we have (7.25) v(r) = $e^{i\mu(r\cdot,k)}\alpha_{\mu}(r) + e^{-i\mu(r\cdot,k)}\alpha_{\mu}(r)$, the definition of $\alpha_k(r)$ being given in (7.13), whence follows that $(7.26) \begin{cases} |v(r_n)|_{x}^{2} = (\alpha_{k}(r_n), e^{-i\mu(r_n, k)}v(r_n))_{x} \\ + (\alpha_{k}(r_n), e^{+i\mu(r_n, k)}v(r_n))_{x} \end{cases}$ + $(\alpha_{-k}(r_n), e^{+i\mu}(r_n, k)v(r_n))_x = a_n + b_n$ Here $b_n \rightarrow 0$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$ because of the third and fourth relations of (7.23). Therefore, it suffices to show that $a_n + |F(k,f)|_x^2$ as n+∞. Setting (7.27) $F_n(k,f) = e^{-i\mu(r_n,k)}v(r_n),$ we obtain from (7.15)

$$a_{n} = (\alpha_{k}(R), F_{n}(k, f))_{x} - \int_{r_{n}}^{R} \frac{d}{dt} (\alpha_{k}(t), F_{n}(k, f))_{x} dt$$

$$(7.28)$$

$$= (\alpha_{k}(R), F_{n}(k, f))_{x} - \frac{1}{2ik} \int_{r_{n}}^{R} e^{-ik(t-r_{n})}g(t, u(r_{n})) dt,$$
where

where

$$\begin{array}{l} (7.29) \ g(r,x) = (Bu,x)_{x} + ((C_{1}-iP-Y)u-e^{i\lambda}f,x)_{x} \\ & + i(Z(u'-iku),x)_{x} + \{-2ir^{-2}(u,Mx)_{x}\} = \sum_{j=1}^{4} g_{j}(r,x). \\ \text{Now let us estimate } g(r,u(r_{n})). \ \text{ It follows from } (5.5), \ (5.42) \\ \text{and the third relation of } (7.23) \ \text{that} \\ (7.30) \ |g_{2}(r,u(r_{n}))| \leq C_{0}(|f(r)|_{x} + C(1+r)^{-2\delta}|v(r)|_{x}) = g_{02}(r). \\ \text{As for } g_{3}(r,u(r_{n})) \ \text{we have similarly} \\ (7.31) \ |g_{3}(r,u(r_{n}))| \leq C_{0}C(1+r)^{-\varepsilon-\beta}|(1+r)^{\beta}(u'-iku)|_{x} = g_{03}(r), \\ \leq C_{0}C(1+r)^{-\delta}|(1+r)^{\beta}(u'-iku)|_{x} = g_{03}(r), \end{array}$$

because

$$(7.32) -\varepsilon -\beta = \begin{cases} -\varepsilon \leq -\delta & (\beta=0), \\ -\varepsilon - (\delta-\varepsilon) = -\delta & (\beta=\delta-\varepsilon). \end{cases}$$

$$g_{4}(r,u(r_{n})) \text{ can be estimated for } r \geq r_{n} (\geq 1) \text{ as} \\ |g_{4}(r,u(r_{n}))| \leq C(1+r)^{-2}(1+r)^{1-\varepsilon}|u|_{x} |A^{\frac{1}{2}}u(r_{n})|_{x} \\ (7.33) = C(1+r)^{-1-\varepsilon}(1+r_{n})^{\frac{1}{2}-\beta}|u|_{x} |(1+r_{n})^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r_{n})u(r_{n})|_{x} \\ \leq CC_{0}(1+r)^{-\varepsilon-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}|v|_{x} \leq C'(1+r)^{-\frac{1}{2}-\alpha} = g_{04}(r), \end{cases}$$

where $\alpha = \delta$ $(0 < \epsilon \le \frac{1}{2})$, $= \epsilon$ $(\frac{1}{2} < \epsilon \le 1)$. Here we have used (5.11) in Theorem 5.4, (7.32) and the first relation of (7.23). Let us enter into the estimation of $g(r, u(r_n))$. We have from the inequality as $\le \frac{1}{2}(a^2 + \beta^2)$

$$|g_{1}(r,u(r_{n}))| \leq \frac{1}{2}|B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}+\frac{1}{2}r^{-2}|A^{\frac{1}{2}}u(r_{n})|_{x}^{2}$$

$$(7.34) \leq \frac{1}{2}|(1+r)^{\beta}B^{\frac{1}{2}}u|_{x}^{2}+\frac{1}{2}r^{-2}|A^{\frac{1}{2}}u(r_{n})|_{x}^{2}$$

$$\equiv g_{01}(r)+\frac{1}{2}r^{-2}|A^{\frac{1}{2}}u(r_{n})|_{x}^{2}$$

Set $g_0(r) = \sum_{j=1}^{4} g_{0j}(r)$. Then g_0 is integrable and it follows

from (7.28) that
(7.35)
$$|a_n - (\alpha_k(R), F_n(k, f))_x| \leq \frac{1}{2|k|} \int_{r_n}^{R} g_0(r) dr + \frac{1}{4|k|} |A^{\frac{1}{2}}u(r_n)|_x^2 \int_{r_n}^{R} \frac{dr}{r^2}$$

 $\leq \frac{1}{2|k|} \int_{r_n}^{R} g_0(r) dr + \frac{1}{4|k|} r_n |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r_n)u(r_n)|_x^2 \quad (r_n \geq 1).$

Let $R \rightarrow \infty$ in (7.35) along a sequence such that $|v'(R_n) - ikv(R_n)|_X \rightarrow 0$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$. Then, using Corollary 7.3, we arrive at (7.36) $|a_n - (F(k,f),F_n(k,f))_X| \leq \frac{1}{2|k|} \int_{r_n}^{\infty} g_0(r) dr + \frac{1}{4|k|} r_n |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r_n)u(r_n)|_X^2$.

By the second relation of (7.23) and Lemma 7.2 the right-hand side of (7.36) tends to zero and $(F(k,f),F_n(k,f))_x$ coverages to $|F(k,f)|_x^2$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$, which completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

<u>PROOF of THEOREM 5.3.</u> Let v be the radiative function for {L,k,l} with ke R-{0} and $l \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$. According to Lemma 2.8 v is rewritten as $v = v_0 + w$, where v_0 is the radiative function for {L,k₀,l} with $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}^+$, $I_m k_0 > 0$ and w is the radiative function for {L,k,l[f]} with $f = (k^2 - k_0^2)v_0$. Since $v_0 \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$, it can be easily seen that (7.37) $s - \lim_{r \to \infty} v_0(r) = 0$ In fact, letting $R + \infty$ in the relation (7.38) $|v_0(r)|_X^2 = |v_0(R)|_X^2 - 2 \int_r^R Re(v_0'(t), v_0(t)) dt$

along a sequence $\{R_n\}$ which satisfies $|v_0(R_n)|x \neq 0 \quad (n \neq \infty)$, we have (7.39) $|v_0(r)|_x^2 \leq 2\int_r^{\infty} |v_0'(t)|_x |v_0(t)|_x dr \leq \|v_0\|_B^2$, (r,∞) , whence (7.37) follows. As for w we can apply Lemmas 7.1, 7.2

and 7.4 to show

$$(7.40) \begin{cases} w-\lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r^{\bullet}, k)} w(r) = F(k, f) \text{ in } X, \\ \lim_{r \to \infty} |w(r)|_{X} = |F(k, f)|_{X}, \end{cases}$$

which implies the strong convergence of $e^{-i\mu(r\cdot,k)}w(r)$. Therefore the existence of the strong limit

 $F(k,l) = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu (r \cdot k)} (v_0(r) + w(r))$ $= F(k,f) \qquad (f = (k^2 - k_0^2)v_0)$ has been proved completely.

:

Q.E.D.

\$8. Some properties of
$$\lim_{r\to\infty} e^{-1\mu}v(r)$$

In this section we shall investigate some properties of $F(k, l) = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r,k)}v(r)$, whose existence has been proved for the radiative function v for {L, k, l} with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $l \in F_{1+\beta}(I, X)$. The results obtained in this section will be useful when we develop a spectral representation theory in Chapter III.

<u>LEMMA 8.1</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied and let F(k, l) be as in Theorem 5.3, i.e.,

(8.1)
$$F(k,l) = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r^*,k)}v(r) \qquad \text{in } X,$$

where v is the radiative function for {L, k, ℓ } with $k \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$, where β is given by (5.9). Then there exists a constant C = C(k) such that

$$|F(k, \ell)|_{\mathcal{L}} \leq C|||\ell||_{\mathcal{L}}$$

C(k) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$.

<u>PROOF</u>. As in the proof of Theorem 5.3 given at the end of §7, v is decomposed as $v = v_0^+ w$. Then, as can be easily seen from the proof of Theorem 5.3,

$$|F(k,\ell)|_{\chi} = \lim_{r \to \infty} |w(r)|_{\chi}$$

Set $g_0 = (k^2 - k_0^2) v_0$, k_0 being as in the proof of Theorem 5.3. It follows from (3.32) with v=w , f=g_0, k_1=k, $k_2=0$ that

$$|w(r)|_{x}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{k^{2}} \left\{ |w'(r) - ikw(r)|_{x}^{2} - 2k \operatorname{Im} (g_{0}, w)_{0}, (0, r) \right\}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{k^{2}} |w'(r) - ikw(r)|_{x}^{2} + \frac{2}{|k|} \operatorname{CH} g_{0} \|_{\delta}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{k^{2}} |w'(r) - ikw(r)|_{x}^{2} + \frac{2}{|k|} \operatorname{C'} ||| \ell |||_{\delta}^{2}$$

with C = C(k) and C' = C'(k). Here (2.7) in Theorem 2.3 and Lemma 2.8 have been used. Let $r \rightarrow \infty$ along a sequence $\{r_n\}$ such that $r_n \uparrow \infty$ and $|v'(r_n) - ikv(r_n)|_x \neq 0$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$. Then we obtain (8.2).

2.E.D.

Since the radiative function $v(\cdot,k,\ell)$ for {L,k, ℓ } is linear with respect to ℓ , which follows from the uniqueness of the radiative function, a linear operator F(k) from $F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$ into X is well-defined by

(8.5)
$$F(k)\ell = F(k,\ell) \qquad (\ell \in F_{1+\beta}(I,\chi), \ \beta = \delta - \varepsilon (0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2}), \ = 0(\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1))$$

In the following lemma the denseness of $F_{I+\beta}(I,X)$ in $F_{\delta}(I,X)$ will be shown, which, together with Lemma 8.1, enables us to extend F(k) uniquely to a bounded linear operator from $F_{\delta}(I,X)$ into X.

LEMMA 8.2. Let $0 \leq \varphi \leq \beta$. Then $F_{\beta}(I,X)$ is dense in $F_{\varphi}(I,X)$.

<u>PROOF</u>. As has been shown before the proof of Lemma 2.7 in §4, $\ell \in F_{\varphi}(I,X)$ can be regarded as a bounded anti-linear functional on $H_{0,-\varphi}^{1,B}(I,X)$ which is defined as the completion of $C_{0}^{\infty}(I,X)$ by the norm (8.6) $\|\phi\|_{B,-\varphi}^{2} = \int_{I} (|+r|)^{-2\varphi} \{|\phi'(r)|_{X}^{2} + |B^{\frac{1}{2}}(r)\phi(r)|_{X}^{2} + |\phi(r)|_{X}^{2} \} dr$.

By the Riesz theorem there exists $w = w_{g} \in H^{1,B}_{0,-\varphi}(I,X)$ such that

(8.7)
$$\langle \ell, v \rangle = (w, v)_{B, -\varphi}$$
 $(v \in H^{1, B}_{0, -\varphi}(I, X))$,

where $(,)_{B,-\varphi}$ is the inner product of $H_{0,-\varphi}^{1,B}(I,X)$. The norm $||| \& |||_{\varphi}$ is equivalent to $\|w\|_{B,-\varphi}$. Let $\psi(t)$ be a real-valued, smooth function on R such that $\psi(t)=1$ $(t\leq 0)$, =0 $(t\geq 1)$, and set

(8.8)
$$\langle l_n, v \rangle = (w_n, v)_{B, -\varphi}$$
 (n=1,2,--)

with $w_n(r) = \psi(r-n)w(r)$. Obviously $\ell_n \in F_\beta(I,X)$ and we have $\|w-w_n\|_{B,-\varphi} \neq 0$ as $n \leftrightarrow \infty$, which implies that

 $(8.9) \qquad \qquad |||\ell - \ell_n|||_{\varphi} \to 0 \qquad (n \to \infty) .$

Thus the denseness of $F_{\beta}(I,X)$ in $F_{\varphi}(I,X)$ $(0 \le \varphi \le \beta)$ has been proved. Q.E.D.

From Lemmas 8.1 and 8.2 we see that the operator F(k), $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, can be extended uniquely to a bounded linear operator from $F_{\delta}(I,X)$ into X. Thus we give

<u>DEFINITION 8.3.</u> We denote again by F(k) the above bounded linear extension of F(k). When l=l[f] with $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, we shall simply write

(8.10) $F(k)\mathfrak{L}[f] = F(k)f$.

Now we shall show that F(k) can be represented by ℓ and the radiative function $v = v(\cdot,k,\ell)$ for $\{L,k,\ell\}$. As we have seen above, $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$ can be regarded as a bounded anti-linear functional on $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$. On the other hand any radiative function v for $\{L,k,\ell\}$ $(k \in \mathbb{C}^+, \ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X))$ belongs to $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$. Therefore $\langle \ell,v \rangle$ is well-defined, and we have

(8.11)
$$(\ell, v) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle \ell, v_n \rangle$$
,

where $v_n \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ satisfies $v_n \neq v$ in $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$.

<u>THEOREM 8.4</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let $v_j(j=1,2)$ be the radiative function for $\{L,k,l_j\}$ with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $l_j \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$ (j=1,2). Then

(8.12)
$$(F(k)\ell_1, F(k)\ell_2)_x = \frac{1}{2ik} \{\langle \overline{\ell_2, \nu_1} \rangle - \langle \ell_1, \nu_2 \rangle \}$$

where the right-hand side is well-defined as stated above and the bar means the complex conjugate. In particular

(8.13)
$$|F(k)\ell|_{x}^{2} = -\frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im} \langle \ell, v \rangle$$

for the radiative function v for {L,k,&} with $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $\& \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$. When $\&_{j} = \& \{f_{j}\}$ with $f_{j} \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X), j=1,2$, (8.12) takes the form

(8.14)
$$(F(k)f_1, F(k)f_2)_x = \frac{1}{2ik} \{(v_1, f_2)_0 - (f_1, v_2)_0\}$$

Further we have

(8.15)
$$|F(k)f|_{x}^{2} = \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im}(v,f)_{0}$$

for the radiative function v for {L,k,l[f]} with $k\in \mathbb{R}$ - {0} and $f\in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let us first consider a special case that $\ell_j \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$, j=1,2, where β is given by (5.9). Starting with the relation $(v_1, (L-k^2)\phi)_0 = \langle \ell_1, \phi \rangle$ ($\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$), we obtain

(8.16)
$$\int_{I} \{ (v_{1}^{\prime}, \phi^{\prime})_{X} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{1}, B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi)_{X} + ((C-k^{2})v_{1}, \phi)_{X} \} dr = \langle l_{1}, \phi \rangle .$$

Let $\rho(r)$ be a real-valued C^1 function on I such that $0 \le \rho(r) \le 1$, $\rho(r)=1$ $(r \le 1)$, $=0(r \ge 2)$ and let us set

(8.17)
$$\rho_n(r) = \rho(\frac{r}{n})$$
 (n=1,2,...)

Then it can be easily seen that

(8.18)
$$\begin{cases} \rho'_{n}(r) = 0 & \text{if } r < n \text{ or } r > 2n, \\ |\rho'_{n}(r)| \leq \frac{c}{r} & (r \in I, \frac{1}{2}c = \max |\rho'(r)|). \\ r \in I \end{cases}$$

Substitute $\phi = \rho_n v^2$ in (8.16). Then we have

(8.19)
$$\int_{I} \left[\rho'_{n}(v'_{1},v_{2})_{x} + \rho_{n}\{(v'_{1},v'_{2})_{x} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{1},B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{2})_{x} + ((C-k^{2})v_{1},v_{2})_{x} \} \right] dr$$
$$= \langle \ell_{1}, \rho_{n}v_{2} \rangle.$$

Quite similarly, by starting with $((L-k^2)\phi, v_2) = \langle \overline{\ell_{2^*}\phi} \rangle$, it follows that

$$(8.20) \int_{I} \left[\rho_{n}'(v_{1},v_{2}')_{x} + \rho_{n} \{ (v_{1}',v_{2}')_{x} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{1},B^{\frac{1}{2}}v_{2})_{x} + ((C-k^{2})v_{1},v_{2})_{x} \} \right] dr$$
$$= \overline{\langle \mathcal{L}_{2},\rho_{n}v_{1} \rangle}$$

(8.19) and (8.20) are combined to give
(8.21)
$$\int_{n}^{2n} \rho_{n}^{i} \{(v_{1},v_{2}^{i})_{x} - (v_{1}^{i},v_{2}^{i})_{x}\} dr = \langle \ell_{2},\rho_{n}v_{1} \rangle - \langle \ell_{1},\rho_{n}v_{2} \rangle.$$

Since

$$(v_{1}(r), v_{2}'(r))_{x} - (v_{1}'(r), v_{2}(r))_{x}$$

(8.22) = $(v_{1}(r), v_{2}'(r) - ikv_{2}(r))_{x} - (v_{1}'(r) - ikv_{1}(r), v_{2}(r))_{x}$
- $2ik(v_{1}(r), v_{2}(r))_{x}$

(8.23)
$$(v_1(r), v_2(r))_x = (e^{-i\mu}v_1(r), e^{-i\mu}v_2(r))_x = (F(k)\ell_1, F(k)\ell_2)_x + h(r)$$

with $h(r) \rightarrow 0$ as $r \rightarrow \infty$ by Theorem 5.3, we obtain, noting that (8.18) and

(8.24)
$$\int_{n}^{2n} \rho'_{n}(r) dr = \left[\rho_{n}(r)\right]_{n}^{2n} = -1$$

$$(8.25) \qquad \left| \int_{n}^{2n} \rho_{n}^{\prime} \{ (v_{1}^{\prime}v_{2})_{x} - (v_{1},v_{2}^{\prime})_{x} \} dr - 2ik(F(k)\ell_{1},F(k)\ell_{2})_{x} \right| \\ \leq c \int_{n}^{2n} \left\{ \frac{|h(r)|}{r} + (r^{-\delta}|v_{1}|_{x})(r^{\delta-1}|v_{2}^{\prime} - ikv_{2}|_{x}) + (r^{\delta-1}|v_{1}^{\prime} - ikv_{1}|_{x}) \right. \\ \left. \times (r^{-\delta}|v_{2}|_{x}) \right\} dr \\ \leq c \left\{ 2 \max_{r \ge n} |h(r)| + \|v_{1}\|_{-\delta, (n,\infty)} \|v_{2}^{\prime} - ikv_{2}\|_{\delta-1, (n,\infty)} \right. \\ \left. + \|v_{1}^{\prime} - ikv_{1}\|_{\delta-1, (n,\infty)} \|v_{2}^{\parallel} - \delta, (n,\infty) \right\} \\ \left. + 0 \right\}$$

On the other hand, $\rho_n v_j$ tends to v_j in $H^{1,B}_{0,-\delta}(I,X)$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$, and hence

(8.26)
$$\overline{\langle l_2, \rho_n v_1 \rangle} - \langle l_1, \rho_n v_2 \rangle \neq \overline{\langle l_2, v_1 \rangle} - \langle l_1, v_2 \rangle$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$. (8.12) follows from (8.25) and (8.26). Let us next consider the general case that $\ell_j \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$. Then there exist sequences $\{\ell_{ln}\}$ and $\{\ell_{2n}\}$ such that

(8.27)
$$\begin{cases} l_{jn} \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X) & (n=1,2,\ldots, j=1,2), \\ l_{jn} \neq l_{j} & \text{in } F_{\delta}(I,X) & (j=1,2). \end{cases}$$

and

Let v_{jn} (j=1,2, n=1,2,...) be the radiative function for {L,k, ℓ_{nj} }. Then we have from Theorem 2.3

(8.28)
$$v_{jn} + v_j$$
 in $H_{0,-\delta}^{1,B}(I,X)$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$ for j=1,2. (8.12) in the general case is easily obtained by letting $n \rightarrow \infty$ in the relation

(8.29)
$$(F(k)\ell_{1n}, F(k)\ell_{2n})_{x} = \langle \ell_{2n}, \nu_{1n} \rangle - \langle \ell_{1n}, \nu_{2n} \rangle,$$

which has been proved already. $(8.13) \sim (8.15)$ directly follows from (8.12).

2.E.D.

Now it will be shown that the range $\{F(k)f/f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)\}$ contains D, and hence it is dense in X. Let $\xi(r)$ be a smooth function on I defined by (5.36), i.e., $0 \leq \xi(r) \leq 1$ and $\xi(r)=0$ $(r \leq 1)$, $= 1(r \leq 2)$. Set

(8.30) $\begin{cases} w_0(r) = \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r \cdot,k)}x, \\ f_0(r) = (L-k^2)w_0 \end{cases}$

for $x \in D$ and $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then, as can be easily seen from the definition of $\mu(y,k)$ and (5.20) in Lemma 5.5, $f_0 \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and w_0 is the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell[f_0]\}$.

PROPOSITION 8.5. Let $x \in D$ and let f_0 be as above. Then (8.31) $F(k)f_0=x$.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let $\chi_n(r)$ be the characteristic function of the interval (0,n), n=1,2,..., and let w_n and n_n be the radiative functions for $\{L,k,\mathfrak{A}_n f_0\}$ and $\{L,k,\mathfrak{A}_n (1-\chi_n)f_0\}$, respectively. Note that

/	AD-A064 684 UNCLASSIFIED			UTAH UNIV SALT LAKE CITY DEPT OF MATHEMATICS F/G 12/1 SPECTRAL REPRESENTATIONS FOR SCHROEDINGER OPERATORS WITH LONG-RETC(U) DEC 78 Y SAITO N00014-76-C-0276 TR-34 NL										
		2 _{0F} 2 AD A064684				And any data was the second se	An an an array of the second s			A second	A series of the			
						A Construction of the second s	Anna anna an Status anna an Martin anna an Martin anna an Martin an Anna an Anna an An	A series of a seri			A series - A series and the series - A seri			 The State of the S
		Contraction of the second seco					A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR A CONTRAC		A design of the second		A second		a no distanti Maria angle angle Maria angle Ma	
	A Description of the second se		THE STREET STREE		$\label{eq:product} \begin{array}{c} & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & $									
	END DATE FILMED 4-79 DDC													
		19												
1					_									./



 $\chi_n f_0 \in L_{2,1+\beta}(I,X)$, because the support of $\chi_n f_0$ is compact. Then, by the relation $w_0 = w_n + n_n$ and Theorem 5.3, we have

(8.32)
$$F(k)(X_n f) = s - \lim_{n \to \infty} \{e^{-i\mu(r^*,k)}w_0(r) - e^{-i\mu(r^*,k)}n_n(r)\}$$

in X. Since $e^{-i\mu}w_0(r) = x$ for $r \ge 2$, there exists the limit

(8.33)
$$x_n = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r \cdot k)} n_n(r)$$
 in X,

and hence the relation

(8.34)
$$F(k)(x_n f) = x - x_n$$

is valid for each n=1,2,... On the other hand, proceeding as in the derivation of (8.4), we obtain from (3.32),

(8.35)
$$|n_{n}(r)|_{x}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{k^{2}} |n_{n}'(r) - ikn_{n}(r)|_{x}^{2} + \frac{C}{|k|} |(1-\chi_{n})f_{0}|_{\delta}^{2}$$

(n=1,2,...)

with C=C(k), whence follows by letting $r \rightarrow \infty$ along a suitable sequence $\{r_m\}$ in (8.32) that

(8.36)
$$|x_n|_x^2 \leq \frac{C}{|k|} \|(1-\chi_n)f_0\|_{\delta}^2$$
 (n-1,2,...).

Thus we arrive at

(8.37)
$$|F(k)(\chi_n f_0) - x|_x \leq C (1-\chi_n) f_0 \delta$$

$$(C = C(k), n=1,2,...)$$
.

When n tends to infinity, $\chi_n f_0 + f_0$, i.e., $(1-\chi_n)f_0 + 0$ in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, and (8.31) is obtained from (8.37).

Q.E.D.

In the remainder of this section we shall consider the restriction of F(k) to $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, which is denoted by F(k) again. Let us consider the mapping

(8.38)
$$\mathbf{C}^{+} \ni \mathbf{k} \rightarrow F(\mathbf{k}) \in \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{L}_{2,\delta}(\mathbf{I},\mathbf{X}),\mathbf{X})$$

By the use of Lemma 4.3 F(k) can be seen a $B(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),X)$ - valued continuous function on \mathbb{R} -{0}. Further we can see that F(k) is a compact operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X.

THEOREM 8.6. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied.

(I) Then F(k) is a $\mathbf{B}(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),X)$ -valued continuous function on \mathbf{R} -{0}.

(II) For each $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ F(k) is a compact operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let us assume that (i) is not true at a point $k \in \mathbb{R}-\{0\}$. Then there exist a positive number c > 0 and sequences $\{f_n\} \subset L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, $\{k_n\} \subset \mathbb{R}-\{0\}$ such that

(8.39)
$$\begin{cases} \|f_n\|_{\delta} = 1 & (n=1,2,...) \\ k_n \neq k & (n \neq \infty) \\ |F(k_n)f_n - F(k)f_n|_{\chi} \ge c & (n=1,2,...) \end{cases}$$

With no loss of generality $\{f_n\}$ may be assumed to converge weakly in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ to some $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. We shall show that there exists subsequence $\{n_m\}$ of positive integers such that $\{F(k)f_n\}$ and $\{F(k_n)f_n\}$ converge strongly to the same limit F(k)f as $m \leftrightarrow \infty$, which will contradicts the third relation of (8.39). We shall consider

and postaria

the sequence $\{F(k_n)f_n\}$ only, because the sequence $\{F(k)f_n\}$ can be treated in quite a similar way. It follows from (8.13) with $k=k_n$, $f=f_n$, $v=v_n$ that

(8.40)
$$|F(k_n)f_n|_x^2 = \frac{1}{k_n} Im(v_n, f_n)_0$$
 (n=1,2...)

where v_n is the radiative function for $\{L,k_n, \mathcal{L}[f_n]\}$. By Lemma 4.3 a subsequence $\{v_n\}$ of $\{v_n\}$ can be chosen to satisfy $\{v_n\}_{n_m}$ converges in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ to the radiative function v for $\{L,k,\mathcal{L}[f]\}$, whence we obtain

(8.41)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} |F(k_{n_m})f_{n_m}|_x^2 = \frac{1}{k} Im(v, f) = |F(k)f|_x^2$$

Let $x \in D$ and set

(8.42)
$$\begin{cases} w_{n_{m}}(r) = \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r^{*},k_{n_{m}})}x, \\ g_{n_{m}}(r) = (L-k_{n_{m}}^{2})w_{n_{m}}(r) , \end{cases}$$

where $\xi(\mathbf{r})$ is defined by (5.36). Then it follows from Proposition 8.5 that

(8.43)
$$F(k_{n_m})g_{n_m} = x$$
.

By taking note of Remark 5.9, (2) it can be easily seen that

(8.44)
$$\begin{cases} w_{n_{m}} + w_{0} & \text{in } L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \\ g_{n_{m}} + f_{0} & \text{in } L_{2,\delta}(I,X) \end{cases}$$

as $m \rightarrow \infty$ with w_0 and f_0 defined by (8.30). Therefore we have, using (8.13) in Theorem 8.4,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} (F(k_{n_{m}})f_{n_{m}}, x)_{x} = \lim_{m \to \infty} (F(k_{n_{m}})f_{n_{m}}, (k_{n_{m}})g_{n_{m}})_{x}$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{2ik_{n_{m}}} \left\{ (v_{n_{m}}, g_{n_{m}})_{0} - (f_{n_{m}}, w_{n_{m}})_{0} \right\} \right|$$
8.45)
$$= \frac{1}{2ik} \left\{ (v, f_{0})_{0} - (f, w_{0})_{0} \right\}$$

$$= (F(k)f, F(k)f_{0})_{x} = (F(k)f, x)_{x},$$

which, together with (8.38) and the denseness of D in X , implies that $\{F(k_n)f_n\}$ converges to F(k)f strongly in X. Thus we have shown (i). In order to prove (ii) it is sufficient to show that $\{F(k)f_n\}$ is relatively compact when $\{f_n\}$ is a bounded sequence in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. This can be shown in quite a similar way used in the proof of (i).

Q.E.D.

<u>THEOREM 8.7</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and let $k \in \mathbb{R}-\{0\}$. Then

(8.46)
$$F(k)f = s - \lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r_n,k)}v(r_n) \quad \text{in } X,$$

where v is the radiative function for {L,k, $\mathfrak{A}[f]$ } and {r_n} is an sequence such that $r_n^{+\infty}$ and $v'(r_n) - ikv(r_n) + 0$ in X as $n + \infty$.

Before showing this theorem we need the following the Green formula.

LEMMA 8.8. Let $v_j \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$ satisfy the equation

(8.47)
$$(v_j (L - \overline{K}^2) \phi)_0 = (f_j, \phi)_0 \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X), j=1, 2)$$

with $f_j \in L_2(I,X)_{loc}$ and $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then we have

(8.48)
$$\int_{0}^{r} \{(v_{1}, f_{2})_{x} - (f_{1}, v_{2})_{x}\} dr$$
$$= (v_{1}'(r) - ikv_{1}(r), v_{2}(r))_{x} - (v_{1}(r), v_{2}'(r) - ikv_{2}(r))_{x}$$
$$+ 2ik (v_{1}(r), v_{2}(r))_{x}$$

for $r \in I$.

<u>PROOF</u>. The idea of the proof resembles the one of the proof of Proposition 3.4. As has be shown in the proof of Proposition 1.3, $\tilde{v}_j = U^{-1}v_j \in H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)_{10C}$ (j=1,2). Therefore we can proceed as in the proof of Proposition 3.4 to show that there exist sequences $\{\phi_{1n}\}$ and $\{\phi_{2n}\}$ such that $\phi_{1n}, \phi_{2n} \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)$ and

(8.49)
$$\begin{cases} \phi_{jn} + v_{j} & \text{in } L_{2}(I,X)_{loc} \\ \phi_{jn}(r) + v_{j}(r) & \text{in } X & (r \in T) \\ \phi_{jn}'(r) + v_{j}'(r) & \text{in } X & (r \in I) \\ (L-k^{2})\phi_{jn} = f_{nj} + f_{j} & \text{in } L_{2}(I,X)_{loc} \end{cases}$$

as $n \rightarrow \infty$ (j=1,2). Integrate the relations

(8.50)
$$\begin{cases} ((L-k^2)\phi_{1n},\phi_{2n})_x = (f_{1n},\phi_{2n})_x \\ (\phi_{1n},(L-k^2)\phi_{2n})_x = (\phi_{1n},f_{2n})_x \end{cases}$$

from 0 to r and make use of partial integration. Then it follows that

$$(8.51) - (\phi_{1n}(r), \phi_{2n}(r))_{x} + (\phi_{1n}(r), \phi'_{2n}(r))_{x} = (f_{1n}, \phi_{2n})_{0}, (0, r)$$
$$(\theta_{1n}, f_{2n})_{0}, (0, r)$$

where we should note that $(\phi'_{1n}(0), \phi_{2n}(0))_x = (\phi_{1n}(0), \phi'_{2n}(0)) = 0$. (8.48) is easily obtained by letting $n \rightarrow \infty$ in (8.51).

Q.E.D.

<u>PROOF of THEOREM 8.7</u>. Set in (3.32) $k_1 = k_1$, $k_2 = 0$ and $r = r_n$. Then we have

$$(8.52) \qquad |v(r_n)|_x^2 \leq \frac{1}{k^2} |v'(r_n) - iv(r_n)|_x^2 - \frac{2}{k} Im(f,v)_{0,(0,r_n)},$$

which implies that $\{|v(r_n)|_x\}$ is a bounded sequence. Next set in (8.48) $v_1 = v_2 = v$, $f_1 = f_2 = f$ and $r = r_n$. Then it follows that

$$(8.53) \qquad |e^{-i\mu(r_{n},k)}v(r_{n})|_{x} = \frac{1}{k} Im(v,f)_{0}, (0,r_{n}) + \frac{1}{k} Im(v(r_{n}), v'(r_{n}) - ikv(r_{n}))_{x}$$

The second term of the right-hand side of (8.53) tends to zero as $n \rightarrow \infty$ because $|v'(r_n) - ikv(r_n)|_X \rightarrow 0$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$ and $|v(r_n)|_X$ is bounded, and hence we have

(8.54)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} |e^{-i\mu(r_n,k)}v(r_n)|_x^2 = \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{Im}(v,f)_0 = |F(k)f|_x^2,$$

where (8.15) has been used. Let $x \in D$ and let w_0 and f_0 as in (8.30). Then, setting in (8.48) $v_1 = v$, $v_2 = w_0$, $f_1 = f$, $f_2 = f_0$ and $r = r_n$, we obtain

$$(e^{-i\mu(r_{n},k)}v(r_{n}), e^{-i\mu(r_{n},k)}w_{0}(r_{n}))_{x}$$

$$(8.55) = \frac{1}{2ik} \{(v(r_{n}),w_{0}'(r_{n}) - ikw_{0}(r_{n}))_{x} - (v'(r_{n}) - ikv(r_{n}), w_{0}(r_{n}))_{x}$$

$$+ (v,f_{0})_{0},(0,r_{n}) - (f,w_{0})_{0},(0,r_{n})^{3}$$
Since $e^{-i\mu(r_{n},k)}w_{0}(r_{n}) = x$ $(r_{n} \ge 2)$ and $w_{0}'(r_{n}) - ikw_{0}(r_{n})$

$$= -iZ(r_{n},w_{0}(r_{n}) + 0 \quad \text{in } X \quad (r_{n},k) \quad \text{it follows from } (8.55) \text{ that}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (e^{-i\mu(r_{n},k)}v(r_{n}), x)_{x} = \frac{1}{2ik} \{(v,f_{0})_{0} - (f,w_{0})_{0}\}$$

(8.56)
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (F(k)f_1, F(k)f_0)_{x} = \frac{2\pi k}{2\pi k} \left\{ (v, f_0)_0 - (f, w_0)_0 \right\}$$
$$= (F(k)f_1, F(k)f_0)_{x} = (F(k)f_1, x)_{x},$$

where (8.14) and Proposition 8.5 have been used. From (8.54), (8.56) and the denseness of D (8.46) is seen to be valid.

Q.E.D.

CHAPTER III

SPECTRAL REPRESENTATION

§9. The Green kernel

In this chapter the results obtained in the previous chapters will be combined to develop a spectral representation theory for the operator

(9.1)
$$L = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C(r)$$

given by (0.20) and (0.21). Throughout this section the potential Q(y) is assumed to satisfy Assumption 2.1.

Now we shall define the Green kernel G(r,s,k) $(r,s \in \overline{I} = [0,\infty), k \in \mathbb{C}^+)$ and investigate its properties. Let $s \in \overline{I}, x \in X$ and let $\mathcal{L}[s,x]$ be an anti-linear function on $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ defined by

(9.2)
$$< \ell[s,x], \phi > = (x,\phi(s))_{\chi}$$
 $(\phi \in H^{1}, B(I,\chi))$.

Then it follows from the estimate

$$(9.3) \qquad |\phi(S)|_{\chi} \leq \sqrt{2} \|\phi\|_{B} \qquad (\phi \in H_{0}^{1,B}(I,X)),$$

which is shown in Proposition 1.1, that $\ell[s,x] \in F_{\beta}(I,X)$ for any $\beta \ge 0$ and the estimate

(9.4)
$$||| \ell[s,x] |||_{\beta} \leq \sqrt{2} (1+s)^{\beta} |x|_{\chi}$$

is valid. Denote by $v = v(\cdot,k,s,x)$ the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell[s,x]\}$. Then, by the use of (1.8) in Proposition 1.3 and (2.7) in Theorem 2.3, we can easily show that

(9.5)
$$|v(r)|_{\chi} \leq C(1 + s)^{\circ} |x|_{\chi}$$
 (C = C(R,k), r ∈ [0,R], s ∈ I, x ∈ X)
for any $R \in I$. Therefore a bounded operator G(r,s,k) on X is well-defined by

(9.6)
$$G(r,s,k)x = v(r,k,s,x)$$
.

<u>DEFINITION 9.1</u>. (the Green kernel). The bounded operator G(r,s,k)(r,s $\in \overline{I}$, k $\in \mathbb{C}^+$) will be called the <u>Green kernel</u> for L.

The linearity of the operator G(r,s,k) directly follows from the linearity of $\mathcal{L}[s,x]$ with respect to x. Roughly speaking, G(r,s,k) satisfies

(9.7)
$$(L - k^2) G(r,s,k) = \delta(r - s)$$
,

the right-hand side denoting δ -function. The following properties of the Green kernel G(r,s,k) will be made use of further on.

PROPOSITION 9.2. Let Assumption 2.1 be satisfied.

(i) Then $G(\cdot,s,k)x$ is an $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ -valued continuous function on $\mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{C}^+ \times X$. Further, G(r,s,k)x is an X-valued function on $\mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{C}^+ \times X$, too.

(ii) G(0,r,k) = G(r,0,k) = 0 for any pair $(r,k) \in I \times \mathfrak{C}^+$.

(iii) Let $(s,k,x) \in \overline{I} \times \mathbb{C}^+ \times X$ and let J be an arbitrary open interval such that the closure of J contained in I - $\{s\}$. Then we have $G(\cdot,s,k)x \in D(J)$, where the definition of D(J) is given after the proof of Proposition 1.3.

(iv) Let R > 0 and let K be a compact set of C^+ . Then there exists C = C(R,K) such that

(9.8) $\|G(r,s,k)\| \leq C$ $(0 \leq r, s \leq R, k \in K)$,

where || || means the operator norm.

(v) We have for any triple $(r,s,k) \in \overline{I} \times \overline{I} \times \mathbb{C}^+$

(9.9)
$$G(r,s,k)^* = G(s,r,-\overline{k})$$
,

 $G(r,s,k)^*$ denoting the adjoint of G(r,s,k).

<u>PROOF</u>. Let us first show the continuity of $\mathcal{L}[s,x]$ in $F_{\beta}(I,X)$, $\beta \geq 0$, with respect to $s \in \overline{I}$ and $x \in X$. In fact we obtain from Proposition 1.1.

$$\begin{aligned} |<\ell[s,x] - \ell[s',x'], \ (1+r)^{\beta} \phi > | &= |(x, \ (1+s)^{\beta} \phi(s)_{\chi} - (x', \ (1+s')^{\beta} \phi(s')) \\ &\leq |(x - x', \ (1+s)^{\beta} \phi(s))_{\chi}| + \ (x', \ (1+s)^{\beta} (\phi(s) - \phi(s')))_{\chi}| \\ (9.10) &+ |(x', \ ((1+s)^{\beta} - (1+s')^{\beta}) \phi(s'))_{\chi}| \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \{\sqrt{2} | x - x' |_{\chi} (1+s)^{\beta} + |x' |_{\chi} (1+s)^{\beta} | s-s' |^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sqrt{2} |x' |_{\chi} | (1+s)^{\beta} - (1+s')^{\beta} | \} \|\phi\|_{\beta}$$

whence follows the continuity. By recalling that the radiative function v for {L,k, ℓ } is continuous both in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ and in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$ with respect to $R \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$, (i) follows immediately. Since $G(\cdot,s,k)x \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10C}$, we have G(0,s,k)x = 0 for all (s,k,x) $\overline{I} \times \mathbb{C}^+ \times X$, which means that G(0,s,k) = 0. On the other hand, $<\ell[0,x], \phi> = (x,\phi(0))_X = 0$ for all $\phi \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$, and hence $G(\cdot,0,k)x$ is the radiative function for {L,k,0}. Therefore $G(r,0,k)x \equiv 0$ by the uniqueness of the radiative function. Thus (ii) is completely proved. Let us show (iii). Take a real-valued, smooth function $\psi(r)$ on I such that $\psi(r) = 1$ on J and $\psi(r) = 0$ in a sufficiently small neighborhood of r = s. Then it is easy to see that $\hat{v}(r) = \psi(r)G(r,s,k)x - 2\psi'(r)\frac{d}{dr}G(r,s,k)x$. Proposition 1.3 can be made use of to show that $\hat{v} \in D(I)$, which means that $G(\cdot,s,k)x \in D(J)$. (iv) is obvious from (9.5). Let us enter into the proof of (v). Set v(t) = G(t,s,k)x and $w(t) = G(t,r,-\overline{k})x$ with $x,x' \in X$. Then, setting $\phi = \varphi_n w$ and $\varphi_n v$ in the relations

$$(9.11) \begin{cases} (v',\phi')_{0} + (B^{l_{2}}v, B^{l_{2}}\phi)_{0} + (v,(C - \overline{k})\phi)_{0} = (x,\phi(s))_{X}, \\ (\phi',w')_{0} + (B^{l_{2}}\phi, B^{l_{2}}w)_{0} + ((C - k^{2})\phi, w)_{0} = (\phi(r), x')_{X}, \end{cases}$$

respectively, and combining them, we arrive at

$$(9.12) \quad (x,w(s))_{\chi} - (v(r),x')_{\chi} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \varphi_{n}(t) \{ (v'(t),w(t))_{\chi} - (v(t),w'(t))_{\chi} \} dt$$

$$(n = 1,2,...),$$

where $\varphi_n(t) = \varphi(n(t-t_0))$, $\varphi(t)$ is a real-valued, smooth function on **R** such that $\varphi(t) = 1$ (t < 0), = 0 (t > 1), and t_0 is taken to satisfy $t_0 > \max(r,s)$. Let $n \neq \infty$ in (9.12) and take note of the fact that $\varphi'_n(t) \neq -\delta(t-t_0)$ as $n \neq \infty$. Then we have

$$(x,G(s,r,-\bar{k})x')_{\chi} - (G(r,s,k)x,x')_{\chi}$$

$$(9.13) = (v(t_0), w'(t_0) + i\bar{k}w(t_0))_{\chi} - (v'(t_0) - ikv(t_0), w(t_0))_{\chi}$$

$$(t_0 > max(r-s)) .$$

By making $t_0 \neq \infty$ along a suitable sequence $\{t_n\}$, the right-hand side of (9.13) tends to zero, whence follows that

$$(9.14) \qquad (x, \{G(s,r,-k) - G(r,s,k)^*\}x')_y = 0$$

for any $x, x' \in X$. Thus we have proved (V).

Q.E.D.

§10. The eigenoperators

The purpose of this section is to construct the eigenoperator n(r,k) ($r \in \overline{I}, k \in \mathbb{R}-\{0\}$) by the use of the Green kernel G(r,s,k) which was defined in §9. In this and the following sections Q(y) will be assumed to satisfy Assumption 5.1 which enables us to apply the results of Chapter II.

We shall first show some more properties of the Green kernel in addition to Proposition 9.2.

PROPOSITION 10.1. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Then the following estimate for the Green kernel

(10.1)
$$\|G(r,s,k)\| \leq \begin{cases} C_{1}(k) & (k \in \mathbb{C}^{+}, Imk > 0, r, s \in \overline{I}) \\ C_{2}(k)min\{(1+r)^{1+\beta}, (1+s)^{1+\beta}\} \\ (k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, r, s \in \overline{I}) \end{cases}$$

holds, where $\beta = \delta - \epsilon$ $(0 < \epsilon \le \frac{1}{2})$, = 0 $(\epsilon < \frac{1}{2} \le 1)$ and the constants $C_1(k)$ and $C_2(k)$ are bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\{k \in \mathbb{C}^+/Imk > 0\}$ and $\mathbf{R} - \{0\}$, respectively. Further

(10.2)
$$v(r,k,\ell [f]) = \int_{I} G(r,s,k)f(s)ds \quad (r \in \overline{I})$$

holds for any radiative function $v(\cdot,k,\ell[f])$ for $\{L,k,\ell[f]\}$ with $k \in \mathbf{C}^+$ and $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) Assume that $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ with Imk > 0. Then it follows from Lemma 2.7 that $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{G}(, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{k})\mathbf{x}$ (s T, x X) belongs to $H_0^{1,B}(\mathbf{I}, \mathbf{X})$. The first estimate of (10.1) is obtained from (9.3), (2.16) in Lemma 2.7 and (9.4) with $\beta=0$. Next assume that $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Applying (5.11) in Theorem (5.4) and using (9.4), we have $|G(r,s,k)x|_{x} \leq C(k)(1+S)^{1+\beta}|x|_{x}$, which implies that

$$(10.3)$$
 IG(r,s,k)I < C(1+s)^{1+β} (r,s∈Ī).

The second estimate of (10.1) follows from (10.3) and the relation $G(r,s,k)^* = G(s,r,-k)$ ((v) of Proposition 9.2). (ii) Let $f \in L_2(I,X)$ with compact support in \overline{I} and let $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$, Imk > 0. Then $u = G(\cdot,r,-\overline{k})x$ and the radiative function v for {L,k,l[f]} belong to $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$ and satisfy

(10.4)
$$\begin{cases} (u',\phi')_{0} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}u,B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi), + ((C-\overline{k})u,\phi)_{0} = (x,\phi(r))_{X}, \\ (\phi',v')_{0} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi,B^{\frac{1}{2}}v)_{0} + ((C-\overline{k}^{2})\phi,v)_{0} = (\phi,f)_{0}. \end{cases}$$

for $\phi \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)$. Set $\phi = v$ in the first relation of (10.4). Then, using the relation $G(s,r,-\overline{k})^{*=} G(r,s,k)$, we have

(10.5)
$$(x,v(r))_{x} = (u',v')_{0} + (B^{\frac{1}{2}}u,B^{\frac{1}{2}}v)_{0} + ((C - \overline{k}^{2})u,v)_{0}$$
$$= (G(\cdot,r,-k)x,f)_{0} = (x,\int_{I}G(r,s,k)f(s)ds)_{x}$$

whence (10.2) follows. Let f be as above and $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then we can approximate k by $\{k + \frac{i}{n}\}$ (n=1,2,...) to obtain (10.2), where we have made use of the continuity of the radiative function $v(\cdot,k,\mathfrak{A}[f])$ with respect to k and (9.8) in Proposition 9.2. Thus (10.2) has been established for $k \in \mathbb{C}^+$ and $f \in L_2(I,X)$ with compact support in \overline{I} . In the case that $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ we can approximate f by $\{f_n\}$, where $f_n \in L_2(I,X)$ with compact support in \overline{I} . Then, taking note of the continuity of the radiative function $v(\cdot,k,\mathfrak{A}[f])$ with respect to f and the estimate (10.1), we arrive at (10.2).

Q.E.D.

Let $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $s \in \overline{I}$, $x \in X$ and set v(r) = G(r,s,k)x. v is the radiative function for $\{L,k,\ell[s,x]\}$ and $\ell[s,x] \in F_{1+\beta}(I,X)$ with $|||\ell[s,x]|||_{1+\beta} \leq \sqrt{2} (1+s)^{1+\beta}|x|_{x}$, where β is given by (5.9). Therefore Theorem 5.3 can be applied to show the existence of the limit

(10.6)
$$F(k)\ell[s,x] = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r \cdot k)}v(r)$$
 in X.

It follows from Lemma 8.1 that

(10.7)
$$|F(k)\mathfrak{A}[s,x]| \leq C ||\mathfrak{A}[s,x]||_{\delta} = \sqrt{2} C(1+s)^{\delta} |x|_{X}$$

with C = C(k), and hence for each pair $(r,k) \in \overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\})$ a bounded linear operator n(r,k) on X is well-defined by

(10.8)
$$s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(t^*,k)}G(t,r,k)x - \eta(r,k)x \quad (x \in X)$$

<u>DEFINITION 10.2</u>. The bounded linear operator n(r,k) defined by (10.8) will be called the eigenoperator associated with L.

The appropriateness of this naming will be justified in the remainder of this section (especially in Theorem 10.4).

PROPOSITION 10.3. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Then we have

(10.9) s - lim G(r,s,-k)
$$e^{i\mu(s,k)}x = \eta^*(r,k)x$$

for any triple $(r,k,x) \in \overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X$, where $\mu(y,k)$ is defined by (5.8) and $\eta^*(r,k)$ is the adjoint of $\eta(r,k)$.

<u>PROOF</u>. Suppose that there exist r > 0, $k_0 \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $x_0 \in X$, $\beta_0 > 0$ and a sequence $\{s_n\}$ such that $s_n^{+\infty}$ and $|v_n(r_0) - n^*(r_0, k_0)x_0|_X \ge \beta_0$ holds for all n=1,2,..., where we set $v_n(r) = G(r,s, -k_0)e^{i\mu(s_n^*,k)}x_0$. By the use of the interior estimate $(Proposition 1.2) and (10.1) it can be seen that the sequence \\ \{ || v_n ||_{B,(0,R)} \} is bounded for each R > 0. By Theorem 1.5 (the Rellich theorem) there exists a subsequence <math>\{ w_p \}$ of $\{ v_n \}$ such that $\{ w_p \}$ is a Cauchy sequence of $L_2(I,X)_{10c}$. Make use of the interior estimate again. Then $\{ w_p \}$ is seen to be a Caucy sequence in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{10c}$. Therefore it follows from (1.8) that $\{ w_p(r_0) \}$ is a Cauchy sequence in X. Since $G(r_0,s,-k_0)e^{i\mu(s\cdot,k)}x_0$ converges to $n^*(r_0,k_0)x_0$ weakly in X by (10.8), $w_p(r_0)$ converges to $n^*(r_0,k_0)x_0$ strongly in X, which is a contradiction.

Q.E.D.

Let us summarize these results in the following

THEOREM 10.4. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied.

(i) Then

(10.10)
$$\eta(r,k)x = s - \lim_{s \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(s \cdot k)}G(s,r,k)x \quad in X,$$

and

(10.11)
$$\eta^*(r,k)x = s - \lim_{s \to \infty} G(r,s,-k)e^{i\mu(s^*,k)}x$$
 in X

for any triple $(r,k,x) \in \overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X$. We have

$$(10.12) || \eta(r,k) || = || \eta^*(r,k) || \leq C(1+r)^{\delta},$$

where $\| \|$ means the operator norm and C = C(k) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$.

(ii) The relation

(10.13)
$$2ik(n(s,k)x, = ({G(r,s,k) - G(r,s,-k)}x,x'),$$

107

holds for any $x, x' \in X$, $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ and $r, s \in \overline{I}$.

(iii) $\eta^*(\cdot,k)x \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc} \cap D(I)$ and satifies the equation

(10.14)
$$(L - k^2)v(r) = 0$$

where $r \in \mathbf{T}$, $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $x \in X$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) follows from (10.8), Proposition 11.3 and (10.7). Set in (8.12) $l_1 = l_{s,x}$, $l_2 = l_{r,x'}$, $v_1 = G(\cdot, s, k)x$ and $v_2 = G(\cdot, r, k)x$. Then, noting that $F(k)l_{s,x} = \eta(s,k)x$ and $F(k)l_{r,x} = \eta(r,k)x'$, we obtain,

$$(n(s,k)x, n(r,k)x)_{\chi} = \frac{1}{2ik} \left\{ \langle \overline{\mathcal{U}(r,x')}, \overline{G(\cdot,s,k)x} \rangle \\ - \langle \mathcal{U}(s,x), \overline{G(\cdot,r,k)x'} \rangle \right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2ik} \left\{ (G(r,s,k)x,x')_{\chi} - (x,G(s,r,k)x')_{\chi} \right\}$$

which, together with the relation $G(s,r,k)^* = G(r,s,-k)$, completes the proof of (ii). Let us show (iii). Set $v_s(r) = G(r,s,-k)e^{i\mu(s^*,k)}x$. $v_s(r)$ satisfies

(10.16)
$$(v_s, (L - k^2)\phi)_0 = (e^{i\mu(s \cdot ,k)}x,\phi(s))_x \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty} (I,X))$$
.

Let $\{s_n\}$, $s_n \in I$, be an arbitrary sequence such that $s_n^{+\infty}$ as $n \to \infty$. Then, as we have seen in the proof of Proposition 10.3, there exists a subsequence $\{t_p\}$ of $\{s_n\}$ such that $\{v_t_p\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L_2(I,X)$. This means $\{v_s\}$ itself converges to $n^*(\cdot,k)x$ in $L_2(I,X)_{loc}$. Letting $s \to \infty$ in (10.16), we arrive at

(10.17)
$$(\eta^*(\cdot,k)x, (L-k^2)\phi)_0 = 0 \quad (\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$$
.

Proposition 1.3 can be applied to show that $n^*(\cdot,k)x \in H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc} \cap D(I)$.

Q.E.D.

The following two theorems will show some relations between the eigenoperator and the operator F(k).

<u>THEOREM 10.5</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let F(k), $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, be as in §8. Then we have

(10.18)
$$F(k)f = s-\lim_{R\to\infty} \int_0^R \eta(r,k)f(r)dr$$
 in X

for any $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. In particular

(10.19)
$$F(k)f = \int_{I} n(r,k)f(r)dr$$

holds for $f \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$ with $\beta > \frac{1}{2} + \delta$, where the integral is absolutely convergent.

PROOF. Let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and define $f_R(r)$ by (10.20) $f_R(r) = \begin{cases} f(r) & (0 \le r \le R), \\ 0 & (r > R). \end{cases}$

Then it follows from Theorem 5.3 and (10.2) that

$$F(k)f_{R} = s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r^{*},k)}v(r,k,\ell[f_{R}])$$

$$= s - \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r^{*},k)}\int_{I} G(r,s,k)f_{R}(s)ds$$

(10.21)
$$= \int_{0}^{R} s - \lim_{r \to \infty} \left\{ e^{-i\mu(r^{*},k)}G(r,s,k)f(s) \right\} ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{R} \eta(s,k)f(s)ds ,$$

where we should note that we obtain from (10.3)

(10.22)
$$|G(r,s,k)f(s)|_{X} \leq C(k) (1+s)^{1+\beta}|f(s)|_{X}$$

and hence the dominated convergence theorem can be applied. Since f_R converges to f in $L_{2,\delta}(I.X)$ as $R \rightarrow \infty$ and F(k) is a bounded linear

operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X, (10.18) is obtained by letting $n \rightarrow \infty$ in (10.21). If $f \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$ with $\beta > \frac{1}{2} + \delta$, then it follows from (10.12) that $|n(s,k)f(s)|_{X}$ is integrable over I. Therefore we obtain (10.19) from (10.18).

Q.E.D.

THEOREM 10.6. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied.

(i) Let $k\in {\rm I\!R}$ - $\{0\}$. Then $\eta\star(\bullet,k)x\in L_{2,-\delta}^{}(I,X)$ for any $x\in X$ with the estimate

(10.23) $\|\eta^{*}(\cdot,k)x\|_{-\delta} \leq C|x|_{x}$ (x $\in X$),

where C = C(k) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. (ii) We have

(10.24)
$$(n^{*}(\cdot,k)x,f)_{0} = (x,F(k)f)_{x}$$

for any triple $(k,x,f) \in (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X \times L_2(I,X)$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) Let $g \in L_2(I,X)$ with compact support in \overline{I} . Then we obtain from Theorem 10.5

(10.25)
$$(F(k)g,x)_{x} = (\int_{I} n(r,k)g(r)dr, x)_{x}$$

= $\int_{I} (g(r), n^{*}(r,k)x)_{x} dr$

Set in (10.25) $g(r) = \chi_R(r)(1+r)^{-2\delta}n^*(r,k)x$, $\chi_R(r)$ being the characteristic function of (0,R). Then, noting that F(k) is a bounded operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X, we arrive at

$$\int_{0}^{R} (1+r)^{-2\delta} |n^{*}(r,k)x|_{x}^{2} dr = (F(k) \{ \chi_{R}(1+r)^{-2\delta} n^{*}(\cdot,k)x\}, x)_{x}$$

$$(10.26) \leq C(k) \|\chi_{R}(1+r)^{-2\delta} n^{*}(\cdot,k)x\|_{\delta} \|x\|_{x}$$

$$= C(k) \|n^{*}(\cdot,k)x\|_{-\delta}, (0,R)^{\|x\|_{x}},$$

which implies that

(10.27)
$$\|\eta^{*}(\cdot,k)x\|_{-\delta_{\gamma}}(0,R) \stackrel{\leq}{=} C(k) \|x\|_{x}$$

Since R>0 is arbitrary, (10.23) directly follows from (10.26). (ii) Let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Set in (10.25) $g(r) = \chi_R(r)f(r)$ and let R+ ∞ . Then, since $(f(r), \eta^*(r,k)x)_X$ is integrable over I by (10.23), we obtain (10.24), which completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

In order to show the continuity of $\eta(r,k)$ and $\eta^*(r,k)$ with respect to k we shall show

PROPOSITION 10.7. Let $x \in D$. Then we have

(10.28)
$$\eta^*(r,k)x = \frac{1}{2ik} \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r^*,k)}x - h(r,k,x)$$

($r \in \overline{I}, k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$),

where $\xi(\mathbf{r})$ is a real-valued smooth function on I such that $\xi(\mathbf{r}) = 0$ ($\mathbf{r} \leq 1$), = 1 ($\mathbf{r} \geq 2$), $\mu(\mathbf{y},\mathbf{k})$ is as in (5.8) and $h(\cdot,\mathbf{k},\mathbf{x})$ is the radiative function for {L, -k, \mathfrak{L} f]} with

(10.29) $f(r) = \frac{1}{2ik}(L - k^2)(\xi e^{i\mu(r \cdot k)}x)$.

111

<u>PROOF</u>. Let $w_0(r) = \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r^*,k)}x$ and $f_0=(L-k^2)w_0$ as in (8.30). Then $f_0 \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and w_0 is the radiative function for $\{L,k, \mathcal{Q}[f_0]\}$. Let $g \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X)$. Then, setting in (8.11) $f_1=f_0$, $f_2=g$ and making use of the fact that $F(k)f_0=x$ by Proposition 8.5, we have

(10.30)
$$(x,F(k)g)_{x} = \frac{1}{2ik} \{(w_{0},g)_{0} - (f_{0},v)_{0}\}.$$

with the radiative function for {L,k, &[g]}.

By (ii) of Theorem 10.6 the left-hand side of (10.30) can be rewritten as

(10.31)
$$(x,F(k)g)_{v} = (n^{*}(\cdot,k)x, g)_{0}$$

As for the second term of the right-hand side we have, by exchanging the order of integration,

$$(f_{0},v)_{0} = \int_{0}^{\infty} (f_{0}(r), \int_{0}^{\infty} G(r,s,k)g(s)ds)_{x}dr$$

$$(10.32) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (\int_{0}^{\infty} G(s,r,-k)f_{0}(r)dr, g(s))_{x}ds$$

$$= (2ikh(\cdot),g)_{0},$$

where we have used (10.2) repeatedly. (10.30) \sim (10.32) are combined to give

(10.33)
$$(n^*(\cdot,k)x,g)_0 = (\frac{1}{2ik}w_0 - h, g)_0$$
.

(10.29) follows from (10.33) because of the arbitrariness of $g \in C^{\infty}_{\Omega}(I,X)$.

Q.E.D.

<u>THEOREM 10.8</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be staisfied. Then $\eta(r,k)x$ and $\eta^*(r,k)x$ are strongly continuous X-valued functions on $\overline{I}x$ (**R** - {0}) xX.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let us first show the continuity of $n^*(r,k)x$. To this end it is sufficient to show that $n^*(r_n,k_n)x_n$ tends to $n^*(r,k)x$ strongly in X, where $r_n + r$ in T, $k_n + k$ in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $x_n + x$ in X as $n + \infty$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ given. Then, by the denseness of D and the estimate (10.12), there exists $x_0 \in D$ and a positive integer n_0 such that

(10.34)
$$\begin{cases} |\eta^{*}(r,k)x - \eta^{*}(r,k)x_{0}| < \varepsilon, \\ |\eta^{*}(r_{n},k_{n})x_{n} - \eta^{*}(r_{n},k_{n})x_{0}| < \varepsilon \end{cases}$$

for $n \ge n_0$. Therefore we have only to show that

(10.35)
$$s - \lim_{n \to \infty} \pi^*(r_n, k_n) x = \pi^*(r, k) x$$
 in X

for $x \in D$. In fact it follows from Proposition 10.7 that

(10.36)

$$\eta^{*}(r,k)x - \eta^{*}(r_{n},k_{n})x$$

$$= \frac{1}{2ik} \{\xi(r)e^{i\mu(r^{*},k)} - \xi(r_{n})e^{i\mu(r_{n},k_{n})\}x}$$

$$+ \{h(r_{n},k_{n},x) - h(r,k_{n},x)\}$$

$$+ \{h(r_{n},k_{n},x) - h(r_{n},k_{n},x)\}$$

Since $\mu(y,k)$ is continuous in (y,k) by (1) of Remark 5.9 and the definition of $\mu(y,k)$ (see (5.8)), the first term of the right-hand side of (10.36) tends to zero as $n \rightarrow \infty$. The second term of the right-hand side of (10.36) tends to zero because of the continuity of the radiative function h(r,k,x). It follows from (1) of Remark 5.9 that $(L-k_n^2)$ ($\xi e^{i\mu(r \cdot ,k_n)}x$) converges to $(L-k^2)$ ($\xi e^{i\mu(r \cdot ,k)}x$) in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$,

which implies that $h(\cdot,k_n,x)$ converges to $h(\cdot,k,x)$ in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{1oc}$. Since the convergence in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{1oc}$ means the uniform convergence in X on every finite interval [0,R] on \overline{I} , we have

(10.37)
$$s - \lim_{n \to \infty} \{h(r_n, k_n x) - h(r_n, k_n x)\} = 0$$
 in X.

Thus (10.35) has be proved. The proof of the continuity of $\eta(r,k)x$ is much easier. In fact, the continuity follows from the facts that

Q.E.D.

§11. Expansion Theorem

Now we are in a position to show a spectral representation theorem or an expansion theorem for the Schrödinger operator with a long-range potential. To this end the self-adjoint realization of $T = -\Delta + Q(y)$ should be defined and some of its spectral properties should be mentioned. Here let us note that these properties were never used in the previous sections (§1 - §10).

Let Q(y) be a real-valued, bounded and continuous function on \mathbb{R}^N . Then two symmetric operators h_0 and h in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ are defined by

(11.1)
$$\begin{cases} D(h_0) = D(h) = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) , \\ h_0 f = T_0 f = -\Delta f \\ hf = Tf = -\Delta f + Q(y)f . \end{cases}$$

As is well-known, h_0 is essentially self-adjoint in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with a unique self-adjoint extension H_0 defined by

(11.2)
$$\begin{cases} D(H_0) = H_2(\mathbb{R}^N), \\ H_0 f = T_0 f = -\Delta f. \end{cases}$$

where the differential operator T_0 should be considered in the distribution sense. Further, it is also well-known that we have

(11.3)
$$\sigma(H_0) = \sigma_{ac}(H_0) = 0,\infty)$$

115

Here $\sigma(H_0)$ is the spectrum of H_0 and $\sigma_{ac}(H_0)$ is the absolutely continuous spectrum.

<u>THEOREM 11.1</u>. Let Q(y) be a real-valued, continuous function on \mathbb{R}^{N} with $Q(y) \neq 0$ as $|y| \neq \infty$. Let h be as in (11.1). Then h is essentially self-adjoint in $L_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ with its unique self-adjoint extension H. We have

(11.4)
$$\begin{cases} D(H) = D(H_0) = H_2(\mathbb{R}^N) \\ Hf = Tf = -\Delta + Q(y)f \text{ (in the distribution sense).} \end{cases}$$

H is bounded below with the lower bound $k_0 \leq 0$ and $\sigma_e(H)$, the essential spectrum of H, is equal to $(0,\infty)$. Therefore on $[k_0,0)$ the continuous spectrum of H is absent, and the negative eigenvalues, if they exist, are of finite multiplicity and are discrete in the sense that they form an isolated set having no limit point other than the origin 0. There exists no positive eigenvalue of H.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let V = Q(y)x be a multiplication operator Q(y). Then V is a bounded operator on $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and h is rewritten as

(11.5) $h = h_0 + V$.

Since h_0 is essentially self-adjoint, h is also essentially selfadjoint with a unique self-adjoint extenstion $H = H_0 + V$ and the domain D(H) is equal to D(H_0) (see, e.g., Kato [1], p. 288, Theorem 4.4). V can be seen to be H_0 -compact, i.e., if $\{f_n\} \subset D(H_0)$ and $\{H_0f_n\}$ are bounded sequence in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, then the sequence $\{Vf_n\}$ is relatively compact in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. In fact this can be easily shown by the interior estimate and the Rellich theorem. Therefore the essential spectrum $\sigma_e(H)$ of $H = H_0 + V$ is equal to the essential spectrum $\sigma_e(H_0)$ of H_0 (see Kato [1], p. 244, Theorem 5.35). Finally we shall show the non-existence of the positive eigenvalues of H. Suppose that $\lambda > 0$ is an eigenvalue of H and let $\varphi \in H_2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be the eigenfunction associated with λ . Then $v = U\varphi$ is the radiative function for $\{L, \sqrt{\lambda}, 0\}$ and hence v = 0 by the uniqueness of the radiative function. This is a contradiction. Thus the non-existence of positive eigenvalues of H has been proved.

Q.E.D.

Set

(11.6) $\begin{cases} M_0 = UH_0U^*, \\ M = UHU^*, \end{cases}$

where U is defined by (0.19). M_0 and M are self-adjoint operators in $L_2(I,X)$ with the same domain $UH_2(IR^N)$ and are unitarily equivalent to H_0 and H, respectively. Let $E(\cdot;M)$ be the spectral measure associated with M. We shall be mainly interested in the structure of the spectrum of M on $(0,\infty)$, because the spectrum on $(-\infty,0)$ is discrete.

<u>PROPOSITION 11.2</u>. Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let J be a compact interval in $(0,\infty)$ and let $f,g \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Then

(11.7)

$$(E(J;M)f,g)_{0} = \int_{\sqrt{J}} \frac{2k^{2}}{\pi} (F(k)f, F(k)g)_{\chi} dk$$

$$= \int_{\sqrt{J}} \frac{2k^{2}}{\pi} (F(-k)f, F(-k)g)_{\chi} dk$$

where $\sqrt{J} = \{k > 0/k^2 \in J\}$ and F(k) is given by Definition 8.2.

<u>PROOF</u>. We denote the resolvent of M by R(z;M), i.e., $R(z;M) = (M - Z)^{-1}$. Let us note that $R(z;M)f = v(\cdot,\sqrt{z},\ell[f])$ for $z \in \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{R}$ and $f \in L_2$, (I,X). Here \sqrt{z} is the square root of z with $I_m\sqrt{z} \ge 0$ and $v(\cdot,\sqrt{z},\ell[f])$ is the radiative function for $\{L,\sqrt{z},\ell[f]\}$. In fact this follows from the uniqueness of the radiative function and the fact that $R(z;M)f \in UH_2(\mathbf{R}^N)$. Moreover let us note that

lim R($k^2 \pm ib$; M)f = v(·, ± |k|, $\ell[f]$) in L_{2,- δ}(I,X) (11.8)

$$(k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)),$$

which follows from the continuity of the radiative function with respect to $k \in \mathbf{C}^+$. Then from the well-known formula

$$(E(J;M)f,g)_{0}$$

$$(11.9) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{b \neq 0} \int_{J} \{ (R(A + ib;M)f,g)_{0} - (f,R(a + ib;M)g)_{0} \} da$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{b \neq 0} \int_{J} \{ (f,R(a - ib;M)g)_{0} - (R(a - ib;M)f,g)_{0} \} da$$

it follows that

$$(E(J;M)f,g)_{0}$$

$$(11.10) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{J} \{(v(\cdot,\sqrt{a},\ell[f]),g)_{0} - (f,v(\cdot,\sqrt{a},\ell[g]))_{0}\} da$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{J} \{(f,v(\cdot,-\sqrt{a},\ell[g]))_{0} - (v(\cdot,-\sqrt{a},\ell[f]),g)_{0}\} da$$

By the use of (8.14) in Theorem 8.4 (11.7) follows from (11.10).

Let us set
(11.11)
$$F_{\pm}(k) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} ikF(\pm k)$$
 $(k > 0)$.

<u>COROLLARY 11.3</u>. (i) $E((0,\infty);M)M$ is an absolutely continuous operator, i.e.,

$$\sigma_{ac}(M) \supset (0,\infty) .$$

(ii)
$$F_{\pm}(\cdot)f \in L_{2}(0,\infty), X, dk$$
 for $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ with the estimate
(11.13) $\int_{0}^{\infty} |F_{\pm}(k)f|^{2}_{X} dk = ||E((0,\infty);M)f||^{2}_{0} \leq ||f||^{2}_{0}$.

<u>PROOF</u>. Obvious from (11.7) and the denseness of $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$.

Q.E.D.

<u>DEFINITION 11.4</u>. The generalized Fourier transforms F_{\pm} from $L_2(I,X) = L_2(I,X,dr)$ into $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$ by

(11.14)
$$(F_{\pm}f)(k) = 1.i.m. F_{\pm}(k)f_{R}$$
 in $L_{2}((0,\infty),X,dk)$

for $f \in L_2(I,X)$, where $f_R(r) = \chi_R(r)f(r)$ and $\chi_R(r)$ is the characteristic function of the interval (0,R).

It follows from Corollary 11.3 that F_{\pm} are bounded linear operators from $L_2(I,X)$ into $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$. F_{\pm}^* denote the adjoint operators from $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$ into $L_2(I,X)$. By the use of the relation between F(k) and $\eta(r,k)$. Let us set

(11.15)
$$n_{\pm}^{*}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k}) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} i k n^{*}(\mathbf{r},\pm\mathbf{k})$$
$$n_{\pm}^{*}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k}) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} i k n^{*}(\mathbf{r},\pm\mathbf{k})$$

Q.E.D.

for $r \in \overline{I}$, k > 0.

PROPOSITION 11.5. Let Assumption 5.1, (5.4) and (5.5) be satisfied. Let F_+ be as above.

(i) Then F_{\pm} and F_{\pm} are represented as follows:

(11.16) $(F_{\pm}f)(k) = 1.i.m. \int_{0}^{R} n_{\pm}^{L}(r,k)f(r)dr$ in $L_{2}((0,\infty),X,dk)$ (11.17) $(F_{\pm}^{*}F)(k) = 1.i.m. \int_{R+\infty}^{R} n_{\pm}^{*}(r,k)F(k)dk$ in $L_{2}(I,X)$,

where $f \in L_2(I,X)$ and $F \in L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$.

(ii) Let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$. Then for each k > 0

(11.18)
$$(F_{\pm}f)(k) \approx s - \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{0}^{R} \eta_{\pm}(r,k)f(r)dr \text{ in } X.$$

In particular, if $f \in L_{2,\beta}(I,X)$ with $\beta > \frac{1}{2} + \delta$, the integral of the right-hand side of (11.18) is absolutely convergent.

<u>PROOF</u>. Let $f_R(r) = \chi_R(r)f(r)$ with the characteristic function $x_p(r)$ of (0,R). Then it follows from (10.19) in Theorem 10.5 that

(11.19)
$$F_{\pm}(k)f_{R} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} ikF(\pm ik)f = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}ik \int_{I} \eta(r,\pm k)f_{R}(r)dr$$
$$= \int_{0}^{R} \eta_{\pm}(r,k)f(r)dr ,$$

which, together with the definition of $F_{\pm}f((11.14))$, proves (11.16). In order to prove (11.17) it suffices to show

(11.20)
$$(F_{\pm}^{*}F)(r) = \int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}^{*}(r,k)F(k)dk$$

for $F \in L_2((0,\infty), X, dk)$ with compact support in $(0,\infty)$, because F_{\pm} are bounded linear operators from $L_2((0,\infty), X, dk)$ into $L_2(I, X)$. Denoting the inner product of $L_2((0,\infty), X, dk)$ by $(,)_0$ again, we have for any $f \in C_0^{\infty}(I, X)$.

$$(F_{\pm}F,f)_{0} = (F, \pm f)_{0}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} (F(k), \int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}(r,k)f(r)dr)_{\chi}dk$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} | \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}^{*}(r,k)F(k)dk, f(r)_{\chi}dr \right)$$

$$= \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}^{*}(\cdot,k)F(k)dk, f \right)_{0},$$

which implies (11.17). Here it should be noted that the integrals $\int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}^{*}(r,k)F(k)dk$ and $\int_{0}^{\infty} n_{\pm}(r,k)f(r)dr$ are continuous in r and in k, respectively, because of Theorem 10.8. (ii) directly follows from Theorem 10.5 and Definition 11.4.

Q.E.D.

Thus we arrive at

<u>THEOREM 11.6</u> (Spectral Representation Theorem). Let Assumption 5.1 be satisfied. Let B be an arbitrary Borel set in $(0,\infty)$. Then

(11.21)
$$E(B;M) = F_{\pm}^{*} \chi_{\overline{B}} F_{\pm}$$

where χ is the characteristic function of $\sqrt{B} = \{k > 0/k^2 \in B\}$. In particular we have

(11.22)
$$E(0,\infty);M) = F_{+}^{*}F_{+}$$
.

<u>PROOF</u>. It suffices to show (11.21) when B is a compact interval J in $(0,\infty)$. From (11.7) it follows that

$$(E(J;M)f,g)_{0} = \int_{\sqrt{J}} ((F_{\pm}f)(k), (F_{\pm}g)(k))_{\chi} dk$$

(11.23)
$$= (\chi_{\sqrt{J}}(F_{\pm}f)(\cdot), (F_{\pm}g)(\cdot))_{0}$$

$$= (F_{\pm}^{*}\chi_{\sqrt{J}}F_{\pm}f,g)_{0}$$

for $f,g \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, which implies that

121

(11.24)
$$E(J;M)f = F_{\pm}^{*} \chi_{J} F_{\pm}f \quad (f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X))$$

Since E(J;M) and $F_{\pm} \propto F_{\pm}$ are bounded linear operators on $L_2(I,X)$ and $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ is dense in $L_2(I,X)$, (11.21) follows from (11.24).

Q.E.D.

In order to discuss the orthogonality of the generalized Fourier transforms F_+ , some properties of F_+ will be shown.

<u>PROPOSITION 11.7</u>. Let F_{\pm} be the generalized Fourier transforms associated with M.

(i) Then

(11.25) $F_{\pm}E(B;M) = \chi \sqrt{B} F_{\pm}$,

(11.26) $F_{\pm}E((0,\infty);M) = F_{\pm}$

(11.27) $E(B;M)F_{\pm}^{*} = F_{\pm}^{*}\chi_{\sqrt{B}}$

(11.28)
$$E((0,\infty);M)F_{\pm}^* = F_{\pm}^*,$$

where B and $\chi_{\overline{D}}$ are as in Theorem 11.6.

(ii) $F_{L_2}(I,X)$ are closed linear subspace in $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$.

(iii) The following three condition (a), (b), (c) about F_{+} (F_) are equivalent:

(a) $F_{(F_{n})}$ maps $E((0,\infty);M)L_{2}(I,X)$ onto $L_{2}((0,\infty),X,dk)$.

- (b) $F_+F_+^*=1$ ($F_-F_-^*=1$), where 1 means the identity operator.
- (c) The null space of $F_{+}(F_{-})$ consists only of 0.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) Let us show (11.25). Let $f \in L_2(I,X)$. Then

$$K = \|F_{\pm}E(B;M)f - \chi F_{\pm}f\|_{0}^{2}$$

$$(11.29) = \|F_{\pm}E(B;M)f\|_{0}^{2} + \|\chi_{\sqrt{B}}F_{\pm}f\|_{0}^{2} - 2Re(F_{\pm}E(B;M)f, \chi_{\sqrt{B}}F_{\pm}f)$$
$$= J_{1} + J_{2} - 2ReJ_{3}.$$

From (11.21) and the relations

(11.30)
$$E(B;M)^2 = E((0,\infty);M)E(B;M) = E(B;M)$$

we can easily see that $J_1 = J_2 = J_3$, and hence K = 0, which completes the proof of (11.25). (11.26)-(11.28) immediately follows from (11.25). (ii) Assume that the sequence $\{F_+f_n\}$, $f_n \in L_2(I,X)$, be a Cauchy sequence in $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$. By taking account of (11.26) f_n may be assumed to belong to $E((0,\infty);M)L_2(I,X)$. Then $\{F_+^*F_+f_n\}$ is a Cauchy sequence, since F_+^* is a bounded operator. Thus, by noting that $F_+^*F_+f_n = E((0,\infty);M)f_n = f_n$, the sequence $\{f_n\}$ itself is a Cauchy sequence in $L_2(I,X)$ with the limit $f \in L_2(I,X)$. Therefore the sequence $\{F_+f_n\}$ has the limit F_+f , which means the closedness of $F_+L_2(I,X)$ in $L_2((0,\infty),X,dk)$. The closedness of $F_-L_2(I,X)$ can be proved quite in the same way. (iii) By the use of (i) and (ii) the equivalence of (a), (b), (c) can be shown in an elementary and usual way, and hence the proof will be left to the readers.

Q.E.D.

When the generalized Fourier transform F_+ or F_- satisfies one of the conditions (a), (b), (c) in Proposition 11.7, it is called *orthogonal*. The notion of the orthogonality is important in scattering theory.

<u>THEOREM 11.8</u> (orthogonality of F_{\pm}). Let Assumptions 5.1, (5.4), and (5.5) be satisfied. Then the generalized Fourier transforms are orthogonal.

123

<u>PROOF</u>. We shall show that F_{\pm} satisfy (c) in Proposition 11.7. Suppose that $F_{\pm}^{*}F = 0$ with some $F \in L_{2}((0,\infty), X, dk)$. We have only to show that F = 0. Let $B = (a^{2}, b^{2})$ with $0 < a < b < \infty$. Then, using (11.27), we obtain from $E(B;M)F_{\pm}^{*}F = 0$

(11.31)
$$F^*_{\chi}F = 0$$
,

which, together with (11.17), gives

(11.32)
$$\int_{a}^{b} n_{+}^{*}(r,k)F(k)dk = 0.$$

Since a and b can be taken arbitrarily, it follows that there exists a null set e in $(0,\infty)$ such that

(11.33)
$$\eta_{+}^{*}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k})F(\mathbf{k}) = 0$$
 or $\eta_{-}^{*}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k})F(\mathbf{k}) = 0$ ($\mathbf{r} \notin \overline{\mathbf{I}}, \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{e}$),

where we have made use of the continuity of $n_{+}^{*}(r,k)F(k)$ in $r \in I$ (Theorem 10.8). Let $x \in D$ and take $f_{0}(r)$ as in (8.30). Then, noting that $F(k)f_{0} = x$ by Proposition 8.5 and using (ii) of Theorem 10.6, we have

$$(F(k),x)_{\chi} = (F(k), F(k)f_0)_{\chi}$$

(11.34)
= (η^{*}(⋅,k)F(k), f_0)_0 = 0 (k ∉ e, x ∈ D)

whence follows that F(k) = 0 for almost all $k \in (0,\infty)$ i.e., F = 0in $L_2((0,\infty), X, dk)$. The orthogonality of F_2 can be proved quite in the same way.

Q.E.D.

Finally we shall translate the expansion theorem, Theorem 11.6 for the operator M into the case of the Schrödinger operator H. Let us define the generalized Fourier transforms \tilde{F}_{\pm} associated with H by

124

(11.35)
$$\tilde{F}_{\pm} = U_{k}^{-1} F_{\pm} U_{k}$$

where $U_k = k^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \times is$ a unitary operator from $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N, d\xi)$ onto $L_2((0,\infty), X, dk \cdot \tilde{F}_{\pm}$ are bounded linear operators from $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N, dy)$ into $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N, d\xi)$. If the bounded operators $\tilde{n}_{\pm}(r, k)$ and $\tilde{n}_{\pm}^*(r, k), r \in I, k > 0$, on X are defined by

(11.36)
$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{n}_{\pm}(r,k) = r^{-(N-1)/2} k^{-(N-1)/2} n_{\pm}(r,k) , \\ \widetilde{n}_{\pm}^{*}(r,k) = r^{-(N-1)/2} k^{-(N-1)/2} n_{\pm}^{*}(r,k) , \end{cases}$$

then we have

$$(\widetilde{F}_{\pm}\phi)(\xi) = 1.i.m. \int_{0}^{R} (\widetilde{n}_{\pm}(r,k)\phi(r\cdot))(\omega')dr \quad \text{in } L_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N},d\xi)$$

$$(\widetilde{F}_{\pm}^{*}\Psi)(y) = 1.i.m. \int_{R^{+\infty}}^{R} (\widetilde{n}_{\pm}^{*}(r,k)\Psi(k\cdot))(\omega)dk \quad \text{in } L_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N},dy)$$

where \tilde{F}_{\pm}^{*} are the adjoint of \tilde{F}_{\pm} and $y = r\omega$, $\xi = k\omega'$. Let $E(\cdot;H)$ be the spectral measure associated with H. Then we have from Theorems 11.6 and 11.8.

<u>THEOREM 11.9</u>. Let Assumption 5.1, (5.4) and (5.5) be satisfied. Let B be an arbitrary Borel set in $(0,\infty)$. Then the generalized Fourier transforms \tilde{F}_{\pm} , defined as above, map $E((0,\infty);H)L_2(\mathbb{R}^N,dy)$ onto $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N,d\xi)$ and

(11.38)
$$E(B;H) = \widetilde{F}_{\pm}^{*} \widetilde{\chi} \widetilde{F}_{\pm},$$

where $\tilde{\chi}_{\sqrt{B}}$ is the characteristic function of the set $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N / |\xi|^2 \in B\}$.

125

§12. The General Short-Range Case-

In this section we shall consider the case that the short-range potential Q_1 is a general short-range potential, i.e., $Q_1(y) = O(|y|^{-1-\varepsilon})$. Throughout this section we shall assume

<u>ASSUMPTION 12.1</u>. The potential $Q(y) = Q_0(y) + Q_1(y)$ satisfies (Q), (Q_1) in Assumption 2.1. Further, $Q_0(y)$ is assumed to satisfy (\tilde{Q}_0) in Theorem 5.1.

Then all the results of Chapter I and §9 of Chapter III are valid in the present case. Therefore the limiting absorption principle holds good and the Green kernel G(r,s,k) is well-defined. In order to make use of the results of Chapter II and §10 - §11 of Chapter III, we shall approximate $Q_1(y)$ by a sequence $\{Q_{ln}(y)\}$ which satisfies $|Q_{ln}(y)| = O(|y|^{-\varepsilon_1})$ (n=1,2,...) with a constant $\varepsilon_1 > \max(2 - \varepsilon, \frac{3}{2})$. To this end let us define $Q_{ln}(y)$ by

(12.1)
$$Q_{1n}(y) = \varphi(|y| - n)Q_1(y)$$
 (n=1,2,...),

where $\varphi(t)$ is a real-valued continuous function on \mathbb{R} such that $\varphi(t) = 1$ ($t \leq 0$), = 0 ($t \geq 1$), and let us set

(12.2)
$$\begin{cases} T_n = -\Delta + Q_0(y) + Q_1(y) , \\ L_n = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C_0(r) + C_{1n}(r) \quad (C_{1n}(r) = Q_{1n}(r\omega)x) . \end{cases}$$

Since the support of $Q_{1n}(y)$ is compact, all the result in the preceding sections can be applied to L_n . According to Definition 8.3,

 $F_n(k)$, $R \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, is well-defined as a bounded linear operator from $F_{\delta}(I,X)$ into X. The eigenoperator $n(r,k)(r \in \overline{I}, k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\})$ is also well-defined. Here we should note that the stationary modifier $\lambda(y,k)$ and its kernel Z(y,k) are common for all L_n , $n=1,2,\ldots$, because the long-range potential $Q_n(y)$ is independent of n.

We shall first show that an operator F(k) associated with L is well-defined as the strong limit of $F_n(k)$ and that F(k) satisfies all the properties obtained in §8.

<u>PROPOSITION 12.2</u>. Let Assumption 12.1 be satisfied. Let $F_n(k)(k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, n=1,2,...)$ be the bounded linear operator from $F_s(I,X)$ into X defined as above.

(i) Then the operator norm $||F_n(k)||$ is uniformly bounded when n=1,2,... and k moves in a compact set in \mathbb{R} -{0}. For each $k \in \mathbb{R}$ -{0}, there exists a bounded linear operator F(k) from $F_{\delta}(I,X)$ into X such that

(12.3)
$$F(k)\ell = s - \lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(k)\ell \quad (\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X))$$

in X. ||F(k)|| is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$.

(ii) F(k) satisfies (8.12) for any $\ell_1, \ell_2 \in F_{\delta}(I, X)$, i.e., we have

(12.4)
$$(F(k)\ell_1,F(k)\ell_2)_x = \frac{1}{2ik} \{\langle \ell_2, \nu_1 \rangle - \langle \ell_1, \nu_2 \rangle \},$$

 $v_j(j = 1,2)$ being the radiative function for {L,k, v_j }. (8.13)-(8.15) are also satisfied by F(k).

(iii) Let $x \in D$ and let $f_0(r)$ be as in (8.30), i.e., $f_0(r) = (L - k^2)(\xi e^{i\mu(r^*,k)}x)$ with $\xi(r)$ defined by (5.36) and $\mu(y,k)$ defined by (5.8). Then

(12.5)
$$F(k)f_0 = x$$
,

where we set $F(k)\mathcal{L}[f_0] = F(k)f_0$.

(iv) As an operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X, F(k) is a **B** $(L_{2,\delta}(I,X),X)$ -valued continuous function on \mathbb{R} - $\{0\}$. Further, for each $k \in \mathbb{R}$ - $\{0\}$ F(k) is a compact operator from $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ into X.

(v) Let
$$f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$$
 and let $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then

(12.6)
$$F(k)f = s - \lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-i\mu(r_n, k)}v(r_n)$$
 in X,

where v is the radiative function for {L,k, $\ell[f]$ } and {r_n} is a sequence such that $r_n^{+\infty}$ and $v'(r_n) - ikv(r_n) \neq 0$ in X as $n \neq \infty$.

PROOF. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 8.4 we obtain

(12.7)
$$(F_n(k)\ell, F_p(k)\ell)_{\chi} = \frac{1}{2ik} \{ \langle \overline{\ell, v_n} \rangle - \langle \ell, v_p \rangle + (\{c_{1n} - c_{1p}\}v_n, v_p)_0 \}$$

for $\ell \in F_{\delta}(I,X)$ and n,p=1,2,..., where $v_n(v_p)$ is the radiative function for $\{L_n,k,\ell\}$ ($\{L_p,k,\ell\}$. Set p = n in (12.7) and make use of Theorem 4.5. Then we have

(12.8)
$$|F_{n}(k)\ell|_{x}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{|R|} |||\ell|||_{\delta} ||V_{n}||_{B,-\delta} \leq C^{2} |||\ell|||_{\delta}^{2}$$

with C = C(k) which is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, where $\|\|_{B,-\delta}$ is the norm of $H^{1,B}_{0,-\delta}(I,X)$. On the other hand we obtain from (12.7)

$$|F_{n}(k)\ell - F_{p}(k)\ell|_{x}^{2} = |F_{n}(k)\ell|_{x}^{2} + |F_{p}(k)\ell|_{x}^{2} - 2Re(F_{n}(k)\ell,F_{p}(k)\ell)$$
(12.9)
$$= -\frac{1}{k}I_{m}(\{C_{1n} - C_{1p}\}v_{n},v_{p})_{0} + 0$$

as $n, p \rightarrow \infty$, because by Theorem 4.5 both v_n and v_p converge to the

radiative function v for {L,k,L} in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ and $C_{1n}(r) - C_{1p}(r)$ satisfies

$$\|C_{1n}(r) - C_{1p}(r)\| = |\varphi(r-n) - \varphi(r-p)| \|C_1(r)\| < c_0(1+r)^{-\varepsilon_1} (r \in \overline{I})$$
(12.9)

(n, p + a)

Therefore the strong limit $F(k)\mathcal{L} = s-\lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(k)$ exists in X and we have the estimate $||F(k)|| \leq C$, where C is as in (12.8), whence (i) follows. (12.4) immediately follows by letting $n \to \infty$ in the relation

(12.11)
$$(F_n(k)\ell_1, F_n(k)\ell_2)_x = \frac{1}{2ik} \{\langle \overline{\ell_2, v_{n1}} \rangle - \langle \ell_1, v_{n2} \rangle \},$$

 v_{nj} , j=1,2, being the radiative function for $\{L_n, k, \ell_j\}$ and Theorem 4.5 being made use of. Thus (ii) has been proved. Let us show (iii). Set

(12.12)
$$f_{0n}(r) = (L_n - k^2)(\xi e^{i\mu(r\cdot,k)}x)$$
 (n=1,2,...)

Then it follows from Proposition 8.5 that

(12.13)
$$F_n(k)f_{0n}(r) = x$$
 (n=1,2,...)

Further, it is easy to see from (5.20) in Lemma 5.5 that

(12.14)
$$f_{0n} + f_0 \quad (n + \infty) \quad \text{in } L_{2,\delta(I,X)}$$

(12.5) is obtained by letting $n \neq \infty$ in (12.13) and using (i) and (12.14) Re-examining the proof of Theorems 8.6 and 8.7, we can see that (iv) and (v) are obtained by proceeding as in the proof of Theorems 8.6 and 8.7, respectively. This completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

Let us now define the eigenoperator n(r,k) associated with L by (12.15) $n(r,k)x = F(k)\ell[r,x]$ ($r \in \overline{T}$, $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, $x \in X$), where $\ell[r,x]$ is as in (9.2), i.e., $<\ell[r,x],\phi> = (x,\phi(r))_{\chi}$ for $\phi \in H^{1,B}_{0}(I,X)$. At the same time, as will be shown in the following proposition, $\eta(r,k)$ can be defined as the strong limit of the eigen-operator $\eta_n(r,k)$ associated with L_n .

<u>PROPOSITION 12.3</u>. Let Assumption 12.1 be satisfied. Let n(r,k) be the eigenoperator associated with L.

(i) Then for each $(r,k) \in \overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\})$ $\eta(r,k)$ is a bounded

(12.16)
$$||\eta(r,k)|| \leq C(1 + r)^{\circ}$$
 $(r \in \overline{I})$

with C = C(k) which is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. $\eta(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{k}) \mathbf{x}$ is an X-valued, continuous function on $\mathbb{T} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X$.

(ii) We have

(12.17)
$$2ik(n(s,k)x,n(r,k)x')_{x} = ({G(r,s,k) - G(r,s,-k)}x,x')_{x}$$

for any $x, x' \in X$, $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, and $r, s \in \overline{I}$.

(iii) The operator norm $\|n_n(r,k)\|$ is estimated as (12.18) $\|n_n(r,k)\| \leq C(1+r)^{\delta}$ ($r \in \overline{I}, n=1,2,...$) with C = C(k) which is bounded when R moves in a compact set in

 $\mathbb{R} = \{0\}$. Further, we have

(12.19)
$$\eta(r,k)x = s - \lim_{n \to \infty} \eta(r,k)x$$
 in X

for any triple $(r,k,x) \in \overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X$.

(iv) Let $f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$ and let $k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then

(12.20)
$$F(k)f = s - \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{0}^{R} \eta(r,k)f(r)dr$$
 in X.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) and (ii) can be easily obtained by proceeding as in the proof of Theorems 10.4 and 10.8. Since we have

(12.21)
$$n_n(r,k)x = F_n(k)\hat{z}[s,k]$$
,

the uniform boundedness of $\|n_n(r,k)\|$ and the strong convergence of $n_n(r,k)x$ to n(r,k)x follows from Proposition 12.2. Let us show (iv). It is sufficient to show

(12.22)
$$F(k)f = \int_{I} n(r,k)f(r)dr$$

for $f \in L_2(I,X)$ with compact support in \overline{I} . Applying Theorem 10.5 to L_n , we obtain

(12.23)
$$F_n(k) = \int_I n_n(r,k)f(r)dr$$
,

whence (12.22) follows by letting $n \rightarrow \infty$.

Let $\eta^*(r,k)$ be the adjoint of $\eta(r,k)$. Almost all the results with respect to $\eta^*(r,k)$ obtained in §10 are also valid for our $\eta^*(r,k)$.

<u>PROPOSITION 12.4</u>. Let Assumption 12.1 be satisfied. Let $n^*(r,k)$ be as above and let $n^*_n(r,k)$ be the adjoint of the eigen-operator $n_n(r,k)$ associated with L_n .

(i) Let $R\in {\rm I\!R}-\{0\}$. Then $n^*(\cdot,k)x\in L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ for any $x\in X$ with the estimate

(12.24)
$$\|n^{*}(\cdot,k)x\|_{-\delta} \leq C|x|_{X}$$
 (x $\in X$),

where C = C(k) is bounded when k moves in a compact set in $\mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. We have

$$(\eta^{\star}(\cdot,k)x,f)_{0} = (x,F(k)f)_{y}$$

(12.25)

$$(k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, x \in X, f \in L_{2,k}(I,X))$$

(ii) Let $x \in D$. Then

(12.26)
$$\eta^*(r,k)x = \frac{1}{2ik} \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r\cdot,k)}x - h(r,k,x)$$

where $\xi(\mathbf{r})$ is as in Proposition 10.7 and $h(\cdot,k,x)$ is the radiative function for $\{L,-k,\ell[f_0]\}$ with

(12.27)
$$f_0(r) = \frac{1}{2ik} (L - k^2) (\xi e^{i\mu(r \cdot k)} x)$$

(iii) There exists C = C(k), which is bounded when k moves in a compact set in \mathbb{R} -{0}, such that

(12.28)
$$\| n_n^{\star}(\cdot, k) x \|_{-\delta} \leq C \| x \|_{X} \quad (x \in X) .$$

{n_n^*(\cdot,k)x} converges to $n^*(\cdot,k)x$ in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X) \cap H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc}$ for each $x \in X$.

(iv) $\eta^*(\cdot,k) \times H^{1,B}(I,X)_{loc} \cap D(I)$ and satisfies the equation (I2.29) (L - k^2)v(r) = 0 (r \in \overline{I}, k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, x \in X).

 $\eta^*(r,k)x$ is an x-valued, continuous function on $\overline{I} \times (\mathbb{R} - \{0\}) \times X$.

<u>PROOF</u>. (i) and (ii) can be obtained by proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 10.6 and Proposition 10.7, respectively. Let us turn into the proof of (iii). The uniform boundedness of $\|n_n(\cdot,k)x\|_{-\delta}$ follows from the relation

(12.30)
$$(\eta_n^*(\cdot,k)x,f)_0 = (x,F_n(k)f)_x$$

$$(f \in L_{2,\delta}(I,X), n = 1,2,...)$$

and the uniform boundedness of $||F_n(k)||$. Now that (10.28) has been established, in order to show the convergence of $\{n_n^*(\cdot,k)x\}$ to $n^*(\cdot,k)x$ in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ it is sufficient to show for $x \in D$

(12.31)
$$\eta_n^*(\cdot,k)x \neq \eta^*(\cdot,k)x \quad (k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\})$$

in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$. Applying Proposition 10.7 to L_n , we have

(12.32)
$$n_n^*(r,k)x = \frac{1}{2ik} \xi(r)e^{i\mu(r\cdot,k)}x - h_n(r,k,x)$$

for $x \in D$, $(r,k) \in \overline{I} \times \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$, where $h_n(\cdot,k,x)$ is the radiative function for $\{L_n, -k, \mathcal{L}[f_n]\}$ and $f_{0,n} = (L_n - k^2)(\xi e^{i\mu(r^*,k)}x)$. Since $\{f_{0,n}\}$ can be easily seen to converge to $f_0 = (L - k^2)(\xi e^{i\mu(r^*,k)}x)$ in $L_{2,\delta}(I,X)$, Theorem 4.5 is applied to show that $\{h_n(\cdot,k,x)\}$ converges to $h(\cdot,k,x)$ in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$, which implies (10.31). Noting that $n_n^*(r,k)x$ satisfies the equation $(L_n - k^2)v = 0$, we make use of the interior estimate and the convergence of $\{n_n^*(\cdot,k)x\}$ in $L_{2,-\delta}(I,X)$ to show the convergence of $\{n_n^*(\cdot,k)x\}$ in $H_0^{1,B}(I,X)_{1oc}$, which completes the proof of (iii). We have

$$(n^{*}(\cdot,k)x, (L - k^{2})\phi)_{0} = 0$$

 $(k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, x \in X, \phi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(I,X))$

(12.33)

(12.34)

by letting
$$n \rightarrow \infty$$
 in the relation

$$(n_n^*(\cdot,k)x, (L_n - k^2)\phi)_0 = 0$$

 $(n=1,2,\ldots,k \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}, x \in X, \phi \in C_0^{\infty}(I,X))$.

The first half of (iv) follows from (10.31) and Proposition 1.3. The continuity of $n^*(r,k)x$ can be shown in quite the same way as in the proof of Theorem 10.8, which completes the proof.

Q.E.D.

Now the Propositions 12.2, 12.3, 12.4 have been established, we can show the expansion theorem (Theorem 11.6) with the orthogonality of the generalized Fourier transforms F_{\pm} (Theorem 11.8) in quite the same way as in the proof of Theorems 11.6 and 11.8. Therefore we shall omit the proof of the following

<u>THEOREM 12.5</u>. Let Assumption 12.1 be satisfied. Then the generalized Fourier transforms F_{\pm} is well-defined by Definition 11.4. F_{\pm} and the adjoint F_{\pm}^{\star} can be represented as (11.16) and (11.17), respectively. F_{\pm} are orthogonal and (11.21) holds good.

Concluding Remarks

1° For the proof of the unique continuation theorem (Proposition 1.4) we referred to the unique continuation theorem for partial differential equation. On the other hand Jäger [3] gives the unique continuation theorem for an abstract ordinary differential operator with operator-valued coefficients which can be referred to in our case.

2° Our proof of the limiting absorption principle was along the line of Saitō [3]. In Ikebe-Saitō [1] and Lavine [1] the Schrödinger operator was directly treated and the limiting absorption principle for the Schrödinger operator with a long-range potential was proved.

 3° In §5 we introduced the kernel Z(y,k) of the stationary modifier $\lambda(y,k)$ as a solution of the equation

(13.1) $D^{j} \{2kZ(y) - Q_{j}(y) - Z(y)^{2} - \varphi(y)\} = O(|y|^{-j-\tilde{\varepsilon}}) (j=0,1, \tilde{\varepsilon}>1)$.

Noting that $Z(y)^2 + \varphi(y) = (\text{grad } \lambda)^2$, we can rewrite (13.1) as

(13.2)
$$D^{j} \{2k \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial |y|} - Q_{0}(y) - (\text{grad } \lambda)^{2}\} = O(|y|^{-j-\tilde{\varepsilon}}) \quad (j=0,1, \tilde{\varepsilon}>1)$$

4° Our proof of Theorems 5.3 and 5.4 is a unification of the ones in Saitō [3] and [6]. The method of the proof has its origin in Jäger [3] in which he treated an differential operator with operatorvalued, short-range coefficients. 5° In §5 we defined the stationary modifier by a sort of successive approximation method. The condition $(\tilde{2}_0)$ was assumed so that the successive approximation process may be effective. As a result our long-range potential $2_0(y)$ is assumed to satisfy the estimates for the derivatives $D^j 2_0$, j=0,1,2,...,m and m is a rather large number. Here it should be mentioned that our proof of Theorems 5.3 and 5.4 is effective as far as we can construct a stationary modifier which satisfies (1) of Remark 5.9. Hörmander [1] constructed the time-dependent modifier W(y,t) for a type of elliptic operators with more general long-range coefficients than ours. Kitada [2] showed that a stationary modifier satisfying (1) of Remark 5.9 can be constructed by starting with Hörmander's time-dependent modifier. If we use Kitada's stationary modifier we can replace (\tilde{Q}_0) by

 $(\hat{\varrho}_0)$. There exist constants C_0 and $0 < \epsilon \leq 1$ such that $\hat{\varrho}_0(y)$ is a C^4 function and

 $|D^{j}Q_{0}(y)| \leq C_{0}(1+|y|)^{-d(j)}$ (y $\in \mathbb{R}^{N}, j=0, 1, 2, 3, 4$),

where D^{j} denote an arbitrary derivative of j-th order and $d(j) = j + \epsilon_0$ (j=1,2,3), d(4) > 0, d(1) + d(4) > 5.

But in this lecture I adopted the primitive method of successive approximation, because we need further preparations with respect to the theory of partial differential equation in order to introduce the more minute method which starts with Hörmander [1].

¹ 6° Theorem 8.7 was first stated and proved explicitly by Kitada [2].

7° Ikebe [4] gave the proof of the orthogonality of the generalized Fourier transforms by treating the Schrödinger operator directly and making use of the Lippmann-Schwinger equation. Our proof of the

136
orthogonality of F_{\pm} is different in using Proposition 8.5 instead of the Lippmann-Schwinger equation.

8° The modified wave operators. The time-dependent modified wave operators $W_{D,\pm}$ for the Schrödinger operator with a long-range potential we defined by Alsholm-Kato [1], Alsholm [1] and Buslaev-Matveev [1] as

(13.3)
$$W_{D,+} = s-\lim_{t+\infty} e^{itH}e^{-itH_0-iX_t}$$

where X_t is a function of H_0 . On the other hand from the viewpoint of the stationary method the stationary wave operator $\tilde{W}_{D,\pm}$ should be defined by

(13.4)
$$\tilde{W}_{D,\pm} = \tilde{F}_{\pm}^* \tilde{F}_{0,\pm},$$

 $\tilde{F}_{0,\pm}$ being the generalized Fourier transforms associated with H_0 . From the orthogonality of the generalized Fourier transforms the completeness of $\tilde{W}_{D,\pm}$ follows immediately. Recently the relation $\tilde{W}_{D,\pm} = \tilde{W}_{D,\pm}$ is shown by Kitada [1], [2], [3] and Ikebe-Isozaki [1], whence follows the completeness of the time-independent modified wave operator $W_{D,\pm}$.

9° In §12 we treated the case that $Q_1(y)$ is a general shortrange potential. Then we approximated $Q_1(y)$ by a sequence $\{Q_{1n}(y)\}$, where $Q_{1n}(y)$ has compact support in \mathbb{R}^N . But there is another method which starts with the relations

(13.5) $(L-k^2)^{-1} = (L_1-k^2)^{-1} \{1-C_1(L-k^2)^{-1}\}$

where $L_1 = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + B(r) + C_0(r)$, 1 is the identity operator and

 $v = (L-k^2)^{-1}f$ means the radiative function for {L,k,lf}. Then F(k) can be defined by

(13.6)
$$F(k) = F_1(k) \{1-C_1(L-k^2)^{-1}\}$$

This method was adopted in Ikebe [3].

10° In Theorem 11.9 we introduced the generalized Fourier transforms \tilde{F}_{\pm} associated with H. Let $F_{0,\pm}$ be the generalized Fourier transforms associated with H_0 , the self-adjoint realization of $-\Delta$. In this case the Green kernel $G_0(r,s,k)$ can be represented by the use of the Hankel function and the exact form of $F_{0,\pm}$ is known as

(13.7)
$$(F_{0,\pm}\Phi)(\xi) = C_{I}(N)(2\pi)^{-\frac{N}{2}} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{|y| < R} e^{\mp iy\xi} \Phi(y) dy$$

in $L_2(\mathbb{R}^N, d\xi)$ where

(13.8)
$$C_{T}(N) = -e^{\frac{\pi}{4}(N-1)i}$$

For proof see Saito [2], §7. This means that $\tilde{F}_{0,\pm}$ are essentially the usual Fourier transforms and the \tilde{F}_{\pm} are the generalization of the usual Fourier transforms in this sense.

11° As was stated in the Introduction, an oscillating longrange potential $Q_0(y)$ such as $Q_0(y) = \frac{1}{|y|} \sin|y|$ does not satisfy any assumption. As for the Schrödinger operator with an oscillating long-range potential we can refer to Mochizuki-Uchiyama [1], [2].

12° Finally let us give two remarks on the condition (5.2) in Assumption 5.1 on a long-range potential Q_{0} . In order to give

a unified treatment for $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ we assumed the condition (5.2). But in the case of $\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$ we can adopt a weaker condition $m_0 = 2$. In fact in this case we have

(13.9)
$$Z(y) = \frac{1}{2k} \int_0^r Q_0(t\omega) dt$$
 $(y = r\omega),$

and the first condition of (5.41) can be weakened as

$$(13.10) |(D^{j}Z)(y)| \leq C(1+|y|)^{-j-\varepsilon} (j=0,1,2),$$

because the condition

(13.11)
$$|D^{3}Z(y)| \leq C(1+|y|)^{-3-\varepsilon}$$

is used to estimate the term $((Z' + P)u, Bu)_X$ in the proof of Lemma 6.5 only and we can directly estimate this term without making use of (13.11) in the case of $\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$. Thus (5.2) can be replaced by

(13.12)
$$m_0 > \frac{2}{\varepsilon} - 1$$
 ($0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2}$) and $m_0 = 2$ ($\frac{1}{2} < \varepsilon \leq 1$).

Next let us consider the case the $Q_0(y)$ is spherically symmetric, i.e. $Q_0(y) = Q_0(|y|)$. In this case the stationary modifier Z(y)is also spherically symmetric and the operator M, the functions $\varphi(y;\lambda)$, $P(y;\lambda)$ are all identically zero. Therefore the proof of Theorem 5.4 becomes much simpler. For example, we do not need Lemma 6.6. Moreover (5.35), by which Z(y) is defined, takes the following simpler form:

(13.13)
$$\begin{cases} Z_1(y) = \frac{1}{2k} Q_0(y) , \\ Z_{n+1}(y) = \frac{1}{2k} \{Q_0(y) + (Z_n(y))^2\} , \end{cases}$$

and we set $Z(y) = Z_{n_0}$ where n_0 is the least integer such that

 $(n_0 + 1)\varepsilon > 1$. Noting that the right-hand side of (13.13) does not contain any derivative of $Z_n(y)$, we can replace (5.2) by

(13.14) $m_0 = 2$ (if $Q_0(y)$ is spherically symmetric).

140

. .

REFERENCES

S. Agmon

[1] Spectral properties of Schrödinger operators and scattering theory, Ann. Scuola Nor. Sup. Pisa (4) 2 (1975), 151-218.

P.K. Alsholm

 Wave operators for long-range scattering, Thesis, UC Berkeley (1972).

P.K. Alsholm and T. Kato

...

[1] Scattering with long-range potentials, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. Vol XIII (1973), 393-399.

N. Aronszajn

- A unique continuation theorem for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations or inequalities of second order, J. de Math. 36 (1957), 235-247.
- E. Buslaev and V. B. Matveev
 - Wave operators for the Schrödinger equations, with a slowly decreasing potential, Theoret. and Math. Phys. 2(1970), 266-274.

J.D. Dollard

- [1] Asymptotic convergence and the Coulomb interaction, J. Mathematical Phys. 5 (1964), 729-738.
- A. Erdelyi and others

[1] Higher transcendental function II, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953.

- L. Hörmander
 - The existence of wave operators in scattering theory; Math.
 Z. 149(1976), 69-91.
- T. Ikebe
 - [1] Eigenfunction expansions associated with the Schrödinger operators and their application to scattering theory, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 5(1960), 1-34.
 - [2] Spectral representations for the Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, J. Functional Analysis 20 (1975), 158-177.
 - [3] Spectral representations for the Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, II, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto Univ. 11 (1976), 551-558.

- [4] Remarks on the orthogonality of eigenfunctions for the Schrödinger operator in Rⁿ J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 17 (1970), 355-361.
- T. Ikebe and H. Isozaki
 - Completeness of modified wave operators for long-range potentials, Preprint.
- T. Ikebe and T. Kato
 - Uniqueness of the self-adjoint extension of singular elliptic differential operators, Arch. Ratinal Mech. Anal. 9 (1962), 77-92.
- T. Ikebe and Y. Saito
 - Limiting absorption method and absolute continuity for the Schrödinger operator, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 7(1972), 513-542.
- W. Jäger
 - [1] Über das Dirichletsche Aussenraumproblem für die Schwingungsgleichung, Math. Z. 95 (1967), 299-323.
 - [2] Zur Theorie der Schwingungsgleichung mit variablen Koeffizienten in Aussengebieten, Math. Z. 102 (1967). 62-88.
 - [3] Das asymptotische Verhalten von Lösungen eines typus von Differential gleichungen, Math. Z. 112 (1969), 26-36.
 - [4] Ein gewöhnlicher Differentialoperator zweiter Ordnung für Funktionen mit Werten in einem Hilbertraum, Math. Z. 113 (1970) 68-98.
- T. Kato
 - Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators, Second Edition, Springer, Berlin, 1976.
- H. Kitada
 - On the completeness of modified wave operators, Proc. Japan. Acad. 52 (1976), 409-412.
 - [2] Scattering theory for Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, I, J. Math. Soc. Japan 29 (1977), 665-691.
 - [3] Scattering theory for Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, II, J. Math. Soc. Japan 30 (1978).

- S. T. Kuroda
 - Construction of eigenfunction expansions by the perturbation method and its application to n-dimensional Schrödinger operators, MRC Technical Summary Report No. 744 (1967).
- R. Lavine
 - Absolute continuity of positive spectrum for Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, J. Functional Analysis 12 (1973), 30-54.
- K. Mochizuki and J. Uchiyama
 - [1] Radiation conditions and spectral theory for 2-body Schrödinger operators with "oscillatory" long-range potentials, I, the principle of limiting absorption, to appear in J. Math. Kyoto Univ.
 - [2] Radiation conditions and spectral theory for 2-body Schrödinger operators with "oscillatory" long-range potentials, II, spectral representation, to appear in J. Math. Kyoto Univ.
- Y. Saito
 - The principle of limiting absorption for second-order differential equations with operator-valued coefficients, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Kyoto Univ. 7 (1971/72), 581-619.
 - [2] Spectral and scattering theory for second-order differential operators with operator-valued coefficients, Osaka J. Math. 9(1972), 463-498.
 - [3] Spectral theory for second-order differential operators with long-range operator-valued coefficients, I, Japan J. Math. New Ser. 1 (1975), 311-349.
 - [4] Spectral theory for second-order differential operators with long-range operator-valued coefficients, II, Japan J. Math. New Ser. 1 (1975), 351-382.
 - [5] Eigenfunction expansions for differential operators with operator-valued coefficients and their applications to the Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials, International Symposium on Mathematical Problems in Theoretical Physics. Proceedings 1975, Lecture Notes in Physics 39(1975), 476-482, Springer.
 - [6] On the asymptotic behavior of the solutions of the Schrödinger equation $(-\Delta + Q(y)-k^2)V = F$, Osaka J. Math. 14(1977), 11-35.

- [7] Eigenfunction expansions for the Schrödinger operators with long-range potentials $Q(y) = O(|y|^{-\varepsilon}), \varepsilon > 0$, Osaka J. Math. (1977), 37-53.
- D. W. Thoe
 - [1] Eigenfunction expansions associated with Schrödinger operators in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 4$, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 26(1967), 335-356.
- K. Yosida

[1] Functional Analysis, Springer, 1964.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION F	PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS	1
REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO.	3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER	
TR #34			
TITLE (and Subtitie)		5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED	1
Spectral Representations of Schuld	incon Onountour	Technical Summary Report	1.0
with Long-Bange Potentials	inger operators	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER	1
with Long-Kange Fotentials			1
		N00014-76-C-0276	
Yoshimi Saito		Task No. NP-041-270	
REPEOPHING OPCANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS		10. PROGRAM ELEMENT PROJECT TASK	1
Department of Mathematics		AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS	
University of Utah		Task No. NR-041-370	
Salt Lake City, UI 84112		12 252027 0475	
Office of Naval Research		December 1978	
Arlington, VA 22217		13. NUMBER OF PAGES	1
MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS/II dillerent	from Controlling Office)	144 + 111 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)	1
		Inclassified	
		SCHEDULE	
· Approved for public release, dist	ribution unlimit	ed	5×.*
Approved for public release, disting reports of the ebetrect entered in the ebetrect entereed in the ebetrect entereed in the ebetrect entered in the	ribution unlimit	ed m Report)	5×.*
Approved for public release, dist DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetrect entered in SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Notes	ribution unlimit	ed an Report)	
Approved for public release, disting Approved for public release, disting Distribution statement (of the obstract entered in Supplementary notes Notes	ribution unlimit n Block 20, 11 different fro	ed m Report)	
Approved for public release, dist - Approved for public release, dist - DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetrect entered in - SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Notes - KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and Schrödinger operator	ribution unlimit n Block 20, 11 different fra	ed an Report)	5×.)
Approved for public release, dist Approved for public release, dist Distribution statement (of the ebetrect entered in Supplementary notes Notes KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and Schrödinger operator	ribution unlimit	ed an Report)	
Approved for public release, disti Approved for public release, disti DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetrect entered in SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Notes KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and Schrödinger operator Long-range potential Spoatwol momental	ribution unlimit	ed m Report)	· * *
Approved for public release, disti Approved for public release, disti DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Notes KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and Schrödinger operator Long-range potential Spectral representation ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and	ribution unlimit n Block 20, 11 different fra I identify by block number;	ed ar Report)	
Approved for public release, dist Approved for public release, dist DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Supplementary notes Notes KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and Schrödinger operator Long-range potential Spectral representation Spectral representations of Sc	ribution unlimit	ed m Report)	
Approved for public release, dist Approved for public release, dist Distribution statement (of the obstract entered in Supplementary notes Notes Key words (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and Schrödinger operator Long-range potential Spectral representation Abstract (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and Spectral representations of Sc	ribution unlimit n Block 20, 11 different from I identify by block number; chrödinger opera $T = -\Delta + Q(y)$	ed m Report) tors	
Approved for public release, dist Approved for public release, dist DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Supplementary notes Notes KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and Schrödinger operator Long-range potential Spectral representation ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse eide if necessary and Spectral representations of Sc are constructed, where A is the	ribution unlimit n Block 20, 11 different tra I identify by block number) chrödinger opera $T = -\Delta + Q(y)$ L De(ta N-dimensional L	ed m Report) tors	

UNCLASSIFIED. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered) (CONTINUED) 20.

valued long-range potential; i.e.,

ebs val 6 year power to the epsilon cor= $Q(y) = Q(|y|^{-\epsilon}), |y| + \infty, 0 < \epsilon > 1$ Labs. val, of y approaches infinity

A limiting absorption principle for these operators is developed in Chapter I. The asymptotic behavior of radiative functions is derived in Chapter II. The spectral representations are derived in Chapter III.